
 

 

 
 
 
 
A Meeting of the EXECUTIVE will be held in Council 
Chamber - Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham RG40 1BN 
on THURSDAY 20 APRIL 2023 AT 7.00 PM 
 
 
 

 
Susan Parsonage 
Chief Executive 
Published on 12 April 2023 
 
 
 
Note: Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting or participate 
in the meeting virtually, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. If you 
wish to participate either in person or virtually via Microsoft Teams please 
contact Democratic Services. The meeting can also be watched live using the 
following link: https://youtube.com/live/3JlV-LarspY?feature=share  
 
This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s website. 
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this 
meeting. The use of these images or recordings is not under the Council’s 
control. 

Public Document Pack

https://youtube.com/live/3JlV-LarspY?feature=share
https://youtube.com/live/3JlV-LarspY?feature=share
https://youtube.com/live/3JlV-LarspY?feature=share


 

 

Our Vision 
A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business 

Enriching Lives 
• Champion excellent education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full 

potential, regardless of their background.  
• Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to 

enable healthy choices for everyone.  
• Engage and empower our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity for 

the Borough which people feel part of.  
• Support growth in our local economy and help to build business. 

Providing Safe and Strong Communities 
• Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people. 
• Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to reduce the need for long term care.  
• Nurture our communities: enabling them to thrive and families to flourish. 
• Ensure our Borough and communities remain safe for all.  

Enjoying a Clean and Green Borough 
• Play as full a role as possible to achieve a carbon neutral Borough, sustainable for the future.  
• Protect our Borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas for people to enjoy. 
• Reduce our waste, promote re-use, increase recycling and improve biodiversity. 
• Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.  

Delivering the Right Homes in the Right Places 
• Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.  
• Ensure the right infrastructure is in place, early, to support and enable our Borough to grow.  
• Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.  
• Help with your housing needs and support people, where it is needed most, to live independently in 

their own homes.  
Keeping the Borough Moving 

• Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.  
• Tackle traffic congestion and minimise delays and disruptions.  
• Enable safe and sustainable travel around the Borough with good transport infrastructure. 
• Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners in offering affordable, accessible 

public transport with good transport links.  
Changing the Way We Work for You 

• Be relentlessly customer focussed. 
• Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around 

our customers.  
• Communicate better with customers, owning issues, updating on progress and responding 

appropriately as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.  
• Drive innovative, digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and 

customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.  
Be the Best We Can Be 

• Be an organisation that values and invests in all our colleagues and is seen as an employer of 
choice. 

• Embed a culture that supports ambition, promotes empowerment and develops new ways of 
working.  

• Use our governance and scrutiny structures to support a learning and continuous improvement 
approach to the way we do business.  

• Be a commercial council that is innovative, whilst being inclusive, in its approach with a clear focus 
on being financially resilient. 

• Maximise opportunities to secure funding and investment for the Borough. 
• Establish a renewed vision for the Borough with clear aspirations.  

 



 

 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE EXECUTIVE 
 

Clive Jones Leader of Council and Business and Economic Development 
Stephen Conway Deputy Leader of the Council and Executive Member for Housing 
Rachel Bishop-Firth Equalities, Inclusion and Fighting Poverty 
Prue Bray Children's Services 
Lindsay Ferris Planning and Local Plan 
Paul Fishwick Active Travel, Transport and Highways 
David Hare Health and Wellbeing and Adult Services 
Sarah Kerr Climate Emergency and Resident Services 
Ian Shenton Environment, Sport and Leisure 
Imogen Shepherd-DuBey Finance 
 
 

ITEM 
NO. WARD SUBJECT PAGE 

NO.  
    
117.    APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 
    
118.    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary 
interests, other registrable interests and any non-
registrable interests relevant to any matters to be 
considered at the meeting. 

 

 
    
119.    STATEMENT FROM THE LEADER   
    
120.    PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

To answer any public questions 
  
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of 
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.  
  
The Council welcomes questions from members of the 
public about the work of the Executive 
  
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can 
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the 
Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this 
meeting.  For full details of the procedure for 
submitting questions please contact the Democratic 
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to 
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions 
  

 

 
    
121.    MEMBER QUESTION TIME 

To answer any member questions 
  
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to 
ask questions submitted under Notice 
  

 

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions


 

 

Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time will 
be dealt with in a written reply 
   

   
Matters for Consideration    
    
122.   Twyford TWYFORD NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 5 - 70  
    
123.   Remenham, 

Wargrave and 
Ruscombe 

RUSCOMBE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - 
SUBMISSION CONSULTATION AND FUTURE 
EXAMINATION 

71 - 216 

 
 
A decision sheet will be available for inspection at the Council’s offices (in Democratic 
Services and the General Office) and on the web site no later than two working days after 
the meeting.  

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Priya Patel Head of Democratic and Electoral Services 
Email priya.patel@wokingham.gov.uk 
Postal Address Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN 
 



 

 

 
TITLE Twyford Neighbourhood Plan 
  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY The Executive on Thursday, 20 April 2023 
  
WARD Twyford; Hurst 
  
LEAD OFFICER Director, Place and Growth - Simon Dale 
  
LEAD MEMBER Leader of the Council and Executive Member for 

Business and Economic Development – Clive Jones  
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES) 
The report considers the findings of the examination of the submission Twyford 
Neighbourhood Plan, the modifications recommended by the Independent Examiner and 
if those modifications are accepted, seeks approval for the plan to progress to a public 
vote at referendum.  
 
The Twyford Neighbourhood Plan, prepared by Twyford Parish Council, if made 
(adopted) will become part of the development plan and be used alongside the 
Wokingham Borough Council’s local plans to guide decisions on planning applications. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Executive 
 
1) Accepts the modifications recommended by the Independent Examination into the 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan (as set out in Enclosure 1) and for the modified plan 
to proceed to referendum;  

 
2) Agrees that the Twyford Neighbourhood Plan, as modified in accordance with the 

recommendations of the Independent Examiner, meets the basic conditions and 
complies with the provisions of Paragraph 8 (1) (a) (2) of Schedule 4B to the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the Localism Act 2011);  

 
3) Agrees to publish the ‘Decision Statement’ as set out at Enclosure 2 of the report; 

 
4) Authorises the Director of Place and Growth, in consultation with the Executive 

Member for Planning and Local Plan, to agree minor factual and consequential 
modifications necessary to the Twyford Neighbourhood Plan, the Decision 
Statement, and other supporting documents prior to the referendum; 
 

5) Agrees the referendum be organised and conducted in the Twyford neighbourhood 
area. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Twyford Parish Council (“the Parish Council”) has produced a draft Twyford 
Neighbourhood Plan (“the Plan”) to help shape how development is managed in its area. 
The Plan, which is available on the council’s website1, contains a number of policies on 

 
1 https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=631602  

5

Agenda Item 122.

https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=631602


 

 

issues including housing (including First Homes); climate change mitigation; the natural, 
built and historic environment; community facilities; retail centres and active travel and 
highways. The submission draft Plan does not allocate land for development.  
 
The submission draft Plan is supported by two key pieces of technical evidence, a 
Housing Needs Assessment and a Design Guidelines and Codes report. The Housing 
Needs Assessment provides local evidence to support the policies regarding future 
development of housing in Twyford Parish. The Design Guidelines and Codes report 
identifies the key features of Twyford Parish and sets some guiding principles to ensure 
any future development proposals respond to and contribute to the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area.  
 
In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended), Wokingham Borough Council (“the Council) carried out a six-week 
consultation on the draft Plan between 12 October and 23 November 2022 and invited 
comments on the plan’s content. A total of 22 responses were received.  
 
In accordance with the Executive decision of 29 September 2022, an Independent 
Examiner was appointed to review whether the Plan, to test whether the Plan met the 
basic conditions as required by legislation and to recommend whether the Plan could 
proceed to referendum. The report of the Independent Examiner was received in March 
2023 (see Enclosure 1).  
 
The Independent Examiner concludes that, subject to inclusion of a number of 
recommended modifications, the Plan meets the basic conditions set out in the 
legislation and can proceed to referendum. The Examiner also concludes that the 
boundary for the purposes of the referendum on the Plan should be the boundary of the 
designated Neighbourhood Area for the Plan. 
 
Process dictates that the council must now formally decide what action to take based on 
the Independent Examiner’s recommendations. In collaboration with the Parish Council, 
it is recommended that the Independent Examiner’s recommended modifications are 
accepted in full and that the modified Plan should proceed to referendum. Each of the 
recommended modifications is set out in a draft Decision Statement (see Enclosure 2) 
 
It is anticipated that the referendum would take place on an agreed date between 22 
June 2023 and 11 July 2023 and, if successful, Full Council approval will be needed to 
formally ‘make’ (adopt) the plan. 
 
Once made, the Plan will form part of the statutory development plan for the borough 
and thereby carry significant weight in the determination of planning applications and 
appeals in or affecting Twyford Parish. At this time, the parish council will benefit from 
receipt of 25% of the revenues from the Community Infrastructure Levy arising from the 
development that takes place in their area. This reflects a 10% increase on the 15% 
available to parish councils where there is no neighbourhood plan in place.   
 

 
 

6



 

 

BACKGROUND  
Neighbourhood Planning 
 
Neighbourhood planning was introduced through the Localism Act 2011 and is a means 
for local communities to take the lead on preparing local planning policy, to sit alongside 
the Council’s planning policies, helping to shape how new development is managed in 
their area. Communities prepare Neighbourhood Development Plans (often referred to 
as Neighbourhood Plans) to set out specific planning policies which help shape and 
guide development in their area.  
 
The broad stages in producing a neighbourhood plan are as follows: 
 

1) Designating a neighbourhood area 
2) Preparing a draft neighbourhood plan 
3) Pre-submission publicity & consultation 
4) Submission of a neighbourhood plan to the local planning authority 
5) Submission draft plan consultation 
6) Independent examination 
7) Referendum 
8) Bringing the neighbourhood plan into force 
 

The Parish Council took the decision to produce a neighbourhood plan in 2018. Since 
then, stages 1-6 have been completed. This report considers the findings of the 
examination into the submission draft Plan, the modifications recommended by the 
Independent Examiner, and if acceptable, seeks approval for the Plan to proceed to 
referendum. 

 
Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Examination 
 
The submission version of the Plan was published for consultation between 12 October 
and 23 November 2022. The submission plan is available on the council’s website2. 22 
representations were received during the consultation period. 
 
An Independent Examiner was appointed to review whether the Plan met the basic 
conditions as required by legislation and to recommend whether the Plan should 
proceed to referendum. The Independent Examiner’s report (Enclosure 1) was received 
on 20 March 2023.  
 
Analysis of Issues 
 
The Independent Examiner’s key recommendations are: 
 

• The Plan meets the relevant legal requirements and basic conditions subject to 
acceptance of the recommended modifications set out in their report. 

• Deletion of proposed Policy TW9 ‘Carbon Sequestration’, concluding that the 
principle of requiring carbon sequestration from all new developments is a 
strategic matter which should be considered through the local plan process, 
rather than a neighbourhood plan. The Independent Examiner also noted that the 
implications of the policy on development viability had not been appropriately 
evidenced.  

 
2 https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=631602  

7

https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=631602


 

 

• Deletion of proposed Policy TW13 ‘First Homes’, concluding that whilst proposing 
a discount level of 50%, this was higher than the nationally prescribed minimum 
figure of 30%, but with limited detail of the mechanism for achieving a higher 
discount through the decision-making process. The Independent Examiner also 
noted there was no recent evidence provided on the impact of the proposed 
policy on development viability. 

• Modifications to proposed Policy TW10 ‘Zero Carbon Buildings’ which intended to 
deliver a step change in the energy performance of new developments. The 
Independent Examiner noted this as a complex topic area and concluded that the 
policy would stand contrary to government planning policy on plan-making and 
energy performance standards set out in a Written Ministerial Statement. The 
Independent Examiner also noted that the implications of the policy on 
development viability had not been tested in evidence.  

• Modifications to Policy TW18 ‘Community Facilities to ensure that the policy fully 
aligns with the Managing Development Delivery (MDD) local plan, with regard to 
the evidence required to be provided by an applicant to demonstrate when an 
existing community facility may no longer be viable. 

 
In addition to the above, the Independent Examiner also recommended modifications to 
other policies within the Plan, mostly to add further clarity and precision.   
 
Options and Next steps 
 
The Council has the choice whether or not to accept each of the Independent 
Examiner’s recommendations. Where recommendations are not accepted, legislation 
requires consultation to be undertaken on the reasons before proceeding. Guidance 
suggests that a new examination focused on the specific areas may be appropriate. 
 
Officers have reviewed each of the Independent Examiner’s recommendations and 
justification, and it is recommended that Executive accept the recommendations of the 
Examiner in full, to ensure the Plan would meet the basic conditions. Details of each of 
the recommendations is set out in the proposed Decision Statement, attached as 
Enclosure 2 to this report. 
 
Acceptance of the recommendations in full would mean that no further consultation on 
the Plan is required and the Plan as modified, may proceed to a public vote through a 
referendum. A referendum version of the Plan and supporting documents would be 
prepared to enable this process. Whilst the Decision Statement includes details of 
factual and consequential changes necessary to the Plan, delegated authority is 
requested to allow further minor changes should this be necessary. 
 
If the recommendation is accepted, it is anticipated that the referendum would take 
place on an agreed date between 22 June 2023 and 11 July 2023. 
 
Should more than half of those voting do so in favour of using the Plan to guide future 
planning decisions, the Plan must be adopted through a resolution of Full Council. At 
this time, it will become part of the development plan.  
 
 
 
 
 

8



 

 

BUSINESS CASE 
Need for the decision 
 
In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended), the Council must make changes to the plan necessary for it to meet the 
basic conditions and must arrange for a referendum to take place. This should be 
undertaken within a 5-week period of receiving the examiner’s report, unless agreed 
otherwise with the Parish Council. 
 
Risks 
 
The Independent Examiner has recommended modifications to ensure the plan meets 
the Basic Conditions. If these modifications are not implemented the Plan would be at 
risk of legal challenge on the basis it does not meet the legal requirements for 
Neighbourhood Plans.  
 
There is a possibility that the community will reject the Plan through the referendum.   
This is the democratic right of residents. The positive engagement and consideration of 
the views of respondents that has taken place over a number of years in producing the 
Plan helps to mitigate this risk. 
 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces unprecedented financial pressures as a result of; the longer term 
impact of the COVID-19 crisis, Brexit, the war in Ukraine and the general economic 
climate of rising prices and the increasing cost of debt. It is therefore imperative 
that Council resources are optimised and are focused on the vulnerable and on its 
highest priorities. 
 
 How much will it 

Cost/ (Save) 
Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (2023/24) 

£10,000 estimate  Yes.  The Council 
being able to access 
government grant to 
cover costs once the 
date for a referendum 
is set. 

Revenue 

Next Financial Year 
(2023/24) 

Nil Not applicable Not applicable 

Following Financial 
Year (2024/25) 

Nil Not applicable Not applicable 

 
Other Financial Information 
The Council will be required to fund the cost of the referendum up front. However, once 
a referendum is successfully arranged, the Council will claim grant funding from 
government which will cover the full costs. 
 
Once a neighbourhood plan is made (adopted), the parish council will benefit from 
receiving 25% of the revenues from the Community Infrastructure Levy arising from the 
development that takes place in their area. This reflects a 10% increase on the 15% 
available to parish councils where there is no neighbourhood plan in place.   

9



 

 

The 10% gain for the parish is a 10% loss for the council.  The exact amount is currently 
unknown but is thought to be minimal.  CIL spend is also generally undertaken in 
conjunction with the Parish meaning the financial impact on the authority is forecast to 
be small and possibly non-existent. 

 
Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation 
N/A. 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
Equalities Assessment Form is set out in Enclosure 3 to this report. In addition, it should 
be noted that the Independent Examiner was satisfied that the consultation and publicity 
undertaken meets regulatory requirements. 

 
Climate Emergency – This Council has declared a climate emergency and is 
committed to playing as full a role as possible – leading by example as well as by 
exhortation – in achieving a carbon neutral Wokingham Borough by 2030 
The Plan includes policies which provide additional detail to complement policies in the 
Core Strategy (2010) and Managing Development Delivery (MDD) (2014) local plans. 
Specific policies include maximising opportunities for walking and cycling, protecting and 
enhancing existing green infrastructure assets and sustainable design and construction. 

 
List of Background Papers 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Planning Practice Guidance: Neighbourhood Planning 
Twyford Neighbourhood Plan: submission plan 
 
Enclosure 1: Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Examination Report  
Enclosure 2: Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Decision Statement 
Enclosure 3: Equalities Assessment 
 

 
Contact  Ben Davis Service Delivery and Infrastructure  
Telephone  Tel: 07824545226 Email ben.davis@wokingham.gov.uk    

 

10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2
https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=631602


 

Twyford Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 
2018-2038 
 
  

 
 
 
A report to Wokingham Borough Council on 
the Twyford Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner 
BA (Hons) M.A. DMS M.R.T.P.I. 
 
Director – Andrew Ashcroft Planning Limited 
 

11



 

 
 
 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
1 I was appointed by Wokingham Borough Council in November 2022 to carry out the 

independent examination of the Twyford Neighbourhood Development Plan. 
 
2 The examination was undertaken by written representations. I visited the 

neighbourhood area on 19 December 2022. 
 
3 The Plan includes a range of policies and seeks to bring forward positive and 

sustainable development in the neighbourhood area.  There is a very clear focus on 
safeguarding its character and appearance.  It also proposes a package of policies 
for the village centre.  

 
4 The Plan has been underpinned by community support and engagement. All 

sections of the community have been actively engaged in its preparation.  
 
5 Subject to a series of recommended modifications set out in this report, I have 

concluded that the Twyford Neighbourhood Development Plan meets all the 
necessary legal requirements and should proceed to referendum. 

 
6 I recommend that the referendum area should coincide with the neighbourhood area. 
 
 
 
Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner 
21 March 2023 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 

12



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

1 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report sets out the findings of the independent examination of the Twyford 
Neighbourhood Development Plan 2018-2038 (the ‘Plan’). 

1.2 The Plan has been submitted to Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) by Twyford 
Parish Council (TPC) in its capacity as the qualifying body responsible for preparing 
the neighbourhood plan.  

1.3 Neighbourhood plans were introduced into the planning process by the Localism Act 
2011. They aim to allow local communities to take responsibility for guiding 
development in their area.  This approach was subsequently embedded in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012 and its updates in 2018, 2019 and 2021. The 
NPPF continues to be the principal element of national planning policy. 

1.4 The role of an independent examiner is clearly defined in the legislation. I have been 
appointed to examine whether the submitted Plan meets the basic conditions and 
Convention Rights and other statutory requirements. It is not within my remit to 
examine or to propose an alternative plan, or a potentially more sustainable plan 
except where this arises as a result of my recommended modifications to ensure that 
the plan meets the basic conditions and the other relevant requirements.  

1.5 A neighbourhood plan can be narrow or broad in scope. Any plan can include whatever 
range of policies it sees as appropriate to its designated neighbourhood area. The 
submitted Plan has been designed to be distinctive in general terms, and to be 
complementary to the development plan. It has a clear focus on maintaining the 
character and appearance of the neighbourhood area and safeguarding and 
enhancing the village centre.  

1.6 Within the context set out above, this report assesses whether the Plan is legally 
compliant and meets the basic conditions that apply to neighbourhood plans.  It also 
considers the content of the Plan and, where necessary, recommends changes to its 
policies and supporting text. 

1.7 This report also provides a recommendation as to whether the Plan should proceed to 
referendum.  If this is the case and that referendum results in a positive outcome the 
Plan would then be used to determine planning applications within the neighbourhood 
area and will sit as part of the wider development plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

   

13



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

2 

2         The Role of the Independent Examiner 

2.1 The examiner’s role is to ensure that any submitted neighbourhood plan meets the 

relevant legislative and procedural requirements. 

2.2 I was appointed by WBC, with the consent of TPC, to conduct the examination of the 
Plan and to prepare this report.  I am independent of both WBC and TPC.  I do not 
have any interest in any land that may be affected by the Plan. 

2.3 I possess the appropriate qualifications and experience to undertake this role. I am a 
Director of Andrew Ashcroft Planning Limited. I have 40 years’ experience in various 

local authorities at either Head of Planning or Service Director level and more recently 
as an independent examiner.  I am a chartered town planner and have significant 
experience of examining neighbourhood plans.  I am a member of the Royal Town 
Planning Institute and the Neighbourhood Planning Independent Examiner Referral 
Service. 

Examination Outcomes 

2.4 In my role as the independent examiner of the Plan I am required to recommend one 
of the following outcomes of the examination: 

(a) that the Plan as submitted proceeds to a referendum; or 
(b) that the Plan should proceed to referendum as modified (based on my 

recommendations); or 
(c) that the Plan does not proceed to referendum on the basis that it does not meet 

the necessary legal requirements. 

2.5 The outcome of the examination is set out in Sections 7 and 8 of this report. 

Other examination matters 

2.6 In examining the Plan I am required to check whether: 

• the policies relate to the development and use of land for a designated 
neighbourhood plan area; and 

• the Plan meets the requirements of Section 38B of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (the Plan must specify the period to which it 
has effect, must not include provision about development that is excluded 
development, and must not relate to more than one neighbourhood area); and 

• the Plan has been prepared for an area that has been designated under Section 
61G of the Localism Act and has been developed and submitted for 
examination by a qualifying body. 

 
2.7 I have addressed the matters identified in paragraph 2.6 of this report. I am satisfied 

that the submitted Plan complies with the three requirements.  
 
 
 
 

14



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

3 

3 Procedural Matters 

3.1 I have considered the following documents during the examination: 

• the submitted Plan; 
• the Basic Conditions Statement; 
• the Consultation Statement 
• the SEA/HRA Screening Statement; 
• the Twyford Design Guidance and Codes; 
• the Twyford Housing Needs Assessment; 
• the representations made to the Plan; 
• TPC’s responses to the clarification note; 
• WBC’s response to the clarification note; 
• the adopted Core Strategy (2010); 
• the adopted Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (2014); 
• the WBC Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning 

Document (and its Companion documents) (2010); 
• the WBC First Homes Interim Policy Statement (January 2022); 
• the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021); 
• Planning Practice Guidance; 
• the Planning Update Written Ministerial Statement (March 2015); and 
• the First Homes Ministerial Statement (May 2021). 

   
3.2 I visited the neighbourhood area on 19 December 2022. I looked at its overall character 

and appearance and at those areas affected by policies in the Plan in particular.  The 
visit is covered in more detail in paragraphs 5.9 to 5.16 of this report.  

 
3.3 It is a general rule that neighbourhood plan examinations should be held by written 

representations only. Having considered all the information before me, including the 
representations made to the submitted Plan, I was satisfied that the Plan could be 
examined without the need for a public hearing.  In coming to this conclusion, I took 
account of the detailed nature of many of the comments made on the Plan and the 
level of detail in the Plan and its supporting documents. This level of detail gave me a 
useful and a comprehensive insight into the views which were made.  

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

4 

4 Consultation 
 
 Consultation Process 
 
4.1 Policies in made neighbourhood plans become the basis for local planning and 

development control decisions.  As such the regulations require neighbourhood plans 
to be supported and underpinned by public consultation. 

 
4.2 In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, TPC has 

prepared a Consultation Statement.  The Statement sets out the mechanisms used to 
engage all concerned in the plan-making process. It also provides specific details about 
the consultation process that took place on the pre-submission version of the Plan 
(April to May 2022). It captures the key issues in a proportionate way and is then 
underpinned by more detailed appendices. It is a good example of a Consultation 
Statement. 

 
4.3 The Statement sets out details of the comprehensive range of consultation events and 

activities that were carried out in relation to the initial stages of the Plan. They included: 
 

• the various local events (as set out in detail in paragraph 2.4); 
• the 2019 Parish survey; 
• the distribution of leaflets to households; and 
• the use of social media. 
. 

4.4 The Statement also provides details of the way in which TPC engaged with statutory 
bodies. I am satisfied that the process has been proportionate and robust.  

 
4.5 Appendices C1 and C2 of the Statement respectively provide details about the 

comments received during the consultation process from statutory bodies and the 
wider community at the pre-submission version of the Plan. It identifies the principal 
changes that worked their way through into the submission version. This process helps 
to describe the evolution of the Plan.  

 
4.6 I am satisfied that consultation has been an important element of the Plan’s production.  

Advice on the neighbourhood planning process has been made available to the 
community in a positive and direct way by those responsible for the Plan’s preparation.  

 
4.7 From all the evidence provided to me as part of the examination, I am satisfied that 

TPC sought to engage with residents, statutory bodies and the development industry 
as the Plan has been prepared.  

 
Representations Received  

 
4.8 Consultation on the submitted plan was undertaken by WBC and ended on 23 

November 2022.  This exercise generated comments from the following organisations: 
 

• Natural England 

16



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

5 

• Historic England 
• Transport for London 
• Wokingham Borough Council 
• Thames Water 
• Ruscombe Parish Council 
• David Wilson Homes 
• First Homes West Limited 
• Bridge House Care Village 
• Croudace Homes 
• Berkeley Strategic Land Limited 
• British Horse Society 
• Berkshire Gardens Trust 
• Sport England 
• Berkshire Archaeology 

 
4.9 Representations were also received from residents in the parish. 
 
4.10 I have taken account of the various representations as part of the examination of the 

Plan. Where it is appropriate to do so, I make specific reference to the individual 
representations in Section 7 of this report.  

 
 
 
 
 

17



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

6 

5 The Neighbourhood Area and the Development Plan Context 
 
 The Neighbourhood Area  
 
5.1 The neighbourhood area consists of the parish of Twyford. Its population in 2011 was 

6618 persons living in 2929 houses. It was designated as a neighbourhood area on 6 
August 2018. It is located between Reading to the west and Maidenhead to the east.  

 
5.2 Twyford is an attractive village. It has a vibrant village centre based around the 

Waitrose store and a series of national and independent shops. New Bath Road 
provides a very sharp northern boundary to the village. The village is bisected by the 
railway. The railway station has an important role both in the village and the wider area. 
There are two Conservation Areas in the parish. The Twyford Village Conservation 
Area was designated in 1977 and revised in 1996. The Twyford Station Conservation 
Area was designated in 1996. 

5.3 As the Plan describes Twyford is a dormitory village, with most residents travelling to 
work outside of the parish. It does not have any secondary schools, so there is 
significant traffic created by the movement of children. At the same time Twyford has 
become an important commuter station particularly for travel to London and other 
centres to the east. The railway station is the very accessible and is recognised as 
providing the best and fastest services into London within the surrounding area.  

  Development Plan Context  

5.4 The Core Strategy was adopted in January 2010.  It sets out the basis for future 
development in the Borough up to 2026. Policy CP9 comments that the scale of 
development proposals in the Borough must reflect the existing or proposed levels of 
facilities and services at or in the location, together with their accessibility. It advises 
that development proposals (in addition to the strategic development locations in 
Policies CP18-21) within development limits will be acceptable in the major 
development locations. Twyford is one of the major development locations. 

5.5 The Core Strategy is underpinned by the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan 
(MDD). It was adopted in February 2014 and includes a series of development 
management policies and allocates sites for residential development. Policy SAL02 
allocates land west of Hurst Road, Twyford for the delivery of around 20 dwellings (site 
TW103). Policy CC08 safeguards land for the Twyford Eastern relief road.  

5.6 The following other policies in the MDD Local Plan are particularly relevant to the 
submitted Plan: 

Policy CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees, and Landscaping 
Policy CC04 Sustainable Design and Construction 
Policy CC09 Development and Flood Risk 
Policy TB05 Housing Mix 
Policy TB15 Major Town and Small Town /District Centre Development 
Policy TB24 Designated Heritage Assets 
Policy TB26 Buildings of Traditional Local Character and Areas of Special Character 

18



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

7 

5.7 WBC is preparing a new Local Plan that will replace the existing Core Strategy and 
MDD Local Plan in due course. The new plan will cover an extended period. This was 
envisaged to be up to 2037/38 in the last stage of consultation but is now likely to be 
for a longer period. Consultation has taken place on an Issues and Options (2016), a 
draft Plan (2020) and a Revised Growth Strategy (2021). A detailed timetable for the 
continued preparation of the Plan will be published in Spring 2023 once WBC has 
assessed the implications of the national consultation exercise on potential changes to 
the plan-preparation process.  

 
5.8 The submitted Plan has been prepared within its wider development plan context. In 

doing so it has relied on up-to-date information and research that has underpinned 
previous and existing planning policy documents in the Borough. This is good practice 
and reflects key elements in Planning Practice Guidance on this matter.  

 
Unaccompanied Visit 

 
5.9 I visited the neighbourhood area on 19 December 2022. I approached from the A4 to 

the north. This allowed me to understand its connection with the strategic highway 
network.  

 
5.10 I looked initially at the northern part of the village off Wargrave Road. I saw the scale 

and significance of houses of different time periods. I saw the two pedestrian accesses 
into the King George V playing field and the extensive range of facilities available.  

 
5.11 I then looked at the village centre. I saw the healthy mixture of national and 

independent traders. I saw first-hand the popularity of the Waitrose store. I looked 
carefully at the arrangement of the roads and streets. I walked along London Road up 
to the Polehampton CoE School. It was clear that the buildings had aged well and 
continue to contribute to the character and appearance of this part of the village. I then 
looked carefully at the Almhouses. The plaque at the front of the building was very 
informative. 

 
5.12 I then walked along Church Street and Station Road to the railway station. In doing so 

I saw St Mary’s Church, the War Memorial, and the interesting Victorian terraces in the 
Station Road Conservation Area. It was encouraging to see that the various shops in 
this part of the village had either been retained or had been sensitively converted into 
residential uses whilst retaining their former appearance.  

 
5.13 This approach continued beyond the station at The Golden Cross Public House (with 

appropriate golden lettering) and the ornate iron support pillars in the bay windows of 
the houses in Montreal Terrace.  

 
5.14 I then looked at the scale and extent of the Stanlake Meadow Recreation Ground to 

the south of the railway.   
 
5.15 I then retraced my steps back to the village centre. I walked along the western part of 

the High Street up to the River Loddon. This enabled me to see the Library, Twyford 

19



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

8 

Centre and Polehampton Court (off Polehampton Court) and Polehampton Old Boys 
School (which also had an informative plaque).  

 
5.16 I left the neighbourhood area along the B3018 (Waltham Road) to Wokingham. This 

provided me with another indication of the way in which it connected with the strategic 
road network and with other settlements in the surrounding area.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

9 

6 The Neighbourhood Plan and the Basic Conditions 
 
6.1 This section of the report deals with the submitted neighbourhood plan as a whole and 

the extent to which it meets the basic conditions. The submitted Basic Conditions 
Statement has helped considerably in the preparation of this section of the report. It is 
a well-presented and informative document. It is also proportionate to the Plan itself.  

 
6.2 As part of this process, I must consider whether the submitted Plan meets the Basic 

Conditions as set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  To comply with the basic conditions, the Plan must: 

• have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State; 

• contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;  
• be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan in 

the area; 
• be compatible with European Union (EU) obligations and European Convention 

on Human Rights (ECHR); and  
• not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

6.3 I assess the Plan against the basic conditions under the following headings.  

National Planning Policies and Guidance 
 
6.4 For the purposes of this examination the key elements of national policy relating to 

planning matters are set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) issued 
in July 2021.  

. 
6.5 The NPPF sets out a range of core land-use planning issues to underpin both plan-

making and decision-taking.  The following are particularly relevant to the Twyford 
Neighbourhood Plan: 

 
• a plan led system – in this case the relationship between the neighbourhood 

plan and the adopted Core Strategy and the MDD Local Plan; 
• delivering a sufficient supply of homes; 
• building a strong, competitive economy; 
• recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and supporting 

thriving local communities; 
• taking account of the different roles and characters of different areas; 
• highlighting the importance of high-quality design and good standards of 

amenity for all future occupants of land and buildings; and 
• conserving heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. 

 
6.6 Neighbourhood plans sit within this wider context both generally, and within the more 

specific presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Paragraph 13 of the NPPF 
indicates that neighbourhoods should both develop plans that support the strategic 

21



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

10 

needs set out in local plans and plan positively to support local development that is 
outside the strategic elements of the development plan. 

 
6.7 In addition to the NPPF, I have also taken account of other elements of national 

planning policy including Planning Practice Guidance and relevant ministerial 
statements. 

 
6.8 Having considered all the evidence and representations available as part of the 

examination, I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to national planning 
policies and guidance in general terms subject to the recommended modifications 
included in this report.  It sets out a positive vision for the future of the neighbourhood 
area with a focus on improving the role and function of the village centre. The Basic 
Conditions Statement maps the policies in the Plan against the appropriate sections of 
the NPPF. 

6.9 At a more practical level, the NPPF indicates that plans should provide a clear 
framework within which decisions on planning applications can be made and that they 
should give a clear indication of how a decision-maker should react to a development 
proposal (paragraph 16d). This matter is reinforced in Planning Practice Guidance. 
Paragraph ID:41-041-20140306 indicates that policies in neighbourhood plans should 
be drafted with sufficient clarity so that a decision-maker can apply them consistently 
and with confidence when determining planning applications.  Policies should also be 
concise, precise, and supported by appropriate evidence. 

6.10 As submitted the Plan does not fully accord with this range of practical issues.  Many 
of my recommended modifications in Section 7 relate to matters of clarity and 
precision. They are designed to ensure that the Plan has regard to national policy. 

 Contributing to sustainable development 

6.11 There are clear overlaps between national policy and the way in which the submitted 
Plan contributes towards sustainable development. Sustainable development has 
three principal dimensions – economic, social, and environmental.  The submitted Plan 
has set out to achieve sustainable development in the neighbourhood area.  In the 
economic dimension, the Plan includes policies for the consolidation and regeneration 
of the village centre (Policies TW4 and TW5). In the social dimension, it includes 
policies on community facilities (Policies TW17/18/19) and on the railway station 
(Policy TW3). In the environmental dimension, the Plan positively seeks to protect its 
natural, built, and historic environment.  It has specific policies on design (Policies 
TW15/16), air quality (Policy TW6), nature recovery (Policy TW7) and zero carbon 
buildings (Policy TW10). TPC has undertaken its own assessment of this matter in the 
submitted Basic Conditions Statement. 

 General conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan 

6.12 I have already commented in detail on the development plan context in Wokingham 
Borough in paragraphs 5.4 to 5.8 of this report. 

22



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

11 

6.13 I consider that the submitted Plan delivers a local dimension to this strategic context. 
The Basic Conditions Statement helpfully relates the Plan’s policies to policies in the 

development plan. Subject to the recommended modification in this report, I am 
satisfied that the submitted Plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies in 
the development plan.  

 Strategic Environmental Assessment 

6.14 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 require a 
qualifying body either to submit an environmental report prepared in accordance with 
the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 or a 
statement of reasons explaining why an environmental report is not required. 

6.15 In order to comply with this requirement WBC undertook a screening exercise (August 
2022) on the need or otherwise for a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) to be 
prepared for the Plan. The report is thorough and well-constructed. As a result of this 
process, it concluded that the Plan is not likely to have any significant effects on the 
environment and accordingly would not require SEA. 

Habitat Regulations Assessment 

6.16 The screening statement also included a separate section on the need for a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Plan. It concludes that the Plan is not likely to 
have significant environmental effects on a European nature conservation site or 
undermine their conservation objectives (either alone or in combination) and taking 
account of the precautionary principle. On this basis it concludes that Appropriate 
Assessment is not required.  

6.17 The HRA report is both thorough and comprehensive. It takes appropriate account of 
the following protected sites: 

• the Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (SPA); 
• the Chiltern Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC); 
• the Windsor Forest and Great Park SAC; and 
• the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright and Chobham SAC 

It provides assurance to all concerned that the submitted Plan takes appropriate 
account of important ecological and biodiversity matters.    

 6.18 Having reviewed the information provided to me as part of the examination, I am 
satisfied that a proportionate process has been undertaken in accordance with the 
various regulations. In the absence of any evidence to the contrary, I am entirely 
satisfied that the submitted Plan is compatible with this aspect of the basic conditions.  

 
 Human Rights 
 
6.19 In a similar fashion I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to the 

fundamental rights and freedoms guaranteed under the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR) and that it complies with the Human Rights Act. There is no 
evidence that has been submitted to me to suggest otherwise. In addition, there has 

23



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

12 

been full and adequate opportunity for all interested parties to take part in the 
preparation of the Plan and to make their comments known.  Based on all the evidence 
available to me, I conclude that the submitted Plan does not breach, nor is in any way 
incompatible with the ECHR.  

 Summary 

6.20 On the basis of my assessment of the Plan in this section of my report, I am satisfied 
that it meets the basic conditions subject to the incorporation of the recommended 
modifications contained in this report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

24



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

13 

7         The Neighbourhood Plan policies 

7.1 This section of the report comments on the policies in the Plan.  It makes a series of 
recommended modifications to ensure that they have the necessary precision to meet 
the basic conditions.   

7.2 The modifications focus on the policies themselves given that the basic conditions 
relate primarily to this aspect of neighbourhood plans.  In some cases, I have also 
recommended modifications to the associated supporting text. 

7.3 I am satisfied that the content and the form of the Plan is fit for purpose.  It is distinctive 
and proportionate to the neighbourhood area. The wider community and TPC have 
spent time and energy in identifying the issues and objectives that they wish to be 
included in their Plan. This sits at the heart of the localism agenda. 

7.4 The Plan has been designed to reflect Planning Practice Guidance (ID:41-004-
20190509) which indicates that neighbourhood plans must address the development 
and use of land. It also includes a series of non- planning matters.  

7.5 I have addressed the policies in the order that they appear in the submitted plan. Where 
necessary I have identified the inter-relationships between the policies. I address the 
non-planning matters after the policies.  

7.6 For clarity this section of the report comments on all the policies in the Plan.  

7.7 Where modifications are recommended to policies they are highlighted in bold print.  
Any associated or free-standing modifications to the text of the Plan are set out in italic 
print. 

 The initial section of the Plan (Sections 1-5) 

7.8 The initial parts of the Plan set the scene for the range of policies.  They do so in a 
proportionate way. The Plan is presented in an effective fashion. It makes good use of 
well-selected maps. A very clear distinction is made between the policies and the 
supporting text. It also highlights the links between the Plan’s objectives and its 

resultant policies.  

7.9 The Introduction addresses the background to neighbourhood planning. It comments 
about how the Plan has been prepared and how it will be used. Paragraph 1.1 defines 
the Plan period and the neighbourhood area (in Plan A). It also explains the SEA/HRA 
process. In the round it is a very effective introduction to a neighbourhood plan. 

7.10 Section 2 provides a range of information about the neighbourhood area. It also 
describes major developments taking place both in the Borough and in other locations 
nearby and their effects on the parish. Key elements of this analysis have underpinned 
the production of the Plan.  

7.11 Section 3 comments about the planning policy context within which the Plan has been 
prepared. It addresses both national and WBC policies. It also comments on the two 
conservation areas in the neighbourhood area.  

25



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

14 

7.12 Section 4 comments about the community’s views on planning matters. It overlaps with 

the submitted Consultation Statement. 

7.13 Section 5 sets out a comprehensive Vision for the Plan. The Vision is then underpinned 
by a structured series of objectives.  

7.14 The remainder of this section of the report addresses each policy in turn in the context 
set out in paragraphs 7.5 to 7.7 of this report. 

 Policy TW1: Encouraging Sustainable Travel 

7.15 The policy seeks to encourage safe, accessible, convenient, and enjoyable means of 
walking and cycling in the parish. The Plan identifies an existing Sustainable Travel 
Network and opportunities for improvements for the purpose of prioritising active travel 
and encouraging the use of public transport in the Parish. 

7.16 The policy is both forward-thinking and non-prescriptive. The Network is described in 
full in the supporting text. The policy meets the basic conditions.  

Policy TW2: Sustainable Accessibility and Mobility 

7.17 This policy continues the approach taken in Policy TW1. It has a focus on promoting 
sustainable access and mobility.  

7.18 The approach taken in the policy is underpinned by the helpful supporting text. It 
comments that the emphasis in recent years has been on minimising the need to travel 
and promoting alternative modes of travel to the private car – ‘active travel’. It is 

recognised however, that some commuters drive to Twyford to access the station 
leading to cars being parked all day on residential roads. Improvements to the 
accessibility and quality of the environment at Twyford Railway Station would 
encourage use of the rail network for longer journeys without compromising traffic flow 
on local roads. The text also comments that TPC is currently investigating whether 
there are any opportunities for accommodating sustainable travel needs, such as 
charging for electric bicycles and cars and secure cycle parking.   

7.19 In general terms the policy meets the basic conditions. I recommend detailed 
modifications to the third part of the policy to remove the unnecessary supporting text.  

Replace the third part of the policy with: 

 ‘Proposals for major development should demonstrate through an agreed travel 
plan, that an appropriate range of measures will be implemented to promote and 
improve active travel for all users, including people with visual impairments. 
Where appropriate, the travel plan should include making appropriate 
contributions to the borough wide My Journey initiative or any successor 
scheme.’ 

Policy TW3: Twyford Railway Station 

7.20 This policy focuses on the railway station. I saw its importance to the village during the 
visit.  

26



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

15 

7.21 The policy has three related parts as follows: 

• the need for any proposals to be progressed in a co-ordinated way; 
• offering support to proposals which would improve accessibility and the quality 

of the environment at the station; and 
• a requirement for any new development which would increase the use of the 

station to contribute towards accessibility enhancements. 

7.22 The policy is underpinned by extensive supporting text which comments about the role 
of the station and potential measures to secure improvement to its operation and 
appearance.  

7.23 I am satisfied that the approach taken is both appropriate and distinctive. Within this 
broader context I recommend two modifications. The first repositions the first element 
of the policy into the supporting text. This acknowledges that its focus is on the process 
involved rather than a land use policy. The second refines the approach taken in the 
third part of the policy towards developer contributions. The recommended 
modification will ensure that the policy can be applied in a proportionate way and so 
that the contributions would relate directly to the increase in rail use associated with 
the proposal (rather than any more general increase in rail traffic which may arise for 
a variety of reasons which would not be directly related to specific new development). 
Otherwise, the policy meets the basic conditions. It will contribute to the delivery of 
each of the three dimensions of sustainable development.  

 Delete part A of the policy.  

Replace part C of the policy with: ‘As appropriate to their scale, nature and 
location development proposals that would directly generate an increase in 
journeys to and from the Twyford Railway Station will be required to make 
appropriate contributions to the cost of measures to improve the accessibility 
and quality of the environment at the Station.’ 

At the end of paragraph 5.16 add: ‘Development proposals for improvements to 
Twyford Railway Station should be developed in conjunction with the Borough Council, 
Great Western Rail, Twyford Parish Council, Network Rail and other interested parties 
as appropriate, to ensure that enhancements proceed in a co-ordinated fashion.’ 

Policy TW4: A Thriving Village Centre 

7.24 This policy seeks to consolidate and enhance the role of the village centre. The Plan 
comments that several retail premises have been lost over the years, notably along 
the High Street, and it is locally known that this has been due to heavy traffic and 
narrow pavements. The current centre is concentrated around the Crossroads, with 
some outlying units on Waltham Road and Station Road. There are two residential 
homes within the centre and several flats over retail units. The original trading area 
extended further to the west along High Street, and there were more shops along 
Station Road. 

7.25 In the context of recent changes to shopping behaviour, the Plan seeks to protect the 
village centre from losing further shops and services. The policy defines the extent of 

27



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

16 

the existing Village Centre and the Essential Core of the Primary Shopping Area. The 
policy resists proposals for change of use that would result in the loss of an active 
commercial, business, or service use of a ground floor frontage in the Village Centre. 
Where planning permission is still required, the policy comments that evidence will 
need to be submitted to demonstrate why an existing commercial, business or service 
use of a ground floor frontage in the Village Centre is no longer viable alongside 
marketing evidence that shows genuine and sustained efforts to promote, improve and 
market the property at a reasonable value. The policy also supports proposals that will 
create livelier and more active street frontages as well as an improved public realm. 

7.26 WBC comments that the Village Centre boundary is different to that which is identified 
in the existing development plan. I have considered this matter very carefully. On the 
balance of the evidence, I am satisfied that the boundary proposed in the submitted 
Plan is both appropriate and reflects the most up to date circumstances affecting the 
Village Centre. In any event I am satisfied that the proposed boundary is in general 
conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan.  

7.27 In the round, the policy takes an appropriate approach to this important matter. I am 
satisfied that it meets the basic conditions.  

Policy TW5: Village Centre Regeneration Area 

7.28 This policy consolidates the approach taken in Policy TW4. In this case it identifies a 
Twyford Village Centre Regeneration Area for the purposes of supporting regeneration 
opportunities that will deliver public realm improvements and traffic mitigation 
measures that are required to enhance the active travel environment and improve air 
quality, residential amenity, and highway safety for all users 

7.29 The second part of the policy comments that any development proposals that will 
generate an increase in traffic at the Crossroads will be required to make a direct and 
proportionate contribution to delivering the Twyford Village Regeneration Scheme. 

7.30 The supporting text comments about the way in which TPC is actively working to 
secure funding from the High Street Regeneration and Social Infrastructure Support 
Fund through the Neighbourhood Planning Programme, funded by the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. This will allow the commissioning of high-
level option testing to enable a preferred option to deliver the aim of the Twyford Village 
Centre Regeneration Scheme.   

7.31 In the round I am satisfied that the overall ambitions of the policy are appropriate and 
distinctive to the parish. In addition, it is clear that the policy would operate in a 
complementary way to the wider ambitions of the Regeneration Scheme. Work is still 
in progress on the Regeneration Scheme. On this basis I recommend modifications to 
the supporting text to reflect this situation.  

7.32 Otherwise the policy meets the basic conditions. It will assist significantly in the delivery 
of each of the three dimensions of sustainable development.  

 

28



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

17 

Replace paragraph 5.33 with:  

‘The Parish Council is actively pursuing options to realise the aim of the Twyford Village 
Centre Regeneration Area and has recently been successful in securing grant funding 
from the High Street Regeneration and Social Infrastructure Support Fund through the 
Neighbourhood Planning Programme, funded by the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities to commission high level option testing that will enable a 
preferred option to deliver the aim of the Twyford Village Centre Regeneration Scheme. 
A report was received in January 2023. WBC is supportive of the approach and 
engagement with WBC on this matter is ongoing. In the meantime, the Plan sets out a 
vision for the area and shows its extent on the Policies Maps. The policy requires that 
schemes do not harm the delivery of regeneration opportunities that deliver public 
realm improvements and traffic mitigation measures in the Twyford Village Centre 
Regeneration Scheme Area. The policy also seeks additional developer contributions 
for the Twyford Village Centre Regeneration Scheme where appropriate. If the Twyford 
Village Regeneration Scheme has not yet been costed and approved by the relevant 
stakeholders, contributions to deliver public realm improvements and traffic mitigation 
measures in the Twyford Village Centre Regeneration Area will continue to be sought 
where appropriate.’ 

Policy TW6: Improving Air Quality 

7.33 This policy concentrates on air quality in the village centre. In 2016 the Twyford Village 
Centre Crossroads was declared an air quality management area (AQMA) by WBC. 
The Plan comments that there are no currently adopted planning policies regarding air 
quality specifically and that WBC relies on the adopted Core Strategy Policy CP1 
(Sustainable development) that requires development to minimise the emission of 
pollutants into the wider environment and the existing provisions of the NPPF. In this 
context, WBC requires Air Quality Assessments to be provided with planning 
applications submitted within or adjacent to an AQMA. 

7.34 In this wider context the policy identifies the existence of the AQMA and requires 
development within, or adjacent to the AQMA, or development where its occupiers are 
particularly sensitive to air pollution (such as schools, health care establishments or 
housing for older people) to contribute to the actions and objectives set out in the latest 
Air Quality Action Plan. TPC considers that the policy is in line with the objectives of 
the relevant policy in the emerging Local Plan.  

7.35 The policy seeks to address a particular issue in the parish. It also relates to wider 
proposals to enhance the village centre. On this basis I am satisfied that it is a 
distinctive policy within the wider Plan.  

7.36 Some of the representations contend that the policy is strategic in nature. I do not 
agree with that contention. The policy refers specifically to a local matter and seeks to 
address it in a proportionate way within the parish.  

7.37 I recommend that the element in the first part of the policy about development which is 
particularly sensitive to air pollution is deleted. Whilst it addresses an important matter, 
it is one which can be addressed on a case-by-case basis in the development 

29



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

18 

management process. In addition, as submitted the policy neither defines the scale 
and nature of such development proposals nor the way in which a policy would be 
operated on a geographical basis. As such it would not have the precision required by 
the NPPF and would be difficult for WBC to apply on a consistent basis. I also 
recommend consequential modifications to the supporting text.  

7.38 I also recommend detailed modifications to part B of the policy as suggested by WBC. 
They bring the clarity and precision required by the NPPF rather than altering the 
fundamental approach taken in the submitted policy.  

7.39 Finally, I recommend a detailed modification to the wording used in paragraph 5.39. It 
is not the role of a neighbourhood plan to make subjective comments on national 
policy.  

In part A of the policy delete ‘or development where its occupiers are particularly 
sensitive to air pollution (such as schools, health care establishments or 
housing for older people),’ 

Replace Part B of the policy with:  

‘Where applicable, development proposals should aim to be at least ‘Air Quality 

Neutral’ and not cause or contribute to worsening air quality, including in the 

Twyford Crossroads Air Quality Management Area.  Development proposals that 
would result in a significant increase in air pollution within or adjacent to the 
Twyford Crossroads Air Quality Management Area will only be supported in 
exceptional circumstances.  This should be demonstrated through an air quality 
assessment, and if necessary, proposed mitigation measures.’  

In paragraph 5.36 delete ‘or development where its occupiers are particularly sensitive 

to air pollution (such as schools, health care establishments or housing for older 
people)’ 

In paragraph 5.37 delete ‘or development where its occupiers are particularly sensitive 
to air pollution’ 

 In paragraph 5.39 delete ‘unfortunately’ 

Policy TW7: Nature Recovery and Climate Change 

7.40 This policy addresses nature recovery and climate change. It defines the presence of 
green and blue infrastructure assets in the Parish and comments that they have 
multiple roles including carbon sinking, flood alleviation and biodiversity net-gain and 
highlights opportunities for its recovery. The Policies Map shows the full extent of the 
Network. 

7.41 The policy is underpinned by the details in the supporting text (and as shown on Plan 
H).  

7.42 The policy has been designed to operate in a non-prescriptive way. I recommend a 
detailed modification to the wording of part C of the policy. Otherwise, it meets the 
basic conditions.  

30



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

19 

 In part C of the policy replace ‘be resisted’ with ‘not be supported’ 

Policy TW8: Tree Canopy Cover 

7.43 This is an interesting and innovative policy. It comments that except for householder 
applications, development proposals on sites outside the Village Centre and 0.5 ha or 
more, are required as a minimum to achieve a future canopy cover of 25% of the site 
area principally through the retention of existing trees and the planting of new trees. It 
continues by commenting that where it can be demonstrated that this is impracticable, 
the use of other green infrastructure (such as green roofs and walls) can be used where 
they can offer similar benefits to trees. The second part of the policy takes an 
equivalent approach to locations in the village centre and more generally for smaller 
sites.  

7.44 The policy has attracted representations from WBC and the development industry. In 
general terms they focus on the potential implications of the policy on the density, 
deliverability, and viability of future development sites.  

7.45 In its response to the clarification note TPC provided further information on the way in 
which the policy would be implemented. It also provided information about the way in 
which a similar approach had been successfully pursued in the Wycombe District Local 
Plan. 

7.46 On the balance of the evidence, and subject to recommend modifications, I am 
satisfied that the policy meets the basic conditions. The recommended modifications 
address the following matters: 

• the need for the policy to acknowledge that its approach will not always be 
practicable; 

• the need for the policy to draw particular attention to the need for decisions to 
take account of viability, layout, and design matters; and 

• the need for the supporting text to draw attention to the overlapping 
requirements of the policy and other requirements for landscaping and open 
spaces on development sites.  

7.47 Otherwise the policy meets the basic conditions. It could assist in bringing forward new 
developments which respond positively to the environment within the village and on 
the edge of village where it has a close association with the surrounding countryside.  

Replace the policy with: 

‘Development proposals on sites of 0.5 ha or more outside the Village Centre as 
defined in Policy TW4 and on the Policies Map, should achieve a future canopy 
cover of 25% of the site area principally through the retention of existing trees 
and the planting of new trees. Where such an approach would be impracticable 
for viability, layout or design reasons, the use of other green infrastructure (such 
as green roofs and walls) should be used where they can offer similar benefits 
to trees. 

31



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

20 

Development proposals in the Village Centre as defined in Policy TW4 and on 
the Policies Map, and on sites of less than 0.5 ha, should maximise the 
opportunities available for canopy cover, including tree retention and planting 
or the provision of other green infrastructure (such as green roofs and walls).’ 

At the end of paragraph 5.52 add: 

‘The policy has been designed to be applied in a flexible way. In specific terms it 

acknowledges that issues such as commercial viability, site layouts and design may 
make the expectations of the policy impracticable on a site-by-site basis. This will be a 
matter for WBC to consider based in the evidence provided with each development 
proposal. In addition, matters such as site layout and commercial viability may also be 
affected where development proposals would also need to provide open space and 
landscaping to meet other policies.’ 

Policy TW9: Carbon Sequestration 

7.48 This policy requires that all proposals for new buildings, including those that are part 
of redevelopment schemes, to contribute to carbon sequestration (‘sinking’) in the 

neighbourhood area. It applies to all buildings of any land use type as every new 
building will have a carbon footprint that will need to be mitigated. 

7.49 The first part of the policy requires schemes of a gross site area of 2ha or more, which 
would be expected to include a landscape scheme of a reasonable scale, to include 
woodland planting of a type and long-term management that meets the Woodland 
Carbon Code standards which include identifying suitable soils eligible for woodland 
creation. The second part requires smaller schemes, or those that cannot meet the 
Code on-site, to make a financial contribution to the provision of Code-compliant 
woodland planting within the Twyford Nature Recovery Network through the 
Wokingham Borough Carbon Offset Fund. 

7.50 The policy takes an innovative approach to this matter. In this context WBC makes 
some detailed comments on its contents and the development industry comments on 
its applicability and impact on the commercial viability of residential developments.  

7.51 Paragraph 5.61 of the Plan acknowledges some of the challenges of the policy as 
follows: 

‘The Neighbourhood Plan recognises that the only major development proposals likely 
to have a gross sites area of more than 2Ha that is likely to come forward in the Parish 
during the plan period is the proposed allocation of Land at Bridge Farm, as the parish 
boundary is tightly drawn, and the remaining land is heavily constrained. It is therefore 
likely that the effect of Clause A of the policy is going to be limited. The Parish Council 
will continue to engage in the emerging Local Plan process and willingly offers the 
policy to WBC to help frame a Borough-wide policy in the emerging Local Plan.’ 

7.52 I have considered the policy very carefully. On the one hand, it takes a positive and an 
innovative approach to this matter. In a similar way it recognises that its ambitions will 
not always be achieved on a site-by-site basis. On the other hand, the Plan 
acknowledges that part A of the policy will have limited effect in the current 

32



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

21 

circumstances on the delivery of new housing in the parish. In addition, paragraph 5.59 
of the Plan indicates that the Wokingham Borough Carbon Offset Fund is yet to be 
established. The policy is also silent about the potential implications of the policy on 
commercial viability and the extent to which any offsetting would take place within the 
parish or elsewhere.  

7.53 In all the circumstances I recommend the deletion of the policy and the supporting text. 
In the absence of any local information and evidence to the contrary carbon 
sequestration is ultimately a strategic matter which will be pursued through the 
emerging Local Plan and the associated Wokingham Borough Carbon Offset Fund. 
Once this has been achieved it may be a matter which TPC may wish to address in a 
review of a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan in due course.  

 Delete the policy. 

 Delete paragraphs 5.54 to 5.61. 

Policy TW10: Zero Carbon Buildings 

7.54 This policy concentrates on building efficiency. The Plan comments that the policy is 
intended to be a temporary measure as in due course it is expected that the emerging 
Local Plan and possibly revised national policy will impose higher energy efficiency 
standards across the Borough 

7.55 The policy has five parts and is intended to deliver a step change in the energy 
performance of all new developments in the parish. It encourages and incentivises the 
use of the Passivhaus or equivalent standard of building design. Along with the passive 
design capacity assessment, it is anticipated that designers will demonstrate 
compliance using a design for performance methodology such as the Passivhaus 
Planning package or CIBSE TM34 Operational Energy. The Plan also comments that 
achieving this level of performance will make a significant contribution to mitigating 
climate change. 

7.56 The approach taken on this matter is both comprehensive and ambitious. As the Plan 
acknowledges the policy context for encouraging higher energy efficiency standards at 
a local plan or neighbourhood plan scale is complex.  

7.57 The policy attracted detailed comments in the consultation exercise from both WBC 
and the development industry.  

7.58 I sought TPC’s comments on the following matters in the clarification note: 

• the extent to which the policy had been assessed against the Written Ministerial 
Statement (March 2015); 

• the blend of policy and supporting text in the five parts of the policy; and 
• the extent to which the effects of the policy on commercial viability had been 

tested.  

 

 

33



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

22 

7.59 TPC responded as follow: 

‘Many of the concerns raised indicates a misunderstanding of the policy’s intent and 

operation. The level of testing recommended by WBC would only be necessary if the 
policy set an energy efficiency standard. The policy does not set an energy efficiency 
standard. Applicants can continue to choose to bring forward schemes of any standard 
within existing standards, including schemes which are capable of achieving the Future 
Homes Standard and/or Future Buildings Standards (or any equivalent standard). This 
is because Clause B of Policy TW10 recognises that it may not be feasible for all 
schemes to meet a space heating demand of less than 15KWh/m2/year and paragraph 
5.65 of its supporting text places no greater onus on applicants other than to 
acknowledge that in the application.  

The policy does however, incentivise the Passivhaus, or any other equivalent standard 
which will deliver a space heating demand of less than 15KWh/m2/year. It does so in 
the first instance in Clause B of Policy TW10 by recognising that there may be 
occasions where choosing to deliver to a higher energy efficiency standard may lead 
to circumstances where trade-offs need to be made between this objective and local 
design policy. It therefore provides some degree of flexibility in meeting the Twyford 
Design Guidelines and Code but only where schemes choose the Passivhaus, or 
equivalent standard. The flexibility provided in the policy will not apply to schemes 
which have not chosen the Passivhaus, or equivalent standard.  

The second incentive is Clause C which operates where the developer cannot or 
chooses not to use the Passivhaus, or equivalent standard. Paragraph 7 of Appendix 
A in the Plan highlights the widely accepted performance gap. A performance gap is 
where the actual energy use of a building, as built, does not match the predicted 
heating energy demand. It is not considered unreasonable to require evidence that 
demonstrates a building is performing as expected, particularly when also considering 
the cost-of-living crisis and vulnerability to fuel poverty. WBC’s existing requirement of 

predicted energy demand does not address the performance gap issue.’ 

7.60 I have considered these various approaches to the policy very carefully. In doing so, I 
have taken account of national and local policies on this matter.  

7.61 National policy is set out in the NPPF. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF sets the scene in 
commenting that plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to 
climate change. Paragraph 155 continues by commenting that (amongst other things) 
that plans should help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon 
energy and heat, by providing a positive strategy for energy from these sources, that 
maximises the potential for suitable development, while ensuring that adverse impacts 
are addressed satisfactorily (including cumulative landscape and visual impacts). 

7.62 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) considers these matters in further detail. PPG ID:6-
009-20150327 comments that: ‘The National Planning Policy Framework expects local 
planning authorities when setting any local requirement for a building’s sustainability 

to do so in a way consistent with the government’s zero carbon buildings policy and 

adopt nationally described standards. Local requirements should form part of a Local 
Plan following engagement with appropriate partners, and will need to be based on 

34

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/14-meeting-the-challenge-of-climate-change-flooding-and-coastal-change#para150
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-plans--2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-plans--2


 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

23 

robust and credible evidence and pay careful attention to viability. In this respect, 
planning authorities will need to take account of government decisions on the Housing 
Standards Review when considering a local requirement relating to new homes. If 
considering policies on local requirements for the sustainability of other buildings, local 
planning authorities will wish to consider if there are nationally described standards 
and the impact on viability of development.’ 

7.63 PPG ID:6-012-20190315 comments that: ‘The Planning and Energy Act 2008 allows 
local planning authorities to set energy efficiency standards in their development plan 
policies that exceed the energy efficiency requirements of the building regulations. 
Such policies must not be inconsistent with relevant national policies for 
England. Section 43 of the Deregulation Act 2015 would amend this provision, but is 
not yet in force. The Written Ministerial Statement on Plan Making dated 25 March 
2015 clarified the use of plan policies and conditions on energy performance standards 
for new housing developments. The statement sets out the government’s expectation 

that such policies should not be used to set conditions on planning permissions with 
requirements above the equivalent of the energy requirement of Level 4 of the Code 
for Sustainable Homes (this is approximately 20% above current Building Regulations 
across the build mix).’ 

7.64 Local policies on this matter are relatively undeveloped due to the dated nature of the 
planning policy context in the Borough. Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan is general 
in nature and refers to the dated Code for Sustainable Homes. Whilst the Sustainable 
Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document adds value to the Local 
Plan policy the date of its publication limits its applicability.  

7.65 Taking account of all the information, I recommend modifications to the policy to ensure 
that it meets the basic conditions. The recommended modifications are underpinned 
by four key and related factors. 

7.66 The first is that an independent examiner’s role is to assess a neighbourhood plan 

against the basic conditions. Whilst it widely anticipated that the national policies about 
the energy efficiency of new houses will change within the Plan period, it is not my role 
to seek to anticipate the details of that future approach. This would ultimately be a 
matter for any potential future review of a ‘made’ Plan to address. In a similar way the 
dated nature of Policy CC04 is not in itself a sufficient justification to develop a policy 
in a neighbourhood plan which fails to meet the basic conditions. 

7.67 The second is that the Written Ministerial Statement of March 2015 continues as an 
element of government policy. Whilst I have taken account of TPC’s responses to the 
clarification note, I have concluded that to all intents and purposes the policy requires 
Passivhaus technology. Whilst this is proposed in the context of where such an 
approach is ‘feasible’, the policy does not offer any definitive guidance on how 

feasibility would be assessed beyond the commentary in paragraph 5.65 that an 
applicant must demonstrate those factors which would make the delivery of 
Passivhaus technology unfeasible. The effect of such an approach would be that WBC 
and the developer concerned would need to engage in a detailed technical debate on 
this point. This would be both onerous and time-consuming. In the round, I have 
concluded that the policy’s approach is contrary to the Written Ministerial Statement. 

35

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-building-regulation/2010-to-2015-government-policy-building-regulation#appendix-5-technical-housing-standards-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-building-regulation/2010-to-2015-government-policy-building-regulation#appendix-5-technical-housing-standards-review
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/section/43
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-update-march-2015


 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

24 

In any event such excellent technology may be overtaken by other similar approaches 
to building efficiency which come forward within the Plan period.  

7.68 The third is that TPC has offered no direct evidence or assurance regarding the effect 
of the policy on new development in the parish. Its reference to viability in paragraph 
5.66 of the Plan is to general, rather than to specific, local information. In addition, 
whilst I have noted TPC’s comments that ‘it is now clear that the additional costs of 

building to a zero-carbon standard are within the margin of build costs. It appears that 
many developers and housebuilders are ‘pricing in’ the need to meet such standards 

within the next five years anticipating that Government will need to make national 
requirements as part of its climate change obligations’ there is no evidence available 
to me on this matter including any details from specific developers.  

7.69 The fourth and final key factor is that the policy as submitted includes a series of 
elements which explain the proposed operation of the policy rather than being policy 
(Parts C/D/E). 

7.70 Taking account of all these circumstances, I recommend a package of modifications to 
both the policy and to the supporting text. The recommended modifications to the 
submitted policy would result in a situation where the neighbourhood plan would offer 
a supportive context for development proposals in the parish to achieve more 
sustainable solutions that those required by national policy rather than requiring this to 
be the case.  

7.71 In specific terms, I recommend that the first two parts of the policy are modified so that 
they take on a less prescriptive format which has regard to national policy. In this 
context it is appropriate for a neighbourhood plan policy to offer support for carbon 
ready/Passivhaus buildings as opposed to requiring this to be the case.  

7.72 In this context I recommend the deletion of parts C and E of the policy which would no 
longer apply to the wider policy. I also recommend a modification to the wording of Part 
D of the policy so that it more generally explains its requirements.  

7.73 I also recommend a consequential package of modifications to the supporting text. In 
all the circumstances I recommend the deletion of appendices A and B from the Plan.  

Replace the policy with: 

‘Development proposals which would be ‘zero carbon ready’ by design by 

minimising the amount of energy needed to heat and cool buildings through 
landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping will be 
supported. Consideration should be given to resource efficiency at the outset 
and whether existing buildings can be re-used as part of the scheme to capture 
their embodied carbon. 

Proposals for a Passivhaus or equivalent standard buildings, with a space 
heating demand of less than 15KWh/m2/year will be supported. Schemes that 
maximise their potential to meet this standard by proposing the use of terraced 
and/or apartment building forms of plot size, plot coverage and layout that are 

36



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

25 

different to those of the character area within which the proposal is located will 
be supported, provided it can be demonstrated that the scheme will not have an 
unacceptable effect on the character area.  

Proposals for major development should be accompanied by a Whole-Life-Cycle 
Carbon Emission Assessment, using a recognised methodology, to 
demonstrate actions have been taken to reduce embodied carbon resulting from 
the construction and use of the building over its life.’ 

Delete Appendices A and B.  

Replace paragraphs 5.63 to 5.71 with: 

‘Policy TW10 of this Plan will result in a situation where the neighbourhood plan would 
offer a supportive context for development proposals in the parish to achieve more 
sustainable solutions than those required by national policy. Plainly the wider situation 
may be affected by changes to national or local planning policies on these matters in 
the Plan period. 

The policy offers support for the development of zero carbon ready buildings. It also 
offers support for buildings which are designed to Passivhaus or equivalent standards.  

The third part of policy comments that proposals for major development should be 
accompanied by a Whole-Life-Cycle Carbon Emission Assessment, using a 
recognised methodology, to demonstrate actions have been taken to reduce embodied 
carbon resulting from the construction and use of the building over its life. This will 
ensure that development proposals are implemented as intended.’  

Policy TW11: Water Infrastructure and Flood Risk 

7.74 This policy concentrates on water infrastructure and flood risk. The Plan advises that 
the River Loddon runs through the west side of Twyford and approximately a quarter 
of land in the parish lies within a flood risk area. It also comments that the WBC Water 
Cycle Study – Phase 1 Scoping Study (2019) identifies that the Borough is classified 
as an area of serious water stress and justifies the higher optional standard for water 
efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. Given these characteristics, the policy 
serves several purposes. 

7.75 The policy addresses these matters in a comprehensive way. It meets the basic 
conditions.  

Policy TW12: New Homes - Tenure and Mix 

7.76 This policy sets out a comprehensive approach to the tenure and mix of new homes. 
It is underpinned by detailed supporting text.  

7.77 The first part of the policy makes provision for First Homes and requires a specific 
tenure mix for affordable housing provision on qualifying sites as recommended by the 
Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Housing Needs Assessment (HNA). The policy adopts 

37



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

26 

the flexible approach in the emerging Local Plan to use the evidence in the HNA as a 
starting point for affordable housing tenure split allowing for flexibility where there are 
site specific issues. The second part of the policy requires this weighting towards 
smaller 1–3-bedroom dwellings whilst acknowledging that it is important not to exclude 
certain dwelling types. The third part of the policy encourages landowners and their 
future development partners to consider the strong desire by the Parish Council to see 
a proportion of new homes through community led schemes involving housing, small 
business units and other appropriate community uses, which may involve a community 
led housing model such as a Community Land trust, or equivalent body.  

7.78 In general terms the policy takes a positive and locally-distinctive approach to this 
matter. It is also clear that the policy has been refined to take account of responses to 
the pre-submission consultation process.  

7.79 I recommend modifications to the format of part A of the policy so that it is both simpler 
and brings the clarity and precision required by the NPPF.  

7.80 I recommend that part C of the policy is deleted and repositioned into the supporting 
text. This reflects that its purpose is to encourage a particular approach towards a 
community-led housing model rather than operating as a land use policy. This is largely 
acknowledged in the wording of paragraph 5.80 of the Plan.  

Replace part A of the policy with: 

‘In general terms development proposals for new housing should provide 
affordable housing on the following basis: 

• 25% First Homes; 
• 12% shared ownership; 
• 8% rent to buy; and  
• 55% affordable housing for rent.  

The precise tenure mix of affordable housing will be determined on a site-by-site 
basis.’ 

Delete part C of the policy.  

Replace paragraph 5.80 with: ‘The Plan encourages developers to consider delivering 
some of the affordable housing element through a Community Led Housing model. 
The Parish Council is keen to see a proportion of new homes come forward through 
community-led schemes involving housing, small business units and other appropriate 
community uses, which may involve a community led housing model such as a 
Community Land trust, or equivalent body. There is strong local community support for 
such an approach and the Parish Council is actively investigating this delivery model. ’ 

Policy TW13: First Homes 

7.81 This policy comments about First Homes. It proposes that the discount should be 50% 
rather than the nationally-prescribed figure of 30%. In coming to this conclusion TPC 
has relied on information in the submitted HNA (October 2022).  

38



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

27 

7.82 The approach in the policy has attracted representations from WBC, David Wilson 
Homes and Croudace Homes.  

7.83 The HNA comments on a wide range of housing, tenure, and affordability issues to 
good effect. The Assessment is up-to-date. Its principal findings on affordability and its 
relationship to First Homes are as follows: 

‘This report has estimated the income required to afford First Homes and tested the 
implications of 30%, 40% and 50% discount levels. In the case of Twyford it could be 
argued that local circumstances would permit the threshold to be set at 50% discount; 
this is due to the discounts of 30% and 40% being largely considered unaffordable for 
those earning the average (mean) household income of £72,600 and the additional 
likelihood that First Homes at lower discounts in Twyford would not fall beneath the 
price and income caps (see Appendix A). (Paragraph 81) 

It remains clear that 50% discount is the most appropriate from an affordability 
perspective. It is worth noting that higher discounts may have implications on 
development viability and the overall amount of Affordable Housing that developers 
are able to deliver. This risk should be discussed with the Local Authority if the 
Neighbourhood Plan is to include policy provisions on this topic. (Paragraph 82)’ 

7.84 The Plan does not directly provide evidence on the viability of a 50% discount on First 
Homes. Instead, paragraph 5.82 comments that: 

‘It is not considered that viability will be an issue when land values are high. Whilst the 
Affordable Housing Viability Study for WBC in June 2008 was undertaken prior to the 
introduction of the First Homes product, its analysis does suggest that the rural parts 
of Wokingham, which includes Twyford, may be able to sustain higher affordable 
housing requirements than in the urban areas, due largely to higher values for market 
units.’ 

7.85 I have considered this matter very carefully. Plainly, there is an affordability issue in 
the parish and the delivery of First Homes could assist in providing wider access to 
housing for residents in the parish. On the one hand, the policy and the HNA provide 
a compelling case for a higher discount based on affordability. On the other hand, the 
policy is less compelling on the potential impact of a higher discount on viability. This 
is highlighted in two ways. The first is that the policy itself indicates that the 50% 
discount will be applied where such an approach is viable. This does not provide any 
certainty on how this test would be applied. The second is that the contents of 
paragraph 5.82 rely on the Affordable Housing Viability Study produced by WBC in 
2008. Plainly that information is dated and was produced well in advance of the rollout 
of the First Homes agenda.  

7.86 In all the circumstances, I am not convinced that the policy approach is sufficiently 
robust so that it could be delivered with certainty and clarity through the development 
management process throughout the Plan period. In specific terms, the policy provides 
no mechanism or guidance about the way in which discounts would be applied on 
viability grounds throughout the Plan period. This is important both in its own right and 

39



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

28 

given the matter-of-fact approach taken in PPG on both the levels of discount and the 
way in which they would be applied thereafter as follows: 

‘In such circumstances, the minimum discount level should be fixed at either 40% or 
50% below market value and should not be set at any other value. In each case, these 
percentages represent the minimum discount required for a home to qualify as a First 
Home. Developers who are able to offer higher discounts within their contributions 
should be free to do so but the local authority cannot require this. In such cases, 
whatever discount (as a percentage of market value) is given at the first disposal 
should be the same at each subsequent sale. These minimum discounts should apply 
to the entire local plan area (except if Neighbourhood Plans are in place in certain 
areas) and should not be changed on a site-by-site basis.’ (Planning Practice Guidance 

ID: 70-004-20210524) 

7.87 Taking account of all the information available to me I recommend that the policy and 
the supporting text are deleted. Plainly the national approach towards First Homes 
remains unaffected by this recommended modification.  

7.88 I acknowledge that this approach will be a disappointment to TPC. However, the 
opportunity exists to address the matter in further detail in any review of a made 
neighbourhood plan in due course. This may occur once the broader position on First 
Homes in the Borough becomes clearer as the emerging Local Plan progresses and 
as WBC revises and updates its Interim Policy Statement on First Homes (produced 
in January 2022).   

 Delete the policy. 

 Delete paragraphs 5.81 and 5.82. 

Policy TW14: First Homes Exception Sites 

7.89 This policy comments about proposals for First Homes which would represent 
exception sites. It is underpinned by evidence and commentary in the supporting text.  

7.90 In the round, I am satisfied that the policy meets the basic conditions. It will assist in 
delivering new homes to meet local needs.  

 Policy TW15: Design Codes 

7.91 This policy has a clear focus on design. It is underpinned by the excellent Design 
Guidelines and Codes. In the round the policy is a first-class local response to Section 
12 of the NPPF.  

7.92 The policy requires that applicants should demonstrate that they have regard to the 
Design Guidelines and Codes as relevant to the location of their proposals. It does not 
advocate pastiche or historic solution. Nevertheless, it highlights the importance of 
ensuring that any new development demonstrates a connection with local character 
and place making. 

7.93 In general terms the policy meets the basic conditions. I recommend detailed 
modifications to the policy to ensure that it has the clarity and precision required by the 

40



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

29 

NPPF. The recommended modification to the opening element of the policy shifts its 
focus to the requirements on the applicant and the need for proposals to respond 
positively to the information in the Design Guidelines and Codes. Otherwise, the policy 
meets the basic conditions.  

Replace the opening element of Part A of the policy with: ‘Development 
proposals should demonstrate the way in which they have responded positively 
to:’ 

In i replace ‘essential’ with ‘the essential’ 

In ii replace ‘General’ with ‘the general’ 

In Part B of the policy replace ‘shall’ with ‘should’ 

Policy TW16: Buildings of Traditional Local Character 

7.94 This policy comments that development proposals affecting non-designated heritage 
assets, which include buildings of traditional local character, may be supported where 
they can demonstrate how they will sustain or enhance their significance or how the 
public benefits outweigh any identified harm to their significance. The supporting text 
explains that the Design Code had anticipated identifying specific buildings, but this 
aspect had not been pursued.  

7.95 The policy takes an appropriate approach which has regards to paragraph 203 of the 
NPPF. In this context I recommend that the policy identifies the way in which any 
application will be assessed rather than (albeit loosely with the use of ‘may’) the 

outcome of such proposals.  

 Replace ‘may be supported where they can’ with ‘should’ 

Policy TW17: Twyford Community Hub 

7.96 This is an exciting policy. It comments that the development of the Old Polehampton 
Boys School, as shown on the Policies Map, to deliver a new Twyford Community Hub 
will be supported. The second part of the policy comments that, where appropriate, 
development proposals will be required to make financial contributions towards the 
delivery of the new Twyford Community Hub. 

7.97 The policy supports an initiative which already has planning permission. As such I 
recommend the deletion of the reference to that application in the policy itself. I also 
recommend a modification to part B of the policy to bring clarity to the types of 
proposals which will be expected to provide contributions to the development of the 
community hub. Such an approach would have regard to national policy on developer 
contributions. Otherwise, the policy meets the basic conditions. It will assist in the 
delivery of the social dimension of sustainable development. In addition, the restoration 
of the building will help to secure its long-term future.  

 In part A of the policy delete ‘in accordance….201022’ 

41



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

30 

 Replace part B of the policy with: ‘Development proposals within the 
neighbourhood area which would increase the demand for community facilities 
will be required to make financial contributions towards the delivery of the new 
Twyford Community Hub.’ 

Policy TW18: Community Facilities 

7.98 The policy identifies community facilities (buildings and land) in the Parish that will be 
protected from a change of use in line with Core Strategy Policy CP3 General 
Principles for Development and refines the emerging local plan Policy HC2 Community 
Infrastructure by encouraging proposals to enable the facilities to remain viable 
community assets. 

7.99 The policy takes account of potentially changing circumstances in the Plan period, 
including commercial viability issues. The policy also takes the opportunity to support 
proposals for extending existing community facilities providing such schemes are 
consistent with other relevant policies of the development plan. 

7.100 The policy has been well-considered. I recommend modifications to Part B of the policy 
so that it more properly responds to paragraph 3.85 of the MDD Local Plan. Otherwise, 
it meets the basic conditions.  

 Replace part B of the policy with: 

 ‘In addition to the provisions of relevant Local Plan policies which safeguard 
community facilities from unnecessary loss, proposals to change the 
established use of a facility and ancillary land must demonstrate that the use is 
no longer viable (through the production of evidence that genuine and sustained 
efforts to promote, improve and market the facility at a reasonable value have 
been undertaken) or that the use can be satisfactorily re-located for the benefit 
of the local community.’ 

Policy TW19: Early Years Provision 

7.101 The policy has been designed to protect early years provision uses from unnecessary 
loss. It identifies four such facilities. The supporting text comments that primary schools 
in Twyford offer early years provision uses in the form of preschools, which are not 
attached, managed, or funded by the respective schools. The Starlings Children’s 

Centre offer some early years provision and the Cedar Park Day Nursery and 
Preschool facility is the only nursery in the Parish.  

7.102 The policy takes an appropriate approach to this matter. I recommend a detailed 
modification to its wording to bring the clarity and precision required by the NPPF. 
Otherwise, it meets the basic conditions.  

 Replace ‘provided’ with ‘where’ 

 Other matters – housing sites proposed by developers 

7.103 In their representations to the Plan developers propose sites in the neighbourhood 
area for housing development as follows: 

42



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

31 

• David Wilson Homes (Land north of Bridge Farm); 
• Croudace Homes (Land at Bridge Farm); and 
• Berkeley Strategic Land Limited (Castle End Gardens) 

7.104 My role is to examine the submitted Plan on its merits rather than to examine an 
alternative Plan. This reflects national policy and advice. It also takes account of the 
ability for a qualifying body (here TPC) to include whatever matters it sees fit within a 
neighbourhood plan.  

7.105 During the examination process WBC has resolved to grant planning permission for 
the development of up to 200 new homes at Bridge Farm (planning application 
212720). This will provide a significant opportunity for the development of new homes 
in the Plan period.  

7.106 TPC sets out its position on future housing development in paragraph 3.9 of the Plan. 
Whilst acknowledging the requirement for housing development the Plan comments 
that given that that the emerging Local Plan proposes to make allocations in the Parish, 
and given the number of constraints on the remaining land within the parish boundary 
it does not make any housing allocations and has focused its attention in preparing 
other development management policies. 

7.107 In the round I am satisfied that this approach is appropriate. The approach has now 
been consolidated by WBC’s resolution to grant permission for the Bridge Farm 
development. Nevertheless, I recommend that these issues are more fully captured in 
the supporting text in the Plan which refers to delivery, implementation, and monitoring, 
and review. 

 Monitoring and Review of the Plan 

7.108 Section 6 of the Plan comments about its implementation. However, the Plan only 
briefly addresses the potential for its review in due course (in paragraph 3.9 in relation 
to the role expected to be played by the emerging Local Plan in addressing new 
housing growth in both the wider Borough and the parish). 

7.109 In the same way that there is no need for a parish council to prepare a neighbourhood 
plan, there is no need for a parish council to review a made plan. However, in the 
circumstances presented in this Plan, and given TPC’s express view that the emerging 
Local Plan, or the Bridge Farm planning application (212720), will address the 
requirement for housing development in the Parish I recommend that the matter is 
captured in the Plan in a more explicit way and which highlights the importance of the 
emerging Local Plan.  

 At the end of Section 6 add: 

 ‘Monitoring and Review 

 The Parish Council will monitor the effectiveness of the policies in the Plan through the 
development management process. Where necessary it will engage with the Borough 
Council to understand decisions made on planning applications or planning appeals. 

43



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

32 

The success or otherwise of the policies will feed into the assessment of the need for 
a review of the Plan (paragraph 6.5). 

 The Parish Council will also assess the need or otherwise for a full or a partial review 
of a made Plan throughout the Plan period. Such assessments will be made: 

• within two years of the making of the Plan; 
• within six months of the adoption of the emerging Local Plan;  
• if changes to national policy are so significant that they make the policies in 

the Plan ineffective or out of date; and 
• at the end of the Plan period.’ 

Other Non-Planning Matters 

7.110 Section 7 of the Plan highlights a series of non-land use matters. They are issues which 
have naturally arisen during the plan-preparation stage. They are included in a 
separate part of the Plan as advised by national policy. The various matters are both 
appropriate and distinctive to the parish. In summary they are as follows: 

 
• Renewable energy and waste management; 
• Traffic management; 
• The use of Stanlake Bridge; 
• HGV routes; 
• Relocating traffic queues in High Street; 
• London Road shopping area; 
• Parking for rail users at the railway station; and 
• Influencing Driver Awareness. 

 
Other matters - General 

7.111 This report has recommended a series of modifications both to the policies and to the 
 text in the submitted Plan. Where consequential changes to the text are required 
directly as a result of my recommended modification to the policy concerned, I have 
highlighted them in this report. However other changes to the general text may be 
required elsewhere in the Plan as a result of the recommended modifications to the 
policies. It will be appropriate for WBC and TPC to have the flexibility to make any 
necessary consequential changes to the general text. I recommend accordingly.  

 
 Modification of general text (where necessary) to achieve consistency with the 
modified policies. 

  

 

 

 

 

44



 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Wokingham – Examiner’s Report  

 

33 

8         Summary and Conclusions 

Summary 
 
8.1 The Plan sets out a range of policies to guide and direct development proposals in the 

period up to 2038.  It is distinctive in addressing a specific set of issues that have been 
identified and refined by the wider community.  

 
8.2 Following the independent examination of the Plan, I have concluded that the Twyford 

Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the basic conditions for the preparation of a 
neighbourhood plan subject to a series of recommended modifications. 

 
 Conclusion 
 
8.3 On the basis of the findings in this report I recommend to Wokingham Borough Council 

that subject to the incorporation of the modifications set out in this report the Twyford 
Neighbourhood Development Plan should proceed to referendum. 

 
 Referendum Area 
 
8.4 I am required to consider whether the referendum area should be extended beyond 

the designated neighbourhood area.  In my view, that area is entirely appropriate for 
this purpose and no evidence has been submitted to suggest that this is not the case.  
I therefore recommend that the Plan should proceed to referendum based on the 
neighbourhood area as approved by Wokingham Borough Council on 6 August 2018.  

 
8.5 I am grateful to everyone who has helped in any way to ensure that this examination 

has run in a smooth and efficient manner.   
 
 
 
 
Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner   
21 March 2023 
 

 

 

  

 

  

 

45



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Wokingham Borough Council 
 

Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Decision Statement 
 

1. Summary  
 
1.1 The Twyford Neighbourhood Plan (the Plan) was subject to independent examination.  This 

decision statement confirms that the modifications recommended in the Examiner’s report 
have been accepted, that the Plan will be altered as a result of it, and that this altered 
version of the Plan can proceed to referendum.  
 

1.2 This Decision Statement and the Examination Report can be viewed on the Council’s 
website.  Hard copies of these documents can be inspected at the following locations: 
 

Wokingham 
Borough Council 
Shute End  
Wokingham  
Berkshire 
RG40 1BN  
 

Monday to Friday:                                            9am to 5pm  

Twyford Library  
Polehampton 
Close 
Twyford  
Berkshire  
RG10 9RP 
 

Monday:                                                            2pm to 5pm  
Tuesday and Friday:          10am to 1pm and 2pm to 5pm  
Thursday:                                                          2pm to 5pm 
Saturday:                                             9.30am to 12:30pm 

 
 

2. Background  
 
2.1 On 6 August 2018, Wokingham Borough Council designated the area of Twyford Parish for 

the purpose of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan in accordance with Part Two of the Town 
and Country Planning (England), Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.  
 

2.2 Following the submission of the Twyford Neighbourhood Plan to the Council, the plan was 
publicised, and representations were invited for a 6-week period in accordance with the 
regulations. The publicity period ended on Wednesday 23 November 2022.  

 
2.3 Wokingham Borough Council, with the support of Twyford Parish Council, appointed an 

independent examiner, Mr Andrew Ashcroft, in November 2022 to review whether the Plan 
meets the basic conditions set out in legislation and to make recommendations regarding 
whether the Plan should proceed to referendum.  
 

2.4 The Examiner’s Report concludes that, subject to making the modifications recommended 
therein, the Plan meets the basic conditions and should proceed to referendum. It 
concludes that the boundary for the purposes of the referendum should be the boundary 
of the designated Neighbourhood Area. 
 

2.5 Having considered each of the recommendations in in the Examination Report and the 
reasons for them, the Executive of Wokingham Borough Council agreed on 20 April 2023 
to accept the modifications to the Plan and that the Twyford Neighbourhood Plan as 
modified should proceed to referendum.  

47



2 
 

2.6 Table 1 below outlines the alterations to the Plan under paragraph 12(6) of Schedule 4B 
to the 1990 Act (as applied by Section 38A of 2004 Act) in response to each of the 
Examiner’s recommendations.  This statement should be read alongside the Examiner’s 
Report.   

 
2.7 In addition to the modifications recommended by the Examiner, Wokingham Borough 

Council is also authorised to correct minor errors that may have been missed so far [Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 Schedule 4B section 12(6)]. Minor typographical 
corrections are set out in Table 2.  

 
3. Decision and Reasons  
 
3.1 Wokingham Borough Council has made the modifications, proposed in the Examination 

Report, to secure that the Plan meets the basic conditions, for the reasons given. These 
are set out in Table 1 below. Bold, and underline has been used to show added text 
and strikethrough to show removed text.  Please be aware that paragraphs refer to the 
submitted draft Plan and do not relate to any subsequent version of the plan.   

48



3 
 

Table 1 – Examiner’s recommended modifications to the plan 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

1 Policy TW2: 
Sustainability, 
Accessibility and 
Mobility  

Replace the wording in the third part (C) of the policy with the following:  
 
‘Proposals for major development should demonstrate through an agreed travel 
plan, that an appropriate range of measures will be implemented to promote and 
improve active travel for all users, including people with visual impairments. 
Where appropriate, the travel plan should include making appropriate 
contributions to the borough wide My Journey initiative or any successor scheme.’ 
 

To improve clarity of the 
policy.    

Accepted  

2 Policy TW3: 
Twyford Railway 
Station  

Delete the first part (A) of the policy.  
 
Replace the wording in the third part (C) of the policy with the following:  
 
Replace part C of the policy with: ‘As appropriate to their scale, nature and 
location development proposals that would directly generate an increase in 
journeys to and from the Twyford Railway Station will be required to make 
appropriate contributions to the cost of measures to improve the accessibility and 
quality of the environment at the Station.’ 
 
At the end of paragraph 5.16 add:  
 
‘Development proposals for improvements to Twyford Railway Station should be 
developed in conjunction with the Borough Council, Great Western Rail, Twyford 
Parish Council, Network Rail and other interested parties as appropriate, to 
ensure that enhancements proceed in a co-ordinated fashion.’ 
 
 

To ensure policy does 
not cover non-land use 
issues.   
 
 
To refine the approach 
taken towards developer 
contributions so that 
they are proportionate 
and meet the relevant 
tests.   

Accepted  

3 Policy TW5: 
Village Centre 
Regeneration 
Area   

Replace paragraph 5.33 with the following:  
 
‘The Parish Council is actively pursuing options to realise the aim of the Twyford 
Village Centre Regeneration Area and has recently been successful in securing 
grant funding from the High Street Regeneration and Social Infrastructure 

To reflect current 
progress on the Twyford 
Village Centre 
Regeneration Scheme.   

Accepted  

49



4 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

Support Fund through the Neighbourhood Planning Programme, funded by the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities to commission high level 
option testing that will enable a preferred option to deliver the aim of the Twyford 
Village Centre Regeneration Scheme. A report was received in January 2023. 
WBC is supportive of the approach and engagement with WBC on this matter is 
ongoing. In the meantime, the Plan sets out a vision for the area and shows its 
extent on the Policies Maps. The policy requires that schemes do not harm the 
delivery of regeneration opportunities that deliver public realm improvements and 
traffic mitigation measures in the Twyford Village Centre Regeneration Scheme 
Area. The policy also seeks additional developer contributions for the Twyford 
Village Centre Regeneration Scheme where appropriate. If the Twyford Village 
Regeneration Scheme has not yet been costed and approved by the relevant 
stakeholders, contributions to deliver public realm improvements and traffic 
mitigation measures in the Twyford Village Centre Regeneration Area will continue 
to be sought where appropriate.’ 
 

4 Policy TW6: 
Improving Air 
Quality 

Amend the first part (A) of the policy as follows:  
 
In addition to existing planning policy provisions on the requirement to submit air 
quality assessments, development within or adjacent to the Twyford Crossroads 
Air Quality Management Area, as shown on the Policies Map, or development 
where its occupiers are particularly sensitive to air pollution (such as schools, 
health care establishments or housing for older people), should demonstrate how 
they contribute towards the aims and objectives set out in the latest version of 
Wokingham Borough Council’s air quality action plan. 
 
Replace the wording in the last part (B) of the policy with the following:  
 
‘Where applicable, development proposals should aim to be at least ‘Air Quality 
Neutral’ and not cause or contribute to worsening air quality, including in the 
Twyford Crossroads Air Quality Management Area.  Development proposals that 
would result in a significant increase in air pollution within or adjacent to the 
Twyford Crossroads Air Quality Management Area will only be supported in 

To improve clarity and 
precision of the policy as 
required by the NPPF 
and to assist in its 
implementation in 
decision-making. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Accepted  50



5 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

exceptional circumstances.  This should be demonstrated through an air quality 
assessment, and if necessary, proposed mitigation measures.’ 
 
Amend paragraph 5.36 as follows:  
 
The policy therefore identifies the presence of the AQMA and requires 
development within, or adjacent to the AQMA, or development where its 
occupiers are particularly sensitive to air pollution (such as schools, health care 
establishments or housing for older people) to contribute to the actions and 
objectives set out in the latest Air Quality Action Plan. 
 
Amend paragraph 5.38 as follows:  
 
The policy requires Air Quality Assessments where they are required (within, or 
adjacent to the AQMA, or development where its occupiers are particularly 
sensitive to air pollution) to demonstrate at least Air Quality Neutral standard 
during both construction and operation (remainder of paragraph is unchanged) 
Amend paragraph 5.39 as follows:  
 
Air Quality Neutral (AQN) standard means development which avoid any increase 
in nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter emissions across the parish. All on-site 
measures will need to be explored before suitable mitigation measures are 
considered as an alternative. Following the publication of the Government’s 
Housing Standards Review in March 2015, unfortunately, AQN standards cannot 
be required for developments that are residential only, but in these cases, the 
policy strongly encourages developers to ensure that emissions meet the AQN 
standard. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Not within the remit of 
the plan to make 
subjective comments on 
national policy.  

5 Policy TW7: 
Nature Recovery 
and Climate 
Change  

Amend the third part (C) of the policy as follows:  
 
Proposals that will lead to the loss of land lying within the Network and that will 
undermine its integrity will be resisted not be supported. Development proposals 
that will lead to the extension of the Network will be supported, provided they are 
consistent with all other relevant policies of the development plan. 

To improve clarity and 
precision of the policy. 

Accepted  

51



6 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

6 Policy TW8: Tree 
Canopy Cover  

Replace the wording in the policy with the following:  
 
‘Development proposals on sites of 0.5 ha or more outside the Village Centre as 
defined in Policy TW4 and on the Policies Map, should achieve a future canopy 
cover of 25% of the site area principally through the retention of existing trees 
and the planting of new trees. Where such an approach would be impracticable 
for viability, layout or design reasons, the use of other green infrastructure (such 
as green roofs and walls) should be used where they can offer similar benefits to 
trees. 
 
Development proposals in the Village Centre as defined in Policy TW4 and on the 
Policies Map, and on sites of less than 0.5 ha, should maximise the opportunities 
available for canopy cover, including tree retention and planting or the provision 
of other green infrastructure (such as green roofs and walls).’ 
 
At the end of paragraph 5.52 add:  
 
‘The policy has been designed to be applied in a flexible way. In specific terms it 
acknowledges that issues such as commercial viability, site layouts and design 
may make the expectations of the policy impracticable on a site-by-site basis. This 
will be a matter for WBC to consider based in the evidence provided with each 
development proposal. In addition, matters such as site layout and commercial 
viability may also be affected where development proposals would also need to 
provide open space and landscaping to meet other policies.’ 
 

To acknowledge that the 
policy approach will not 
always be practicable 
and to ensure that 
planning decisions take 
account viability, layout 
and design matters.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To acknowledge the 
consideration of the 
other requirements for 
landscaping and open 
space on development 
sites.  

Accepted  

7 Policy TW9: 
Carbon 
Sequestration  

Delete the policy.  In the absence of any 
local information and 
evidence, and because it 
would be a strategic 
matter to be pursued 
through the emerging 
Local Plan Update and 
Carbon Offset Fund.  

Accepted  

52



7 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

8 Policy TW10: 
Zero Carbon 
Buildings  

Replace the policy with the following:  
 
‘Development proposals which would be ‘zero carbon ready’ by design by 
minimising the amount of energy needed to heat and cool buildings through 
landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping will be supported. 
Consideration should be given to resource efficiency at the outset and whether 
existing buildings can be re-used as part of the scheme to capture their embodied 
carbon. 
 
Proposals for a Passivhaus or equivalent standard buildings, with a space heating 
demand of less than 15KWh/m2/year will be supported. Schemes that maximise 
their potential to meet this standard by proposing the use of terraced and/or 
apartment building forms of plot size, plot coverage and layout that are different 
to those of the character area within which the proposal is located will be 
supported, provided it can be demonstrated that the scheme will not have an 
unacceptable effect on the character area. 
 
Proposals for major development should be accompanied by a Whole-Life-Cycle 
Carbon Emission Assessment, using a recognised methodology, to demonstrate 
actions have been taken to reduce embodied carbon resulting from the 
construction and use of the building over its life.’ 
 
Delete Appendix A and Appendix B.  
 
Replace paragraphs 5.63 to 5.71 with the following:  
 
‘Policy TW10 of this Plan will result in a situation where the neighbourhood plan 
would offer a supportive context for development proposals in the parish to 
achieve more sustainable solutions than those required by national policy. Plainly 
the wider situation may be affected by changes to national or local planning 
policies on these matters in the Plan period. 
 

The policy requires 
Passivhaus technology 
which is not supported 
by guidance on how its 
feasibility would be 
assessed in decision-
making and overall 
approach is contrary to 
the Written Ministerial 
Statement.  No evidence 
or assurance has been 
provided regarding the 
effect of the policy on 
development viability.  

Accepted  

53



8 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

The policy offers support for the development of zero carbon ready buildings. It 
also offers support for buildings which are designed to Passivhaus or equivalent 
standards.  
 
The third part of policy comments that proposals for major development should 
be accompanied by a Whole-Life-Cycle Carbon Emission Assessment, using a 
recognised methodology, to demonstrate actions have been taken to reduce 
embodied carbon resulting from the construction and use of the building over its 
life. This will ensure that development proposals are implemented as intended.’ 
 

9 Policy TW12: 
New Homes – 
Tenure and Mix  

Replace the wording in part A of the policy with the following:  
 
‘In general terms development proposals for new housing should provide 
affordable housing on the following basis: 

• 25% First Homes; 
• 12% shared ownership; 
• 8% rent to buy; and  
• 55% affordable housing for rent.  

 
The precise tenure mix of affordable housing will be determined on a site-by-site 
basis.’ 
 
Delete part C of the policy.  
 
Replace paragraph 5.80 with the following:  
 
‘The Plan encourages developers to consider delivering some of the affordable 
housing element through a Community Led Housing model. The Parish Council is 
keen to see a proportion of new homes come forward through community-led 
schemes involving housing, small business units and other appropriate community 
uses, which may involve a community led housing model such as a Community 
Land trust, or equivalent body. There is strong local community support for such an 
approach and the Parish Council is actively investigating this delivery model.’ 

To improve clarity and 
precision of the policy.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To ensure policy does 
not cover non-land use 
issues.   
 
 

Accepted  

54



9 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

10 Policy TW13: 
First Homes  

Delete the policy.  
 
Delete paragraphs 5.81 and 5.82.  
 

No mechanism or 
guidance provided as to 
how discounts would be 
applied on viability 
grounds.  Reliance on 
dated viability evidence 
produced in advance of 
the First Homes agenda.     
 

Accepted 

11 Policy TW15: 
Design Codes 

Replace the wording in the first part (A) of the policy as follows:  
 
‘Development proposals should demonstrate the way in which they have 
responded positively to:’ 
 
Amend criteria (i) of the policy as follows:  
 
the essential design considerations relevant to the character area typologies 
within which they are located (as shown on the Policies Maps, and 
 
Amend criteria (ii) of the policy as follows:  
 
the General general design principles set out in the Twyford Design Guidelines 
and Codes Report.  
 
Amend the last part (B) of the policy as follows:  
 
Development proposals shall should demonstrate how they will sustain and 
enhance the historic environment and have full regard to the special architectural 
and historic significance of the features identified in the Twyford Design 
Guidelines and Code Report as positive characteristics of the designated Twyford 
Conservation Areas and their immediate settings. 
 
 

To ensure development 
proposals respond 
positively to the 
information set out in 
the Design Guidelines 
and Codes.  
 
 
 
To improve clarity and 
precision of the policy.  

Accepted  

55



10 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

12 Policy TW16: 
Buildings of 
Traditional Local 
Character  

Amend the policy as follows:  
 
Development proposals affecting non-designated heritage assets, which include 
Buildings of Traditional Local Character, may be supported where they can should 
demonstrate how they will sustain or enhance their significance or how the public 
benefits outweigh any identified harm to their significance. 
 

To improve clarity and 
precision of the policy 
and identify how 
development proposals 
would be assessed.  

Accepted  

13 Policy TW17: 
Twyford 
Community Hub  

Amend the first part (A) of the policy as follows:  
 
The development of the Old Polehampton Boys School, as shown on the Policies 
Map, to deliver a new Twyford Community Hub in accordance with planning 
permission 201022 will be supported.  
 
Replace the wording in the last part (B) of the policy with the following:  
 
‘Development proposals within the neighbourhood area which would increase the 
demand for community facilities will be required to make financial contributions 
towards the delivery of the new Twyford Community Hub.’ 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposal has 
planning permission.   
 
 
 
To provide clarity as to 
the types of proposals 
that will be expected to 
provide contributions to 
the development of the 
Twyford Community Hub.  
 

Accepted  

14 Policy TW18: 
Community 
Facilities  

Replace the wording in the second part (B) of the policy with the following:  
 
‘In addition to the provisions of relevant Local Plan policies which safeguard 
community facilities from unnecessary loss, proposals to change the established 
use of a facility and ancillary land must demonstrate that the use is no longer 
viable (through the production of evidence that genuine and sustained efforts to 
promote, improve and market the facility at a reasonable value have been 
undertaken) or that the use can be satisfactorily re-located for the benefit of the 
local community.’ 
 

For consistency with the 
wording used in 
paragraph 3.85 of the 
MDD local plan.   

Accepted  

56



11 
 

No. Policy / Plan 
section  

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications Reason Decision  

15 Policy TW19: 
Early Years 
Provision  

Amend the policy as follows:  
 
Proposals to retain and improve early years provision facilities listed below, and 
shown on the Policies Map, will be supported, provided where they accord with 
other relevant policies of the development plan: (remainder of paragraph is 
unchanged) 

To improve clarity and 
precision of the policy. 

Accepted  

16 Section 6: 
Implementation  

At the end of Section 6 add:  
 
‘Monitoring and Review 
 
The Parish Council will monitor the effectiveness of the policies in the Plan 
through the development management process. Where necessary it will engage 
with the Borough Council to understand decisions made on planning applications 
or planning appeals. 
 
The success or otherwise of the policies will feed into the assessment of the need 
for a review of the Plan (paragraph 6.5). 
 
The Parish Council will also assess the need or otherwise for a full or a partial 
review of a made Plan throughout the Plan period. Such assessments will be 
made: 

• within two years of the making of the Plan; 
• within six months of the adoption of the emerging Local Plan;  
• if changes to national policy are so significant that they make the policies 

in the Plan ineffective or out of date; and 
• at the end of the Plan period.’ 

 

To highlight the status of 
the emerging Local Plan 
Update and the 
circumstances where a 
full or partial review of 
the made 
neighbourhood plan may 
be required. 

Accepted  

 
3.2 Wokingham Borough Council has made the minor modifications authorised to correct minor errors that have been missed so far. These are set 

out in Table 2 below. Bold, and underline has been used to show added text and strikethrough to show removed text. 
 
 
 

57



12 
 

Table 2 – Minor Modifications  
 

Change proposed  
 

Paragraph / 
section 

Reason for change 

Plan E: Joint Central and Eastern Berkshire Joint Minerals & Waste Plan Submission Adopted Policies 
Map February 2021 January 2023 – Plan E may be subject to changes following the outcome of the 
Joint Minerals & Waste Plan examination 
 
Replace image in Plan E to reflect the Policies Map following the adoption of the Joint Central and 
Eastern Berkshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan in January 2023.  
 

Plan E Factual update to 
reflect adoption of 
the Joint Minerals 
and Waste Local 
Plan.  

THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER AND REGENERATION BILL 
 
In February 2022 the Government published for consultation its White Paper, ‘Levelling Up the United 
Kingdom’1, which proposes to make changes to planning system. It indicates that there is still a future 
for neighbourhood planning in that system. It remains unknown when any proposed changes will be 
implemented. The Government has recently consulted on proposed changes to the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill (LURB) is currently passing through 
Parliament. It expects to publish a new NPPF and enact the LURB in spring 2023, but there are further 
changes to the NPPF proposed by the end of the year in relation to the LURB. The proposed 
amendments continue to indicate that there remains a future for neighbourhood planning. 
 

Paragraph 1.5 Factual update to 
reflect latest 
consultation 
proposals on 
changes to the 
National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

WBC has prepared an informal issued a formal screening opinion which states that the proposals of the 
Neighbourhood Plan do not have the potential for significant environmental effects and therefore no 
strategic environmental assessment (SEA) is necessary. This has been confirmed following consultation 
with the statutory consultees, in accordance with the Environmental Assessment of Plans & Programmes 
Regulations 2004 (as amended). WBC will issue a formal screening opinion following the Regulation 16 
consultation. 
 
The informal statement also confirmed that the designated Neighbourhood Area does not include, or is 
in close proximity to, the National Site Network (formerly Natura 2000 sites) and so no habitats 
regulations assessment (HRA) would be required as per the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Paragraphs 1.7 
and 1.8 

Factual update.  

 
 

58



13 
 

Change proposed  
 

Paragraph / 
section 

Reason for change 

Regulations 2017 (as amended). WBC will issue a formal opinion following the Regulation 16 
consultation. 
In Twyford, the RGS proposes to pursue a higher density than that sought in the previous iteration of the 
Draft Plan at the retained proposed allocation of Land at Bridge Farm, from 150 new homes to 180 new 
homes (see Plan C) and sets out specific development guidelines for the site. There is also currently an 
outline planning application for up to 200 homes (212720) which is still under consideration and WBC 
has made a resolution to grant planning permission. The RGS also proposes to designate eight Local 
Green Spaces in Twyford, including: 

Paragraph 3.7 Factual update to 
reflect progress of 
the planning 
application.  

There are other development plans that apply in Twyford, such as the Replacement Minerals Local Plan 
(Incorporating the Alterations Adopted in December 1997 and May 2001) and the Waste Local Plan for 
Berkshire (adopted December 1998). These documents are proposed to be replaced by the Joint Central 
and Eastern Berkshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan which is currently at examination adopted in 
January 2023. 
 
The Submission Version of February 2021, and main modifications, Plan safeguards the Sheeplands 
Sewerage Treatment Works adjacent to the northern boundary of Twyford in the parish of Wargrave to 
be maintained by the Authorities. Parts of Ruscombe Business Park in the adjacent parish of Ruscombe 
has also been identified as part of the Preferred Waste Areas within the plan. Almost the entire parish is 
identified as a safeguarded resource for sand and gravel and land outside of the built-up area falls 
within the Area of Search for Sand and Gravel (see Plan E). As minerals and waste matters are defined 
as ‘excluded development’ for Neighbourhood Plans, the Parish Council will continue to engage in the 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan preparation process. 
 

Paragraphs 
3.10 and 3.11 

Factual update to 
reflect adoption of 
the Joint Minerals 
and Waste Local 
Plan. 

The main attributes that define the special character of an area are its physical appearance and history, 
i.e. the form and features of buildings and the spaces between them, their former uses and historical 
development. Where there are a number of periods of historical development, the character of individual 
parts of the conservation area may differ. Contrasts between the appearance of areas and the 
combination of buildings of various ages, materials and styles may contribute to its special character. 
The characteristics of the Twyford Conservation Area and Twyford Station Conservation Area, as well as 
other heritage assets, are set out in the Twyford Design Guidelines and Codes attached at Appendix CA. 
 

Paragraph 3.15 Consequential 
modification 
following the 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommended 
modification to delete 
Appendices A and B 
from the Plan.   

59



14 
 

Change proposed  
 

Paragraph / 
section 

Reason for change 

The Neighbourhood Plan recognises that the only major development proposals that is likely to come 
forward in the Parish during the plan period is the proposed allocation of Land at Bridge Farm, as the 
parish boundary is tightly drawn, and the remaining land is heavily constrained. It is therefore likely that 
the effect of Clauses B and C of the policy is going to be limited unless WBC incorporates similar 
measures in the emerging Local Plan. The Parish Council will continue to engage in the emerging Local 
Plan process and willingly offers the policy to WBC to help frame a Borough-wide policy in the emerging 
Local Plan. 

Paragraph 5.14 Consequential 
modification 
following the 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommended 
modification to 
criteria C of Policy 
TW2.  

In the meantime, proposals made in the Village Centre will require Prior Approval from WBC. As the 
essential core of the Primary Shopping Area lies entirely within the Twyford Village Conservation Area, 
such approval will require the consideration of any harmful effects to the character of the Conservation 
Area from the loss of such a ground floor use. Although the Neighbourhood Plan policy (as part of the 
development plan) will not be engaged in a Prior Approval determination, together with Policy TW153 it 
has identified the High Street commercial uses as playing an important part of its distinct function and 
character and could therefore be a legitimate reason for refusing approval for proposals that will harm 
the centre. 
 

Paragraph 5.23 Consequential 
modification to 
numbering of policies 
following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommendation to 
delete two policies 
from the Plan.  
 

Whilst there is land in the Parish which already have Countryside Stewardship Agreements, additional 
planting opportunities have been identified using the ‘Working with natural processes to reduce flood 
risk’ evidence base by the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Research and Development 
Programme and Environment Agency in February 2021. Specifically, opportunities for additional riparian 
woodland planting along our water corridors. This type of planting can slow flood flows, help reduce 
sediment delivery to the watercourse, and provide shading. Much of the remainder of our open 
countryside lies within a flood zone and is suited to additional floodplain woodland planting. This type of 
planting provides benefits across most ecosystem services, the greatest being habitat and climate 
regulation. Floodplain woodland opportunities as shown on Map H may also have potential to be 
restored to a fen habitat of high biodiversity and carbon storage potential. These opportunities are all 
shown on the Policies Map and the Parish Council will seek to work with landowners to realise such 
opportunities where possible avoiding the loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land. 
Floodplain woodland planting will only be acceptable where modelling shows that it will not conflict with 
Policy TW110 on flooding. 

Paragraph 5.49 Consequential 
modification to 
numbering of policies 
following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommendation to 
delete two policies 
from the Plan.  
 

60



15 
 

Change proposed  
 

Paragraph / 
section 

Reason for change 

The policy context for encouraging higher energy efficiency standards at the Local Plan or 
Neighbourhood Plan scale is complex. Background information has therefore been set out in Appendix A. 
The policy may also appear rather technical, but it is a temporary measure as in due course, it is 
expected that the new Local Plan, if not national policy itself, will make such provisions across the 
Borough. 

Paragraph 5.62 Consequential 
modification 
following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommended 
modifications to 
Policy TW10, 
including deletion of 
Appendix A.  
 

Planning Practice Guidance now requires at least 25% of all affordable housing units to be First Homes. 
A First Home is defined as discounted market housing that must be discounted by a minimum of 30% 
against the market value in perpetuity and its first sale must be at a price no higher than £250,000. 
Policy TW13 amends the minimum discount for Twyford to 50% as provided for by Planning Practice 
Guidance and evidenced in the HNA. 

Paragraph 5.84 Consequential 
modification 
following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommended 
modification to delete 
Policy TW13 from the 
Plan.  
 

In essence the policy reflects the spirit and intention of DLP Policy H6 for Rural Exception Sites which 
allows for small-scale schemes to meet local rural needs in the parish and will continue to operate in the 
parish in addition to First Homes Exception Sites guided by Policy TW142. The policy is also broadline 
broadly in line with Entry Level Housing Schemes set out in the NPPF which it is anticipated the First 
Homes product will effectively replace. Whilst the HNA demonstrates a greater need for affordable 
homes for ownership, the acute shortage of affordable housing means that a focus on affordable homes 
for rent should be reinforced to ensure provision is provided for those most in need. Proposals may 
therefore be supported which deliver other types of affordable housing for rent which meet local need as 
provided for by Planning Practice Guidance. 

Paragraph 5.85 Typographical 
correction and a 
consequential 
modification to 
numbering of policies 
following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommendation to 
delete two policies 
from the Plan.  
 

61



16 
 

Change proposed  
 

Paragraph / 
section 

Reason for change 

There are distinctive features of Twyford that shapes its character. These features are set out in the 
Twyford Design Guidelines and Codes attached as Appendix CA. The content of the Code forms part of 
the policy but has been attached as an Appendix purely for practical presentational reasons. The Code 
encapsulates the key design principles within the Conservation Areas, their settings and beyond. The 
policy places additional local emphasis to the design quality principles of the Wokingham Borough 
Design Guide complementing CS Policy CP3 by highlighting the particular characteristics of the Parish. 

Paragraph 5.86 Consequential 
modification to the 
labelling of 
appendices following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommendation to 
delete Appendix A 
and B from the Plan.  
 

The Neighbourhood Plan had envisaged that the Twyford Design Guidelines and Codes Report attached 
as Appendix CA would identify buildings having some local architectural and/or historic interest to the 
extent that they can be defined as ‘non-designated heritage assets’. The NPPF (§203) gives weight to 
such ‘assets’ in decision making in accordance with the nature of their interest, as does MDLP Policy 
TB26. This is in addition to, but separate from, those properties which are Grade I, II, or II* listed which 
are designated by Historic England. As this exercise has not been undertaken as part of the 
neighbourhood plan, the Parish Council will seek to pursue this matter using the process set out by WBC 
(Link). 

Paragraph 5.88 Consequential 
modification to the 
labelling of 
appendices following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommendation to 
delete Appendix A 
and B from the Plan.  
 

The Neighbourhood Plan identifies the properties listed in Appendix DB as community facilities. Criteria A of 
Policy TW18: 
Community 
Facilities  

Consequential 
modification to the 
labelling of 
appendices following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommendation to 
delete Appendix A 
and B from the Plan.  
 

APPENDIX CA – TWYFORD DESIGN GUIDELINES AND CODES Appendix C – 
Twyford Design 

Consequential 
modification to the 
labelling of 

62



17 
 

Change proposed  
 

Paragraph / 
section 

Reason for change 

Guidelines and 
Codes  

appendices following 
Independent 
Examiner’s 
recommendation to 
delete Appendix A 
and B from the Plan.  
 

63



18 
 

3.2 Wokingham Borough Council has considered whether to extend the area in which the 
referendum is to take place. Like the Examination Report, Wokingham Brough Council has 
decided that there is no reason to extend the area for the purpose of holding the 
referendum and that the referendum area should be the Neighbourhood Area.  
 

3.3 The Examination Report concluded that, with the modifications made, the Plan meets the 
basic conditions and other relevant legal requirements. Wokingham Borough Council 
agreed with this view and concludes that the Plan, as modified, meets the basic conditions.  

 
3.4 To meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 a referendum which poses the 

question ‘Do you want Wokingham Borough Council to use the neighbourhood plan for 
Twyford parish to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?’ will be 
held in the parish of Twyford.  

 
3.5 The date on which the referendum will take place is agreed as Xth June/July 2023. 
 

64



1 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form: Initial impact assessment  

If an officer is undertaking a project, policy change or service change, then an initial impact assessment must be completed and attached alongside the Project 
initiation document.  

EqIA Titular information: 

Date: 15 March 2023 
Service: Place and Growth (Delivery & Infrastructure) 
Project, policy or service EQIA relates to:  Twyford Neighbourhood Plan 
Completed by: Ben Davis (Growth and Delivery Team, Planning Policy Officer) 
Has the EQIA been discussed at services team meeting: Yes 
Signed off by:  

Trevor Saunders 
Assistant Director Planning 

Sign off date: 5 April 2023 
 

1. Policy, Project or service information:  

This section should be used to identify the main purpose of the project, policy or service change, the method of delivery, including who key stakeholders are, 
main beneficiaries and any associated aims.  

What is the purpose of the project, policy change or service change, its expected outcomes and how does it relate to your services corporate 
plan: 

Twyford Parish Council has produced a draft Neighbourhood Plan to help shape how development is managed in their area.  The Plan contains 
policies on housing, the natural, built and historic environment, community facilities and transport.  The Plan does not include any site allocations.   

This report considers the findings of the examination of the submission Twyford Neighbourhood Plan, the modifications recommended by the 
Independent Examiner, whether these should be accepted, and if so, seeks support for the modified plan to proceed to a public vote through a 
referendum.  Once adopted, the neighbourhood plan will become part of the development plan for the Twyford area.   Holding a referendum is 
required by the Regulations governing the neighbourhood plan process. The referendum will be undertaken in line with Regulations governing that 
process.  

65



2 

Should more than half of those voting do so in favour of the Plan at the referendum, Wokingham Borough Council must ‘make’ (adopt) the Plan 
through a resolution of Full Council.  Once made, the Plan will form part of the statutory development plan (alongside Local Plans) and be used in 
the determination of planning applications and appeals in or affecting Twyford Parish. 

 

Outline how you are delivering your project, policy change or service change. What governance arrangements are in place, which internal 
stakeholders (Service managers, Assistant Directors, Members ect) have/will be consulted and informed about the project or changes: 
 
The consultation framework for the preparation of the Plan has been undertaken in accordance with the council’s adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement.  This involved sending emails/letters to a number of individuals, organisations, councillors and internal officers. Advertising and further 
information will be placed on the council’s website and publicised through social media.   
 
Stakeholders including the Assistant Director of Planning and Director of Place and Growth have been engaged through the Corporate Leadership Team.  
Specialists from Growth and Delivery have also engaged with members of the Twyford Neighbourhood Planning Steering Group and Twyford Parish 
Council and provided policy advice and technical support throughout the Plan’s preparation.  
 
Outline who are the main beneficiaries of the Project, policy change or service change? 

The Plan has been produced by Twyford Parish Council (the qualifying body) with the advice and support of officers in the council’s Growth and Delivery 
team, communities and stakeholders.  The purpose of neighbourhood planning is to enable local communities to help shape how development is 
managed in their area. The main beneficiaries are residents and local businesses within Twyford Parish. 

The Independent Examiner was also satisfied that consultation and publicity undertaken on the Plan had met the regulatory requirements.    

The Plan, once made, will be used by Wokingham Borough Council to help determine the suitability of planning applications within the area, and to 
help defend any appeals against the refusal of planning permission.    

 
 
 
 

66



3 

Outline any associated aims attached to the project, policy change or service change: 
The purpose of a neighbourhood plan is to enable communities to help shape how development is managed in their area.  
 

 
2. Protected characteristics: 

There are 9 protected characteristics as defined by the legislation: 

• Race 
• Gender 
• Disability 
• Gender re-assignment  
• Age 
• Religious belief 
• Sexual orientation  
• Pregnancy/Maternity 
• Marriage and civil partnership: 

To find out more about the protected groups, please consult the EQIA guidance.  

3. Initial Impact review: 

In the table below, please indicate whether your project, Policy change or service change will have a positive or negative impact on one of the protected 
characteristics. To assess the level of impact, please assign each group a Positive, No, Low or High impact score: 

For information on how to define No, low or high impact, please consult the EQIA guidance document.  

If your project is to have a positive impact on one of the protected groups, please outline this in the table below. 

For details on what constitutes a positive impact, please consult the EQIA guidance.  

67



4 

Protected 
characteristics 

Impact 
score 

Please detail what impact will be felt by the protected group: 

Race: None  Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  
 

Gender: None Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  
 

Disabilities: None Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  
 

Age: None Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  
 

Sexual orientation: None Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  
 

Religion/belief: None  Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  
 

Gender re-
assignment: 

None Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  
 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity: 

None  Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  

68



5 

Protected 
characteristics 

Impact 
score 

Please detail what impact will be felt by the protected group: 

Marriage and civil 
partnership: 

None Based on the scope of this project, no negative or positive outcomes have been identified.  All stakeholders were consulted 
in the preparation of the plan.  Arrangements for the referendum will ensure fair access for the stakeholders who are being 
engaged.  
 

 

Based on your findings from your initial impact assessment, you must complete a full impact assessment for any groups you have identified as having a low 
of high negative impact. If No impact, or a positive impact has been identified, you do not need to complete a full assessment. However, you must report on 
this initial assessment and it must receive formal approval from the Assistant Director responsible for the project, policy or service change.  

Initial impact assessment approved by….  Trevor Saunders 

Assistant Director, Planning 

Date:….05/04/2023 

69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

TITLE Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan - Submission 
Consultation and Future Examination 

  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY The Executive on Thursday, 20 April 2023 
  
WARD Remenham, Wargrave and Ruscombe; 
  
LEAD OFFICER Director, Place and Growth - Simon Dale 
  
LEAD MEMBER Executive Member for Planning and Local Plan - 

Lindsay Ferris 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES) 
This report seeks approval to consult on the updated draft Ruscombe Neighbourhood 
Plan submitted by Ruscombe Parish Council in March 2023, and to procure an 
independent examiner who will subsequently examine the updated draft Plan. The 
examination will consider all representations submitted during the proposed 
consultation. Consultation and examination are requirements of the regulations 
governing neighbourhood plan preparation. 
 
The Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan, prepared by Ruscombe Parish Council, if adopted 
in due course, will become part of the development plan and be used alongside the 
Wokingham Borough Council’s local plans to guide decisions on planning applications. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That the Executive……. 
 
1) approves a 6-week consultation on the draft Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan 

(Enclosure 1: Ruscombe Draft Neighbourhood Plan); and supporting information. 
 
2) agrees to appoint an examiner to independently examine the draft Ruscombe 

Neighbourhood Plan, delegating the appointment and submission of the 
examination documentation to the Director of Place and Growth in consultation 
with the Lead Member for Planning and Local Plan. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Ruscombe Parish Council (“the Parish Council”) has submitted an updated draft 
Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan (“the Plan”) which if progressed to being adopted will sit 
alongside the Wokingham Borough Council’s (“the Council”) planning policies to help 
shape how development is managed in their area.   
 
(Please note that due to the size of the draft updated Neighbourhood Plan this is not 
included in the printed agenda. A copy can be found on the website or made available 
on request through Democratic Services).  
 
The submission of the updated draft Plan follows a number of consultations that were 
undertaken to support the plans’ preparation which culminated with the submission of a 
draft plan in October 2021. An examination process commenced thereafter. However, 
due to complications relating to the examination, the examination was not completed, 
and the Parish Council chose to withdraw the draft plan in February 2023. 
 

71

Agenda Item 123.



 

 

The Parish Council has taken the opportunity to amend aspects of policy and supporting 
evidence in light of previous representations made on the 2021 draft plan. The updated 
draft Plan was submitted in March 2023. 
 
The updated draft Plan contains policies on issues including housing; the natural and 
historic environment; community facilities; business and commercial development; open 
space and transport. The updated draft Plan does not include any site allocations for 
development but identifies some areas of land as Local Green Space. Local Green 
Space designation is a way for a community to identity and protect green areas that are 
of particular importance to them, but should only be used where the green space meets 
a specific set of criteria in national policy.1  
 
Now that an updated draft Plan has been submitted, the Council must publicise it for a 
minimum six-week consultation in accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended), and invite representations from the public, 
statutory consultees, and interested parties. The consultation is proposed to take place 
from May 2023, with the final dates still to be confirmed. 
 
Concurrent with the consultation, the Council will need to appoint a new examiner to 
undertake examination of the Plan. The examiner’s role will be to test whether the 
updated draft Plan meets the basic conditions and other matters set out in the 
regulations. 
 
At this stage, the Council is not required to come to a formal view on whether the 
updated draft Plan meets the basic conditions2, but is required to be satisfied that the 
proper legal process has been carried out. Officers have engaged with the Parish 
Council through the preparation of the original plan and the updated draft Plan and are 
content that all necessary processes have been followed. Any matters that the Council 
wishes to raise on the updated draft Plan will need to be via a formal representation to 
the submission consultation in due course. This falls outside the scope of this report and 
any representations are to be agreed via the Individual Executive Member Decision 
process. 
 
The costs of undertaking the consultation and examination will be met from the Council’s 
existing revenue budget, following which costs can be reclaimed from government grant. 
 
For clarity, any post examination processes will be subject to a further decision of the 
Council’s Executive and Full Council.  
 
Once adopted, the Plan will form part of the statutory development plan for the borough 
and thereby carry significant weight in the determination of planning applications and 
appeals in Ruscombe Parish. When adopted, the Parish Council will benefit from 
receiving 25% of the revenues from the Community Infrastructure Levy arising from any 
development that takes place in their area. This reflects a 10% increase on the 15% 
available to parish councils where there is no neighbourhood plan in place.   
 

 
1 Paragraph 102 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2 As can be seen at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#basic-conditions-for-neighbourhood-plan-to-referendum 

72

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#basic-conditions-for-neighbourhood-plan-to-referendum


 

 

BACKGROUND  
Neighbourhood Planning 
 
Neighbourhood planning was introduced through the Localism Act 2011 and is a means 
for local communities to take the lead on preparing local planning policy, to sit alongside 
the Council’s planning policies, helping to shape how new development is managed in 
their area. Communities prepare Neighbourhood Development Plans (often referred to 
as Neighbourhood Plans) to set out specific planning policies which help shape and 
guide development in their area.  
 
The broad stages in producing a neighbourhood plan are as follows: 
 

1) Designating a neighbourhood area 
2) Preparing a draft neighbourhood plan 
3) Pre-submission publicity & consultation 
4) Submission of a neighbourhood plan to the local planning authority 
5) Submission draft plan consultation 
6) Independent examination 
7) Referendum 
8) Bringing the neighbourhood plan into force 
 

This report seeks approval to undertake stages 5 and 6 for the draft neighbourhood plan 
produced by the Parish Council and submitted in March 2023 (Enclosure 1). 
 
Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan progress to date 
 
The Parish Council began work on producing a neighbourhood plan (hereafter referred 
to as the draft Plan) in 2018. A number of consultations were undertaken, and a draft 
plan submitted in October 2021. The October 2021 draft plan was published for 
consultation, with the examination process commencing thereafter. 
 
However, due to complications relating to the examination, the examination was not 
completed, and the Parish Council chose to withdraw the October 2021 draft plan in 
February 2023. 
 
The Parish Council has since taken the opportunity to amend aspects of policy and 
supporting evidence in light of the previous representations. The updated draft Plan was 
submitted in March 2023. 
 
Under the regulations governing neighbourhood development plans, the Council is 
required to publicise the updated draft Plan for consultation and arrange for independent 
examination.  
 
The updated draft Plan contains policies on housing; the natural, built and historic 
environment; community facilities; business and commercial development; open space 
and transport. The updated draft Plan does not allocate land for development but 
proposes some areas of land in the neighbourhood area for designation as Local Green 
Space. Local Green Space designation is a way for a community to identity and protect 
green areas that are of particular importance to them but should only be used where the 
green space meets a specific set of criteria in national policy.3 

 
3 Paragraph 102 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

73



 

 

Analysis of Issues 
 
Whilst the early stages in the preparation of a neighbourhood development plan are led 
by the Parish Council, the regulations governing neighbourhood planning requires the 
later stages to be managed by the Council as the local planning authority. 
 
Now an updated draft Plan has been submitted, the Council must publicise it for a 
minimum six-week consultation and invite representations (known as the Regulation 16 
consultation) 4. 
 
Concurrent with the consultation, the Council must appoint a new examiner to undertake 
the subsequent stage of independent examination. The examiner’s role will be to test 
whether the updated draft Plan meets the basic conditions5, and other matters set out in 
the regulations6.  
 
The examination will take place following the consultation and is typically undertaken via 
written representations without the need for a public hearing. Where additional points of 
clarity are required, the examiner may write to the related party requesting written 
answers. Should this occur, full details will be made available on the Council’s website.   
 
The approval of Executive is requested to publish the updated Plan for consultation and 
begin the process of appointing an examiner.  
 
The Council is not required at this time to come to a formal view on whether or not the 
updated draft Plan meets the basic conditions but is required to be satisfied that the 
proper legal process has been carried out. Officers have actively engaged with the 
Parish Council during the preparation of the original and updated Plan. Officers are 
content that all necessary processes have been followed to date.  
 
Consultation 
 
Subject to the approval of Executive, consultation would be undertaken from May, with 
the final dates yet to be confirmed. The updated Plan will be publicised, and documents 
made available in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement7. 
 
Next steps 
 
Whilst the Council is required to manage consultation for the updated Plan, it is also a 
consultee to this process. Officers will review the updated Plan in due course and 
prepare recommended representations on behalf of the council. This falls outside the 
scope of this report and with any representations agreed via the Individual Executive 
Member Decision process. 
 
For clarity, any post examination processes will be subject to further reports to Executive 
and Council.  
 
 

 
4 Of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
5 As can be seen at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#basic-conditions-for-neighbourhood-plan-to-referendum  
6 paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
7 Which can be viewed on the Council’s website: http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning-policy/planning-policy-information/local-plan-
and-planning-policies/  

74

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/regulation/16/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#basic-conditions-for-neighbourhood-plan-to-referendum
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/10/enacted
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning-policy/planning-policy-information/local-plan-and-planning-policies/
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning-policy/planning-policy-information/local-plan-and-planning-policies/


 

 

BUSINESS CASE 
Need for the decision 
 
In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended), the Council must carry out a minimum six-week consultation on a submission 
draft neighbourhood plan to invite comments from the public, statutory consultees, and 
interested parties. It must also arrange for an independent examination to take place. 
The current recommendation facilitates the Council carrying out its legal duties. 
 
Alternative options 
 
There is no alternative option that meet the legal duties. 
 
Risks 
 
No risks are apparent to progressing the consultation on a submission draft 
neighbourhood plan and examination. 
 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces unprecedented financial pressures as a result of; the longer term 
impact of the COVID-19 crisis, Brexit, the war in Ukraine and the general economic 
climate of rising prices and the increasing cost of debt. It is therefore imperative 
that Council resources are optimised and are focused on the vulnerable and on its 
highest priorities. 
 
 How much will it 

Cost/ (Save) 
Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (2023/24) 

£15,000 estimate Yes, due to cost 
recovery through 
grant funding from 
government.  

Revenue  

Next Financial Year 
(2023/24) 

Nil Not applicable.  Not applicable 

Following Financial 
Year (2024/25) 

Nil Not applicable. Not applicable  

 
Other Financial Information 
The council is required to fund the costs of consultation and examination.  In addition, 
the council is also expected to fund the cost of any referendum, a future stage in the 
neighbourhood plan process.  Whilst the council is required to fund this up front, once a 
plan progresses to the referendum stage grant funding of £20,000 will be claimed from 
central Government, which is expected to cover costs in full and possibly provide a 
small surplus.   
 
Once a neighbourhood plan is made (adopted), the parish council will benefit from 
receipt of 25% of the revenues from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) arising 
from the development that takes place in their area. This reflects a 10% increase on the 
15% available to parish councils where there is no neighbourhood plan in place.   
 

75



 

 

The 10% gain for the parish is a 10% loss for the council.  The exact amount is currently 
unknown but is thought to be minimal.  CIL spend is also generally undertaken in 
conjunction with the Parish meaning the financial impact on the authority is forecast to 
be small and possibly non-existent. 

 
Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation 
Consultation to be carried out for minimum 6 weeks.  
 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
An Equalities Impact Screening Report Form is set out in Enclosure 2 to the report. 

 
Climate Emergency – This Council has declared a climate emergency and is 
committed to playing as full a role as possible – leading by example as well as by 
exhortation – in achieving a carbon neutral Wokingham Borough by 2030 
The submission Plan includes policies which provide additional detail to complement 
policies in the Core Strategy (2010) and Managing Delivery Development (MDD) local 
plans.  Specific policies include maximising opportunities for walking and cycling, 
protecting and enhancing existing green infrastructure assets and protecting existing 
open spaces (through Local Green Space designation). 

 
List of Background Papers 
National Planning Policy Framework  
Planning Practice Guidance: Neighbourhood Planning 
 
Enclosure 1: Ruscombe Draft Neighbourhood Plan (Due to the size of this document 
it is not included in the agenda but can be made available on request through 
Democratic Services)  
Enclosure 2: Equalities Impact Screening Report Form 
 
Other papers are also available on request, for example:  
 

• Basic Conditions Statement  
• Consultation Statement 

 
 
Contact  Ben Davis Service Delivery and Infrastructure  
Telephone  Tel: 07824545226 Email ben.davis@wokingham.gov.uk  

 

76

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 

 

  
2019 - 2038 

PUBLISHED BY  

RUSCOMBE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

Submission Plan 

1: Historic Milestone in Ruscombe, Source: Ruscombe Village Design Statement December 2020 

for Pre-Submission consultation under the Neighbourhood 

Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended).  

MARCH 2023 77



 

GUIDE TO READING THIS PLAN 
Of necessity, this Neighbourhood Plan is a detailed technical document. The purpose of this 

page is to explain the structure and help you find your way around the plan. 

 

1. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

This section explains the background to this Neighbourhood Plan and how you can take 

part in and respond to the consultation. 

2. THE NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA 

This section details many of the features of the designated area. 

3. PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 

This rather technical section relates this Plan to the National Planning Policy Framework and 

the planning policies of Wokingham Borough Council.  

4. COMMUNITY VIEWS ON PLANNING ISSUES 

This section explains the community involvement that has taken place. 

5. VISION, OBJECTIVES & LAND USE POLICIES 

This key section firstly provides a statement on the Neighbourhood Plan Vision and 

Objectives. It then details Policies which are proposed to address the issues outlined in the 

Foreword and in Section 4. These Policies are listed in Table 1. There are Policy Maps at the 

back of the plan and additional information in the Appendices to which the policies cross 

reference. 

6. IMPLEMENTATION 

This section explains how the Plan will be implemented and future development guided 

and managed. It suggests projects which might be supported by the Community 

Infrastructure Levy which the Parish Council will have some influence over. Finally, it deals 

with a number of issues which although relevant are outside the scope of a 

Neighbourhood Plan.

78



 

FOREWORD  

LIST OF POLICIES  

1. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 1 

2. THE NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA 5 

3. PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 12 

4. COMMUNITY VIEWS ON PLANNING ISSUES 23 

5. VISION, OBJECTIVES & LAND USE POLICIES 24 

6. IMPLEMENTATION 39 

POLICIES MAPS & INSETS  

APPENDICES  

APPENDIX A – RUSCOMBE HOUSING DESIGN CODE  

APPENDIX B – BUILDINGS OF LOCAL HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE  

APPENDIX C – LOCAL GREEN SPACE REPORT  

APPENDIX D – RUSCOMBE BIODIVERSITY & GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ELEMENTS  
 

TABLE OF PLANS 

Plan A: Designated Neighbourhood Area 

Plan B: Ruscombe Conservation Area 

Plan C: Fluvial Flood Risk in Ruscombe 

Plan D: Historical Map of Ruscombe 

Plan E: Promoted sites in Ruscombe Built-Up Area Boundary 

Plan F: Proposed allocation in Ruscombe, Draft Wokingham Borough Local Plan 2036 and 

retained as such in the emerging Wokingham Local Plan Revised Growth Strategy 2038 

Plan G: Proposed allocation in Ruscombe, Draft Wokingham Borough Local Plan 2036 and 

retained as such in the emerging Wokingham Local Plan Revised Growth Strategy 2038 

Plan H: WBC My Journey Cycles Map Twyford and Woodley 2019 

C
O

N
TE

N
TS

 

79

file://///Users/leanihaim/Library/CloudStorage/Box-Box/S%20Drive/4019/4019_007_Ruscombe/4.0%20Production/Submission%20Plan%202/Ruscombe%20NP_Sub%20Plan_Mar%202023_FINAL.docx%23_Toc128638283


 2 

 

FOREWORD 

The Localism Act 2011 introduced Neighbourhood Planning into legislation. Neighbourhood 

Plans are a result of the Government’s decision to give local communities closer 

involvement in the planning decisions that would affect them. The Ruscombe Parish 

Neighbourhood Plan builds upon the Ruscombe Parish Village Design Statement (which is a 

material planning consideration adopted by Wokingham Borough Council in 2010) and has 

policies encompassing transportation, infrastructure, heritage, protecting the rural 

environment and housing. Once adopted the Ruscombe Parish Neighbourhood Plan will 

become a statutory document and therefore form part of the development plan for the 

borough. Parishes with an adopted Neighbourhood Plan benefit from an additional 10% 

Community Infrastructure Levy funding to spend on local projects, so 25% in total as 

opposed to 15% available to Parish Councils where there is no neighbourhood plan in 

place. 

The aims of the Ruscombe Parish Neighbourhood Plan are: 

1) To protect the Greenbelt areas within the Parish from unsuitable development.   

2) To protect the green and leafy appearance of the neighbourhood area, the distinct 

character of our Parish and minimise the impact of development on the natural and 

built environment.   

3) To preserve and enhance the character of the St. James’ Church Conservation 

Area and its setting.  

4) To ensure high quality design and construction in both residential and non residential 

development.   

5) To ensure adequate parking is provided for all new developments   

6) To retain the sites in our area which currently provide jobs in their present use and 

provide sustainable employment opportunities for those who live within it. 

With support from Ruscombe Parish Council, volunteers from Ruscombe and neighbouring 

parishes formed The Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan Steering and Volunteer Groups in 

2018. From the Volunteers Group, individuals and teams were tasked with exploring the 

following categories: 1) Homes and Community Facilities, 2) Environment, Heritage and 

Recreation, 3) Local Employment and Business Support and 4) Transport and Infrastructure. 

Their remit was to understand what currently exists in each of the categories and what 

future requirements may arise. From this evidence, evidence gathered at our public 

meetings / consultations and through a comprehensive public survey, a list of planning 

policies has evolved. This list forms the basis of this revised Regulation 14 Ruscombe Parish 

Neighbourhood Plan. 

A big thank you to the Steering Group and Working Group members, and above all the 

residents of Ruscombe for completing our surveys, attending our public meetings and for 

giving us feedback throughout our Neighbourhood Plan journey. 

On behalf of your Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group and Team, Justin May, Chair 

80



 

 

 

 

 

POLICY RU1: DEVELOPMENT LIMIT FOR RUSCOMBE 25 

POLICY RU2: RUSCOMBE HOUSING DESIGN CODE 26 

POLICY RU3: RUSCOMBE CONSERVATION AREA 27 

POLICY RU4: COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT IN PLANNING 28 

POLICY RU5: BUILDINGS OF TRADITIONAL LOCAL CHARACTER 29 

POLICY RU6: EMPLOYMENT 30 

POLICY RU7: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 30 

POLICY RU8: LOCAL GREEN SPACES 33 

POLICY RU9: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE & BIODIVERSITY 33 

POLICY RU10: MANAGING TRAFFIC 36 

POLICY RU11: CAR PARKING 38 

 

LIST OF POLICIES 

81



 1 

1. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

1.1. Ruscombe Parish Council is preparing a Neighbourhood Plan for the area 

designated by the local planning authority, Wokingham Borough Council, on 25th January 

2018. The area coincides with the parish boundary (see Plan A on page 4). The plan is 

being prepared in accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations of 

2012 (as amended).  

 

1.2. The purpose of the Neighbourhood Plan is to set out a series of planning policies that 

will be used to determine planning applications in the area in the period to 2038. The Plan 

will form part of the development plan for the Wokingham Borough, alongside the 

adopted Wokingham Borough Core Strategy and Managing Development Delivery (MDD) 

Local Plan 2014, which will eventually be replaced by the Wokingham Borough Draft Local 

Plan 2038 and will cover the same period. 

 

1.3. Neighbourhood Plans provide local communities, like Ruscombe, with the chance to 

manage the quality of development of their areas. Once approved at a referendum, the 

Plan becomes part of the Council’s statutory development plan and will carry significant 

weight in how planning applications are decided in the neighbourhood area. Plans must 

therefore contain only land use planning policies that can be used for this purpose. This 

often means that there are important issues of interest to the local community that cannot 

be addressed in a Plan if they are not directly related to planning. Although there is scope 

for the local community to decide on its planning policies, Neighbourhood Plans must meet 

all of the relevant basic conditions (see Figure 2 overleaf).  

 

1.4. In addition, the Parish Council will need to demonstrate to an independent examiner 

that it has successfully engaged with the local community and stakeholders in preparing 

the Plan. If the examiner is satisfied that it has, and considers the Plan meets the above 

conditions, then the Plan will go to a referendum of the local electorate. If a simple majority 

(over 50%) of the turnout votes in favour of the Plan, then it becomes adopted as formal 

planning policy for the Wokingham Borough. 

 

THE LEVELLING UP & INFRASTRUCTURE BILL  

1.5. During the preparation of the plan the Government published for consultation its 

proposed Levelling Up & Infrastructure Bill with some helpful changes to both the 

development plan and management system. It indicates that there is a positive future for 

neighbourhood planning in that system.  The expectation is that the Bill will be enacted 

during the later part of 2023 and therefore likely after the examination of this 

Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

82



 2 

 

THE PRE-SUBMISSION PLAN 

1.6. A draft (‘Pre-Submission’) Plan was published for consultation in February 2021 in line 

with the Regulations. The Parish Council has reviewed the comments received from the 

local community and other interested parties and has made changes to this final version. 

They have also updated some of the other reports published in the evidence base.   

THE SUBMISSION PLAN OCTOBER 2021 

1.7. The Parish Council submitted a Submission version of the Plan in October 2021 having 

responded to the comments received at the Regulation 14 consultation in February 2021. 

Wokingham Borough Council Wokingham Borough Council undertook a six-week 

consultation between February and March 2022. 

 

1.8. An independent examination of the Neighbourhood Plan, supporting 

documentation and representations received during the consultation commenced in April 

2022, and Wokingham Borough Council and Ruscombe Parish Council has received a fact-

check report from the examiner. The examiner has not issued a final report.  

 

1.9. Concerns were raised by Wokingham Borough Council with regards to the way in 

which the examination had been conducted. As a result, Wokingham Borough Council 

DOES THE PLAN 
HAVE REGARD 
TO NATIONAL 
PLANNING 
POLICY?  

IS THE PLAN IN 
GENERAL 
CONFORMITY WITH 
STRATEGIC 
PLANNING POLICY?  

DOES THE PLAN 
PROMOTE THE 
PRINCIPLES OF 
SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT?  

HAS THE PROCESS OF 
MAKING THE PLAN MET 
THE REQUIREMENTS OF 
EUROPEAN LAW? 

DOES THE PLAN 
IMPACT ON ANY 
LISTED BUILDING OR 
BUILDING OF 
SPECIAL INTEREST? 

DOES THE PLAN 
IMPACT ON A 
CONSERVATION 
AREA? 

HAS THE PLAN MET THE 
PRESCRIBED 
CONDITIONS? 

2 Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions 

83



 3 

commissioned and received legal advice which confirmed that the way in which the 

examination had been conducted to date did not comply with the relevant legal 

requirements.  

 

1.10. The Parish Council has therefore withdrawn the October 2021 submitted version of 

the Plan. This document is the March 2023 version following a joint working approach with 

Wokingham Borough Council. Changes have been limited to responding to the Borough 

Council’s recommendations for minor modifications and additional evidence to the 

policies of the Plan and making other non-consequential updates to the document.  

 

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT & THE HABITATS REGULATIONS 

1.11. Wokingham Borough Council’s screening opinion of 4 June 2020 has confirmed that 

the provisions of the Plan are not likely to have any significant environmental effects and 

the preparation of a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) will therefore not be 

required in accordance with the Environmental Assessment of Plans & Programmes 

Regulations 2004, having consulted the relevant statutory bodies. The Basic Conditions 

Statement which accompanies the Submission Plan sets out how the Plan contributes to 

achieving sustainable development.  

 

1.12. The screening opinion also concluded that the Plan will not need to be subject to a 

Habitat Regulations Assessment in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

 

 

 

84



 

 4 

 

  Plan A: Designated Neighbourhood Area

85



 

 5 

2. THE NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA 

2.1 Ruscombe is located in the administrative area of Wokingham Borough Council. It 

lies east of Twyford in the Thames Valley on the A4 between Reading and Maidenhead. 

The village benefits from its proximity to these major business and retail areas, served by 

good public transport (buses to Wokingham, Reading, High Wycombe and Henley) and 

ease of access to national road and rail networks. Both Heathrow airport (less than 25 

minutes by car) and Paddington station (less than 35 minutes by train at peak commuting 

times) are easily accessible. Twyford Station forms part of the new Crossrail project currently 

under construction, although the station is not considered to require any major work to be 

undertaken to become operational as part of the Elizabeth Line services. It is expected that 

the Crossrail project will improve accessibility and reduce travel times into central London.   

 

2.2 The 2011 Census highlighted the housing stock to be 479 dwellings made up of the 

varying types with the population of Ruscombe recorded as approximately 1,094 

(https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea?compare=E04001233). There has been no 

substantial residential development in subsequent years, with development in the parish 

mostly comprising replacement dwellings and sub-division of existing dwellings, and as a 

result the 2011 Census data is considered to be reasonably reflective of the current 

situation. 

 

2.3 The housing stock in the Ruscombe neighbourhood area is in the main of a high 

quality attracting higher than average house prices, ranging from £450,000 to £1.2m+.  It is 

unlikely to provide affordable housing for people wishing to move into the Parish unless they 

have a similar property to sell elsewhere, but there are opportunities for residents to 

downsize. The demographics of Ruscombe residents showed a mean age of 43.3 and a 

median of 45 reflecting on an older than average population where 61% of the population 

being in the 30 to 75 age range. 

 

2.4 The majority of the built-up area is contained in the west of the parish providing an 

existing settlement boundary with the large area of Green Belt land, which comprises over 

90% of the land that makes up the parish of Ruscombe, in the east. The green belt includes 

large areas of quality agricultural grade 1 and 2 land, which is rarely found elsewhere in the 

Borough of Wokingham and is used for farming. It is this open, rural landscape that sets 

Ruscombe apart and makes the village such an attractive place in which to live. 

Ruscombe Business Park is a small industrial area located at the south east of the settlement 

boundary and consisting mainly of offices and light industry. 

 

2.5 Ruscombe is fortunate to have a Conservation Area which has long been 

established around the 11th Century church of St James the Great. Designated 10 June 

1971 (see Plan B on page 7), the area sits in the Green Belt and extends beyond the church 

land to include the village green, which covers an area much smaller than in earlier times, 

and also contains some attractive cottages. In addition, the area boasts two of the famous 

Ruscombe Ponds; one an old Drovers’ Pond at Castle End, the other the Village Pond at 

the crossroads. The Conservation Area is the original heart of the Parish and one which still 

retains its truly rural, almost bygone character. 

86

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea?compare=E04001233


 6 

 

 

87



 7 

 

Plan B: Ruscombe Conservation Area 

88



 8 

 

2.6 St James the Great Church is Grade I listed. The oldest part of the present church is 

the chancel, which dates from the late 12th century, the nave and tower having been 

rebuilt in 1638. The church was restored in 1859–60, when the old high pews were taken out, 

and again in 1870–80, when the organ chamber was added. There is also a scheduled 

monument in the parish (see paragraph 2.24) and part of the historic (visible on the 1882 OS 

map) estate and parkland of Stanlake Park lie within Ruscombe. Grade II listed properties 

include: 

 

o Church Cottage, Waltham Road - 17th century cottage 

o Twyford & Ruscombe Church Hall - formerly a school. c1870-80. 

o Ferryman’s Cottage, Southbury Lane - 16th century cottage. 

o Granary at Northbury Farm – 18th century 

o Northbury Farm - Late 16th century manor house 

o The Thatch Cottage, Southbury Lane - Late 16th century cottage. 

o The Lakes, Waltham Road - Early 17th century cottage. 

o 5 Waltham Road - 17th century cottage 

o Milestone on London Road, Ruscombe 

o 5 tombs at St James Church 

o Southbury Lane Bridge - A triple-arch overbridge erected in c.1837-9, set in a cutting. 

 

2.7 The majority of the parish lies within Flood Zone 1, an area with a low probability of 

flooding. However, a large part in the south of the parish (see Plan C on page 10), lies 

within Flood Zones 2 and 3, areas with a high probability of flooding. The latest Strategic 

Flood Risk Assessment for the Wokingham Borough was published in February 2020 and 

records some land in the Parish is vulnerable to surface water flooding.  

 

2.8 Ruscombe has a varied landscape of fields with hedges, rough grassland patches, 

ponds, and small woods, all of which help the movement of plants and animals through the 

countryside. Today, the parish still retains many natural features and habitats that date from 

a time when people were reliant on the land for a living. The parish has some small, but 

isolated woodlands located across the neighbourhood area, one of which is a traditional 

coppice site and historically provided materials for local basket making and the nearby 

nurseries. The small woods are distinct landscape features and are important for wildlife. 

The woodland edges are the most important part for wildlife such as birds, butterflies and 

flowers.   

 

2.9 The Wokingham Borough Landscape Character Assessment (2019) identifies that 

Ruscombe’s varied landscape includes multiple National Forest inventory sites, two semi 

natural ancient woodlands, two planted ancient woodland sites, two wildlife sites and part 

of the only area of Grade 1 agricultural land for the Wokingham Borough is in Ruscombe. 

The Gov.uk website defines Grade 1 agricultural land as: 

“Land with no or very minor limitations. A very wide range of agricultural and horticultural 

crops can be grown and commonly includes: 

 

• top fruit, for example tree fruit such as apples and pears 

89



 9 

• soft fruit, such as raspberries and blackberries 

• salad crops 

• winter harvested vegetables 

Yields are high and less variable than on land of lower quality.” 
 

2.10 There is a network of old ponds that were probably originally used by drovers moving 

their flocks and herds through the village and also serving the local osier industry that 

ceased after the Second World War. The amphibians that inhabit the ponds require rough 

grass, logs and scattered trees around the pond edges. Another freshwater environment is 

provided by the Broadwater stream, which may have the potential to support water voles.  

 

2.11 There are very few opportunities for housing and commercial business development 

in Ruscombe given that all non-green belt land has been used for housing and its small 

industrial development area, leaving the only areas for development being on a couple of 

brown field sites (as promoted in the Wokingham Borough Local Plan Update) or through 

redevelopment. Given the Crossrail project in the adjacent parish of Twyford, and open, 

rural landscape of Ruscombe, it is likely that the attractiveness of Ruscombe to 

development investment and residential intensification will continue. The Neighbourhood 

Plan will therefore be especially important in guiding and shaping how future development 

comes forward within the existing built-up area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

90



 10 

 

 

 

91



 

 11 

 

Plan C: Fluvial Flood Risk in Ruscombe

92



 

 12 

A SHORT HISTORY OF RUSCOMBE 

GEOGRAPHY 

2.12 Ruscombe is in the north-west corner of the ancient Windsor Forest, and 33 miles from London 

on the old Bath Road. Ruscombe is low-lying: the highest point, around the Church, is 170 feet 

above sea level; the lowest, in the south-east, 121 feet. 

 

2.13 The Parish covers 1294 acres (just over 2 square miles). The soil is mostly gravel, with a subsoil 

of gravel and clay, however the northern part is on chalk, and here there is a disused chalk pit, and 

in the south-east is a tract of alluvial land. To the east of the church once stood Ruscombe Lake 

covering about 3000 acres between Southbury Lane and Waltham St Lawrence and famed for its 

abundance of fish. It was drained in 1820 when the Bray Cut was made and subsequently 

cultivated, however, it still keeps its name. 

 

2.14 Before the London Road, the principal route through Ruscombe was the narrow winding lane 

from Waltham, through Twyford, to Sonning (now the B3024 back road to Windsor). From this, near 

the Church, another lane branched off to Castle End and Hare Hatch; and another down to the 

Lake (Southbury Lane). Along these old lanes, largely coinciding with the courses of water springs, 

most of the houses were built. 

 

2.15 From the 18th century, the London to Bath Turnpike (now the A3032 London Road) became 

a very busy coaching route across the north of the parish. In the mid-19th century, this was 

overtaken by the Great Western Railway through the centre; and in the early 20th century by the A4 

bypass across the northern apex. However, the growth of the Village around the London Road, up 

Pennfields, and down New Road to the Stanlake crossroads and on to Ruscombe Turn did not take 

place until well after the Second World War. 

ORIGINS OF THE NAME 

2.16 The name “Ruscombe” seems to have evolved from “Rothescamp”. The ending is from the 

Latin “campus”: an open, unenclosed field. “Rothes” may be from an Anglo-Saxon personal name 

(such as Hroth), the Celtic word “rhos” (Latin “rus”) for undrained moorland (with rushes), or the 

Teutonic “Royd/Roth”, meaning land cleared of trees. The latter derivations would apply well to 

Ruscombe Lake, or to the chalkland de-forested by the Romans, respectively. 

HISTORY 

2.17 The first mention of Ruscombe is in 1091 in the foundation charter of the cathedral of Old 

Sarum (Salisbury in Wiltshire). This records the endowment of the cathedral with the church and tithes 

of Sonning, along with “ten hides of land in Rothescamp”. Ruscombe Church was probably first built 

as a field chapel to the mother church of Sonning. South and west of the churchyard was the green 

over which the parishioners had rights of pasture (vastly bigger than the present village green). 

Beyond the green, over the open country across the (future) London Road and round by Castle End 

to the Waltham Lane, were the common fields cultivated according to the old manorial system by 

the lords of the manor and their tenants. The Lake was a swampy waste from which the parishioners 

gathered rushes and firewood and pastured their flocks of geese and perhaps cattle. The numerous 

pools of water also produced fish and wildfowl in abundance. In the 14th century, Windsor Forest 

spread as far as Ruscombe and its bounties were a great temptation to the locals. 

 

2.18 In 1535, Ruscombe was divided into two small manors, Northbury and Southbury. The 

Ruscombe Enclosure Award, completed in 1832, finally enclosed, consolidated and reallocated all 

93



 13 

the land in the Parish, including the land (half the area in total) which until that point had remained 

open fields and commons. 

 

2.19 There was supposed to have been a Civil War skirmish in the village at which Lieut. Mynd of 

Sonning was killed, and the parish register records the burial of thirteen soldiers in the first three 

months of 1642. The villagers were so scared, they deserted their homes and hid in Ruscombe Lake 

(it was still full of water then). The ‘mysterious’ tunnels in the area may have been used as their 

escape route. 

 

2.20 William Penn, founder of Pennsylvania, lived in Ruscombe from 1710 until he died in 1718 but 

his house was torn down in 1830. There were relatively few large houses as the majority of the 

population were craftsmen or agricultural workers. The population of the Parish in 1811 was 160, by 

1901 it had risen to 323, and in 2011 the population had reached 1094. 

INDUSTRY 

2.21 The industrial history of Ruscombe is virtually all related to agriculture. There used to be a 

rodyard at the corner of New Road and Ruscombe Lane, stripping rods for making baskets and 

hurdles. In the 16th century a brickworks was established in Ruscombe Lane, making the distinctive 

local ‘cherry-red’ bricks, to provide additional housing due to the increase in the population in the 

area. Later an iron foundry was established which mainly repaired agricultural machinery. All three 

industries lasted until the middle of the 20th century. They have been succeeded by a modern 

business park in Ruscombe Lane on the site of the brickworks, and a second across the Parish at 

Castle End. 

STANLAKE MANOR – SITE OF SCHEDULED MONUMENT 

2.22 Part of Stanlake Park lies in Ruscombe. In 1166 Patrick, Earl of Salisbury owned the Hinton 

Pipard estate, now known as Stanlake Park and lived in a timber framed building which was 

replaced by the current brick manor house. The original manor house of Hinton Pipard was located 

to the northern most edge of the estate near Botany Bay Copse where the quadrangular moat can 

still be seen.  

 

2.23 The Elizabethan manor house (circa 1590) was built by the Aldworth family who were to 

become the Baron Braybrookes and later moved to Billingbear House. They supported the King 

during the Civil War. In 1646 Richard Aldworth founded Reading Bluecoat School. 

 

2.24 The monument includes a small quadrilateral moated site and an associated sub-

rectangular fishpond within, and at the westernmost end of Botany Bay Copse. Although the moat is 

seasonally water-filled, the pond contains water all year round. The moat has straight regular arms 

around 2m in depth and bordered by an outer bank which still survives to a depth of 0.3m. The moat 

has overall dimensions of 60m NNE-SSW and 57m NW-SE while the moat island is 35m square. The 

pond is 40m in length and runs WNW from the south-west corner of the moat with which it is 

considered to be contemporary. It may have acted as a reservoir for the moat thus making it an 

important example of an early water-management complex. Although a large number of moated 

sites are known, relatively few survive in Berkshire. This example is of particular importance as it has 

survived so well. 

NATURAL HABITATS 

2.25 Ruscombe Wood is situated just off the Ruscombe to Hare Hatch road, with a public access 

bridleway leading through it. The 6-acre site includes a range of habitats, from open grassland to the 

94



 14 

ponded wetland, and a hazel coppice, surrounded by an ash coppice on the perimeter. An extract 

from the 1830s enclosure map shows that the wood was an important contribution to the 'industry' of 

the area (see Plan D overleaf). In the mid 19th century, a start was made on growing willows, used 

for basket making. A feature of the willow growing area was the large number of ponds - there were 

several in the area of New Road, Ruscombe. Many of these had probably originated as watering 

places for the drovers' routes (which tended to by-pass village centres, to keep the livestock away 

from houses). There is also a pond in Ruscombe Wood, which may also have been a 'watering 

place', or possibly a test clay dig, associated with the brick making industry locally. 

 

2.26 The whole area relied on the willow trade. In the Ruscombe area, there was a lot of 

employment for willow strippers, who would remove the bark from the rods. Willow growing with the 

associated coppicing continued until the 1950s, when plastics started to replace willow. As a result, 

Ruscombe Wood fell into a state of decay. The woodland buttercup flowers just before the bluebells 

and is an indicator that this is an ancient woodland site. Four species of orchids are found in 

Ruscombe Wood, the twayblade being the first to flower, in the early summer. Forget-me-not, elder, 

common bramble, and cow parsley also appear at this time. A woodpile here gives a habitat for 

stag beetle larvae, which take 7 years to mature, and after a week or two to find a mate and lay 

eggs, they die. Conservation was started in the 1990s. The undisturbed woodland was found to 

include many flowers varieties dating from Victorian times. For them to survive, however, coppicing is 

needed, so that they do not get overwhelmed by other plants or are in too much shadow. 

 

2.27 There are some fine specimens of veteran trees around the parish. These old trees are of high 

ecological and historical significance supporting many more species than much younger trees. They 

are likely to be survivors from when the Windsor Great Forest extended as far as Ruscombe. Dead 

and dying trees should be left standing wherever possible for the habitat they provide to birds, bats 

and invertebrates. The farmland environment in the parish provides good wildlife habitat in that 

there are fields on set-aside and relatively small field areas surrounded by traditional enclosure 

hedges and ditches. Some open fields that were once orchards are characterized by boundary 

hedgerows and pollarded poplar, that were originally planned to provide windbreaks and assist 

pollination for the fruit trees. 

 

5 Northbury Farm from the South-east, Source: British History Online 

95



 

 15 

 

Plan D: Historical Map of Ruscombe

96



 

 16 

3. PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 

3.1 The parish lies within the Wokingham Borough area in the county of Berkshire. 

 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 

3.2 The latest National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published by the Government 

in 2021, must be taken into account in the preparation of development plan documents 

including neighbourhood plans. The following paragraphs of the NPPF 2021 are considered 

especially relevant: 

o Neighbourhood planning (§28 - §30) 

o Supporting a prosperous rural economy (§83) 

o Community facilities (§93) 

o Local Green Spaces (§101 - §103)  

o Promoting sustainable transport (§104) 

o High quality design (§129) 

o Protecting Green Belt land (§147) 

o The natural environment (§174) 

o The historic environment (§190) 

 

3.3 The Government has also set out a requirement for the provision of First Homes in a Written 

Ministerial Statement on 24 May 2021. These requirements were subsequently incorporated into 

National Planning Practice Guidance, and it is noted that the Wokingham Local Plan Revised 

Growth Strategy (RGS) requires the provision of First Homes in the mix of homes coming forward. A 

First Homes Interim Policy Statement was published by Wokingham Borough Council in January 2022. 

For those parts of the Parish which lie within the Green Belt, First Homes Exception Sites are unable to 

come forward. 

 

3.4 The Government is consulting on proposed changes to the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) and the Levelling Up & Regeneration Bill (LURB) is currently passing through 

Parliament. It expects to publish the new NPPF and enact the LURB in spring 2023, but there are 

further changes to the NPPF proposed by the end of the year in relation to the LURB.  
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING POLICY 

3.5 The Neighbourhood Plan must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of 

Wokingham Borough. The development plan primarily comprises the Core Strategy 

adopted in 2010, the Managing Delivery (MDD) and local plan adopted in 2014. Core 

Strategy key policies applying to the designated neighbourhood area are: 

 

o General Principles of Development (CP3) – requiring high quality design 

o Managing Travel Demand (CP6) – encouraging a modal shift 

o Biodiversity (CP7) – protecting designated nature conservation sites  

o Scale and Location of development (CP9) – defines Ruscombe as a “modest 

development location” 

o Improvements to the Strategic Transport Network (CP10) – lists the Twyford Eastern 

Relief Road as an improvement  

97



 17 

o Proposals outside Development Limits (CP11) – to protect the separate identity of 

settlements 

o Green Belt (CP12) – protecting the Metropolitan Green Belt from inappropriate 

development 

o Employment Development (CP15) – designating Ruscombe Business Park as a Core 

Employment Area 

o Housing Delivery (CP17) – committing to the release of allocated sites through 

subsequent DPD 

 

3.6 These policies predate the publication of the NPPF (2021), originally in 2012, hence 

the provisions of the NPPF are especially important in shaping how Ruscombe 

Neighbourhood Plan will consider its policies, until the emerging Wokingham Borough Local 

Plan 2038 advances towards adoption and replaces current policies. Its reasoning and 

evidence base have therefore been taken into consideration during the preparation of this 

neighbourhood plan. 

 

3.7 The Managing Development Delivery plan supplements and provides additional 

detail to the policies of the Core Strategy and was adopted in 2014. Its key policies 

applying to the designated neighbourhood area are: 

 

o Development limits (CC02) – defines the development limit for Ruscombe (the built-

up area boundary)  

o Safeguarding alignments of the Strategic Transport Network & Road Infrastructure 

(CC08) – protecting routes for the improvement of the Strategic Transport Network  

o Development within the Green Belt (TB01) – protecting the Metropolitan Green Belt 

from inappropriate development 

o Development adjoining the Green Belt (TB02) – protecting the visual amenity of the 

Green Belt 

o Core Employment Areas (TB11) – defining Ruscombe Business Park as a Core 

Employment Area 

o Landscape Character (TB21) – requiring the retention or enhancement of landscape 

character  

o Biodiversity and Development (TB23) – protecting designated nature conservation 

sites 

o Designated Heritage Assets etc (TB24) – protecting designated heritage assets 

o Archaeology (TB25) – requiring appropriate level of archaeological evaluation and 

appropriate measures to protect and preserve remains are undertaken in areas of 

high archaeological potential, there are four areas in Ruscombe 

o Allocated Housing Development Sites (SAL02) - Land at 146 London Road, 

Ruscombe for the delivery of around 15 dwellings 

 

3.8 A Draft Wokingham Borough Local Plan Update 2036 was published in February 2020 

and the consultation period ending on 20 April 2020. Ruscombe Village continues to be 

defined as a Tier 2 settlement and therefore a ‘modest development location’ in Draft 

Policy SS2. Draft Policy ER1 identifies Ruscombe Business Park as a Core Employment Area 

and safeguards its use as such.  The plan also proposes to allocate the promoted sites listed 

98



 18 

in paragraph 3.11 above in its Draft Policy H2 totalling approximately 20 new homes for 

Ruscombe (see Plans F and G overleaf), although this is subject to change as the Local 

Plan Update develops. 

 

3.9 A consultation on the emerging Wokingham Local Plan Revised Growth Strategy 

(RGS) concluded in January 2022. The RGS makes significant changes to the Draft 

Wokingham Borough Local Plan Update 2036 (DLP) published in February 2020 including: 

 

o Removal of the proposed garden town at Grazeley; 

o A new proposed garden village at Hall Farm/Loddon Valley; 

o Additional allocations for housing across the Borough; 

o Additional Local Green Space designations across the Borough; and it 

o Extends the plan period to 2038. 

 

3.10 In Ruscombe, the RGS proposes to pursue a higher density than that sought in the 

previous iteration of the Draft Plan at the retained proposed allocations of Land to the rear 

of 9-17 Northbury Lane, from 7 new homes to 12 new homes (see Plan F) and Land 

between 39-53 New Road, from 13 new homes to 20 new homes (see Plan G) and sets 

some general development guidelines. The RGS also proposes to designate five Local 

Green Spaces in Ruscombe, including: 

 

o Ruscombe Wood and Pond 

o Ruscombe Ponds (A)  

o Ruscombe Ponds (B) 

o Church Green, Southbury Lane 

o Pennfields Park 

 

3.11 Land is also being promoted at land to the east of Twyford and Ruscombe – Twyford 

Gardens – as an alternative growth strategy to that proposed by WBC and the Parish 

Council continues to engage with these processes. 

 

3.12 While acknowledging the requirement for housing development, given that 

Neighbourhood Plans are not obliged to allocate land for housing, there remain 

opportunities within the settlement boundary for sites to come forward (promoted sites 

5RU007 – Land to the rear of 5 -17 Northbury Avenue, on Northbury Lane, Ruscombe, RG10 

9LH and 5RU008 – Land between 39-53 New Road, Ruscombe, RG10 9LQ, see plan E 

overleaf), and given existing Green Belt policy constraints, this Neighbourhood Plan has 

focussed its attention in preparing other development management policies. The emerging 

Local Plan policies will address the types of housing and affordability, as well as any Green 

Belt policy constraints, and this will be adequately addressed by strategic policies at the 

Local Plan level. The Parish Council will continue to engage with this process and has also 

confirmed that it will commit to a review of the Neighbourhood Plan should this position 

change.  

 

3.13 There are other development plans that apply in the Parish such as the 

Replacement Minerals Local Plan (Incorporating the Alterations Adopted in December 

99



 19 

1997 and May 2001) and the Waste Local Plan for Berkshire (adopted December 1998). 

These documents are proposed to be replaced by the Joint Central and Eastern Berkshire 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan which has now been found sound subject to the proposed 

Main Modifications being made. 

 

3.14  Parts of Ruscombe Business Park has been identified as part of the Preferred Waste 

Areas within the plan. Almost the entire parish is identified as a safeguarded resource for 

sand and gravel and land outside of the built-up area falls within the Area of Search for 

Sand and Gravel. As minerals and waste matters are defined as ‘excluded development’ 

for Neighbourhood Plans, the Parish Council will continue to engage in the Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan.  

 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING POLICY 

3.15 The neighbouring Parish of Waltham St Lawrence have a made Neighbourhood Plan 

and adjacent parishes of Twyford and Hurst are also in the process of preparing 

Neighbourhood Plans. 

 

RUSCOMBE CONSERVATION AREA 

3.16 As set out in Section 2, the Conservation Area was designated 10 June 1971 (see 

Plan B on page 7). Conservation Areas were introduced by the Civic Amenities Act of 1967, 

to protect areas of special interest as opposed to individual buildings. Since 1967 some 

8,000 conservation areas have been designated in England. Under the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 local authorities have a duty to designate 

conservation areas and from time to time to review the boundaries. Such areas are defined 

as ‘areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which 

it is desirable to preserve or enhance’. 

 

3.17 The main attributes that define the special character of an area are its physical 

appearance and history, i.e. the form and features of buildings and the spaces between 

them, their former uses and historical development. Where there are a number of periods 

of historical development, the character of individual parts of the conservation area may 

differ. Contrasts between the appearance of areas and the combination of buildings of 

various ages, materials and styles may contribute to its special character.

100



 

 20 

 

 

Plan E: Promoted sites in Ruscombe Built-Up Area Boundary  

Source: Wokingham Borough Council Interactive Mapping System of suggested development sites 

101



 

 21 

 

Plan F: Proposed allocation in Ruscombe, Draft Wokingham Borough Local Plan 2036 and 

retained as such in the emerging Wokingham Local Plan Revised Growth Strategy 2038 

Note: The site address is Land to the rear of 5 -17 Northbury Avenue, on Northbury Lane, Ruscombe 

102



 22 

 

Plan G: Proposed allocation in Ruscombe, Draft Wokingham Borough Local Plan 2036 and 

retained as such in the emerging Wokingham Local Plan Revised Growth Strategy 2038

103



 

 23 

4. COMMUNITY VIEWS ON PLANNING ISSUES 

4.1 This Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared because of residents’ desire to have a 

say in what development takes place in Ruscombe over the next 15 years. Ruscombe is a 

rural parish and many residents choose to live in Ruscombe because of the open green 

spaces and it is important to residents to maintain this lifestyle. The Neighbourhood Plan has 

been prepared through consultation with residents and a full account will be detailed in 

the Consultation Statement which will accompany the Submission Plan in due course.  

 

4.2 The latest engagement, during March 2019, 

in which a survey was distributed to houses in 

Ruscombe parish and also made available online, 

33% of households responded and the themes that 

emerged are shown in Image 6 below. The majority 

of respondents wished to see housing demand 

being met in a way that is sympathetic to the area 

and accompanied by adequate infrastructure. In 

addition, the survey showed little evidence that 

residents have had to move away or remain in their 

current housing due to the lack of alternative 

housing in Ruscombe.  

 

4.3 The Neighbourhood Plan has therefore 

sought to respond to these main themes and the 

work undertaken since has informed the policies of 

this Plan. Where it has not been possible to 

accommodate matters in planning policies, it has 

been dealt with in Section 6.  

 

6: Community Engagement Themes, Source: Ruscombe Parish Council 

   

MAINTAIN 

THE 

IDENTITY 

OF 

RUSCOMBE 

PROTECT IMPORTANT 

GREEN SPACES AND 

MAINTAIN AND IMPROVE 

ACCESS TO THE 

COUNTRYSIDE. 

PROTECTING AND 

ENHANCING LOCAL 

BIODIVERSITY AND TREES. 

 

 

THE IMPORTANCE OF HIGH-QUALITY 

DESIGN WHEN CONSIDERING NEW 

DEVELOPMENT. 

RETAINING SITES WHICH PROVIDE 

EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY WITH 

SPECIFIC SUPPORT FOR SMALL 

BUSINESSES AND AVOIDING LARGE 

SCALE INDUSTRY AND HEAVY TRANSPORT 

AND DISTRIBUTION. AVOIDING AN 

INCREASE IN ROAD TRAFFIC POLLUTION. 

 

 

RE-USE OF 

BROWN- 

FIELD AS 

PRIORITY 

FOR 

HOUSING 

PROTECTING IMPORTANT COMMUNITY 

FACILITIES INCLUDING NEW OR 

EXPANDED GP FACILITIES. 

  

PRESERVING OR 

ENHANCING THE 

DISTINCT CHARACTER 

OF LOCAL AREAS, 

INCLUDING THE ST 

JAMES’ CHURCH 

CONSERVATION AREA 

AND ITS SETTING. 

104



 

 24 

5. VISION, OBJECTIVES & LAND USE POLICIES 

 

 

“To remain a busy and 

vibrant community with 

access to a wide range of 

facilities.  

 

Growth will be through 

sustainable infill and 

brown field developments 

of homes contained within 

the existing fabric of the 

village whilst protecting 

the Green Belt. 

 

The many significant 

historic buildings and 

landscape will be 

preserved for future 

generations.  

 

Design of new buildings 

will reflect the rural 

character of the village.” 

To retain the present Green 

Belt boundaries. 

Ensure high quality design & 

construction in both residential 

& commercial development. 

To preserve or enhance the 

character of the St. James’ 

Church Conservation Area and 

its setting. 

To protect & enhance the 

biodiversity of our area, our 

local wildlife & its habitat & our 

trees. 

To enhance & protect all existing 

green spaces, including roadside 

verges, to ensure they remain for 

the benefit of the community. 

Encourage walking & cycling in 

the neighbourhood plan area & 

to better manage the harmful 

effects of traffic & parking. 

To sustain community facilities, 

shops & businesses that are 

essential to community life. 

Encourage ecologically sound 

development that minimises the 

environmental footprint of 

development proposals. 

V
IS

IO
N

  

O
B

J
E

C
TI

V
E

S
 

105



 25 

LAND USE POLICIES 

5.1 The purpose of these policies is both to encourage planning applications for 

proposals that the local community would like to support, and to discourage applications 

for development that the community does not consider represent sustainable 

development in the Parish. 

 

5.2 The planning framework for the Parish will continue to rely on national and local 

policies in addition to the policies introduced under the Neighbourhood Plan. In this 

respect, the local community is content that it is unlikely that the spatial strategy of the 

emerging Local Plan will require the release of Green Belt land, and the Parish Council will 

continue to engage with this process. 

 

5.3 Set out below are the proposed land use policies. Each policy is numbered and 

titled, and it is shown in bold italics for ease of reference. Where necessary, the area to 

which it will apply is shown on the Policies Map attached to the document. After each 

policy is some supporting text that explains the purpose of the policy, how it will be applied 

and, where helpful, how it relates to other development plan policies. 

 

POLICY RU1: DEVELOPMENT LIMIT FOR RUSCOMBE 

 

The development limit for Ruscombe is shown on the Policies Map. Within this 

area proposals for development will normally be acceptable provided they 

accord with the policies of the development plan.  

The land outside the settlement boundary is considered to be part of the 

open countryside. All this area lies within the Green Belt and accordingly new 

development will be strictly controlled in line with national Green Belt 

policies.  

Development proposals between Ruscombe and Hare Hatch should conserve 

and enhance the open and tranquil landscape character. Proposals which 

would either individually or cumulatively result in unacceptable harm or 

detract from the separation between Ruscombe and Hare Hatch wi ll not be 

supported.  

 

5.4 The policy distinguishes between the built-up area of Ruscombe with the surrounding 

countryside in order to manage development proposals accordingly. The policy accords 

with Core Strategy (CS) Policy CP9 which defines Ruscombe as a modest development 

location where modest development would be acceptable within the development limits 

and refines Managing Development Local Plan (MDLP) Policy CC02 by identifying the 

character of the Parish through the built-up area of Ruscombe and the surrounding 

countryside, enhanced by the role of the countryside as Green Belt. Throughout 

106



 26 

consultation with the community, it was clear that there was a majority support for the 

character of the Parish to continue to be defined by its two principal components, the 

built-up area of Ruscombe village and the countryside that surrounds it. The significance of 

the Green Belt at Ruscombe is also recognised in WBC’s Green Belt Review June 2016:  

‘Specification of finer-grained parcels substantiates the conclusions of the 

strategic review of Green Belt purposes, where land to the east of Wargrave 

and Twyford is identified as making a contribution to Green Belt purposes, 

this being significant in relation to land in the vicinity of Ruscombe which 

protects the setting of the village, and for land to the east of Twyford (east of 

the B3018 Waltham Road).’ 

This distinction between Ruscombe village and the surrounding countryside, enhanced by 

the role of the countryside as Green Belt, is fundamental to the character of the area and is 

reflected in the policies of the Plan and the way in which development proposals should 

be managed. 

5.5 The final paragraph of the policy seeks to ensure that the separation of Ruscombe 

and Hare Hatch is maintained within the Plan period. WBC’s Landscape Character 

Assessment November 2019 recognises that development pressures for expansion, infill and 

densification within existing settlements, especially at Twyford/Ruscombe, could lead to the 

loss of individual settlement identity. There are also commercial development pressures 

along the A4 (which lies outside of the parish) extending along the A3032 (which lies within 

the parish). The document also recognises that there is need to conserve the rural setting 

and gaps between settlements and ‘avoid linear development between Hare Hatch and 

Twyford along the A4’. The policy therefore seeks to conserve the rural character and 

settlement form of this part of the parish by highlighting its significance in addition to the 

two principal components that define the character of the Parish. 

 

5.6 Sites for new housing will continue to become available within the built-up area of 

the Parish. In the event that the Borough’s current housing supply strategy changes before 

the end of the plan period, then the implications will be considered by the Parish Council 

and the Neighbourhood Plan may be reviewed to plan for that eventuality.  

 

POLICY RU2: RUSCOMBE HOUSING DESIGN CODE 

 

Development proposals in Ruscombe will be supported provided they have 

full regard to the essential design considerations, where applicable relevant 

to the area typologies and site-specific design briefs within which they are 

located, and general design principles set out in the Ruscombe Housing 

Design Code attached as Appendix A.  

5.7 The NPPF contains a heightened emphasis on design standards in new 

developments. Paragraphs 124 states:  

107



 27 

 

‘The creation of high-quality buildings and places is fundamental to what 

the planning and development process should achieve.’ 

and paragraph 130 confirms that: 

‘permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to 

take opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 

area and the way it functions.’ 

 

5.8 The policy therefore establishes the importance of high-quality design and the need 

for new development to reflect the special qualities and local distinctiveness of the Parish. 

Adopting such an approach is intended to ensure that new development is well grounded 

and creates a ‘positive sense of place’ (National Design Guide paragraph 38) and more 

likely to be acceptable to the community. The Wokingham Borough Design Guide provides 

“guidance on how development can be delivered in accordance with good design 

practice” as defined in the National Design Guide. The policy therefore places additional 

local emphasis to the design quality principles of the Wokingham Borough Design Guide by 

providing “detailed parameters for the physical development of a site or area” in the form 

of a Design Code as defined by the National Design Guide. In turn, it complements, but 

does not replace, CS Policy CP3 by highlighting the particular characteristics of the Parish.  

 

5.9 The Ruscombe Housing Design Code attached at Appendix A complements the 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide SPD and establishes the principles of essential design 

considerations within each distinct area typologies of the Parish as well as setting out 

general design principles and is intended to replace the existing Ruscombe Village Design 

Statement. These design considerations and principles set out the features of each 

typology that make it distinctive from others, and the extent of each typology is defined in 

the Design Code. It requires that development proposals demonstrate, where relevant to 

the nature and location of the proposal, that full regard has been paid to these principles. 

The policy does not advocate pastiche or historic solution; however, it is important that any 

new development demonstrates a connection with local character and place making. 

 

POLICY RU3: RUSCOMBE CONSERVATION AREA 

 

Development proposals should and, where possible, enhance the historic 

environment, particularly the special architectural and historic significance 

interest of the designated Ruscombe Conservation Area and its setting. 

Features identified as positive characteristics of the Conservation Area and its 

immediate setting are defined in the Ruscombe Housing Design Code 

attached as Appendix A, to which all proposals must have full regard.  

 

108



 28 

5.10 The policy complements the provisions of the NPPF and the adopted policies MDLP 

Policy TB24 and CS Policy CP3 by drawing attention to guidance specific to this 

Conservation Area and its setting as set out in the Ruscombe Housing Design Code 

attached as Appendix A.  

 

5.11 The Ruscombe Housing Design Code attached at Appendix A establishes the 

principles of essential design considerations within each distinct area typologies of the 

Parish, including the Conservation Area and its setting, as well as setting out general design 

principles and is intended to replace the existing Ruscombe Village Design Statement. Not 

every characteristic will be relevant to an application and the policy does not set out a 

prescriptive list of design features that must be slavishly incorporated into every scheme. 

Rather, applicants are expected to acknowledge, understand and respond to the 

characteristics that are relevant in justifying their proposals. 

 

POLICY RU4: COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT IN PLANNING 

 

Applicants should demonstrate early, proactive, and effective engagement 

with the community particularly with regard to design issues.  

Proposals for 10 or more dwellings more than a 1000m2 of new floor space or 

where the site is greater than a hectare in size, applicants should 

demonstrate in the Statement of Community Involvement how they have 

engaged in a meaningful way with local residents and other stakeholders 

prior to submitting a planning application.  

Where appropriate, the Statement should describe how the knowledge and 

opinions of the local community have been sought, positively considered and 

responded to in formulating the proposals set out in the separate Design and 

Access Statement, where a proposal has not accommodated that knowledge 

or opinion, then the Statement should explain the reasons for not doing so.  

 

5.12 The policy refines the way in which the process of engaging the local community in 

the design of major development proposals is carried out. Importantly, it uses established 

means within the Council’s established Local Validation Requirements process to achieve 

its aims, rather than to create an additional process. 

 

5.13 The NPPF also encourages ‘any applicants who are not already required to do so by 

law to engage with the local community…before submitting their applications.’ (§40). The 

National Design Guide highlights the vital role that communities play in the design process 

of proposals. The intent is therefore to lead to a higher standard of local community 

engagement in the design process. 

 

109



 29 

5.14 The identity of Ruscombe and the important of high quality design was raised as 

important issues by the local community and it is therefore vital that their knowledge of 

how the area functions, their understanding of the essential features of local character, 

and their views on the merits of emerging proposals are given proper weight in the 

consideration of planning applications.  

 

POLICY RU5: BUILDINGS OF TRADITIONAL LOCAL CHARACTER 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan identifies the following buildings and structures, as 

shown in the policies map, as Buildings of Traditional Local Character by way 

of their local architectural or historic interest:  

i. Ruscombe Cottage, Ruscombe Lane; 

ii. The Royal Oak, Ruscombe Lane; 

iii. Kiln House, Ruscombe Lane; 

iv. Penn’s Garden, Stanlake Lane;  

v. Ruscombe Lodge, Southbury Lane; 

vi. Ruscombe Grange, Church Lane; 

vii. Holme Cottage, Ruscombe Lane; 

viii. Rosebrook, Waltham Road; 

ix. Southbury Farm, Southbury Lane; 

x. Lake Cottage, Southbury Lane; 

xi. Willow Vale, Waltham Road; 

xii. Castle End Farm, Castle End Road; 

xiii. Keeper’s Cottage, Waltham Road;  

xiv. Lake Farm, Waltham Road. 

Development proposals affecting non-designated heritage assets, including 

Buildings of Traditional Local Character listed above, will be supported where 

they can demonstrate that they retain and enhance the traditional, historical, 

local and special significance of the building or structure and its setting.  

In weighing applications that directly affect non-designated heritage assets, 

including Buildings of Traditional Local Character, a balanced judgement will 

be taken having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance 

of the heritage asset.  

5.15 The policy designates certain buildings or structures as Buildings of Traditional Local 

Character in order to give them additional protection as heritage assets, in recognition of 

the important contribution that they make to the special character of the Parish, for 

application of MDLP Policy TB26. This is in addition to, but separate from, those properties 

which are Grade I or Grade II listed, and which are designated by Historic England. This 

Neighbourhood Plan can add no more protection to these properties.  

110



 30 

 

5.16 In analysing the Village Design Statement, the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 

identified candidate buildings for designating as Buildings of Traditional Local Character by 

way of their local architectural or historic interest. A criteria-based assessment of candidate 

buildings, using WBC’s Buildings of Traditional Local Character Policy, was undertaken.  The 

reason for designating each building or structure have been summarised in the Buildings of 

Traditional Local Character report attached as Appendix B.  

 

 

POLICY RU6: EMPLOYMENT 

 

Development proposals that will result in the loss of employment floor space 

at Ruscombe Business Park, as shown on the Policies Map, will be resisted, 

unless it can be demonstrated that it is in accordance with other employment 

related policies of the development plan, or that there will be an increase in 

jobs as a result of the proposals enabling a higher employment density to be 

achieved.    

 

5.17 The policy seeks to avoid the loss of employment floor space at its defined Core 

Employment Area at Ruscombe Business Park in accordance with CS Policy CP15.   

 

5.18 The Central Berkshire FEMA Economic Development Needs Assessment, Oct 2016 

recognises that each Local Planning Authority will need to take a view on the replacement 

of employment space lost in the future and Wokingham Borough Council has already 

recognised that there is a need for additional floorspace for new jobs and there have been 

some losses of employment floor space though the implementation of permitted 

development rights.  

 

5.19 The latest evidence shows that the majority of demand in Ruscombe Business Park is 

from professional services looking for space in or near Twyford and that it generally attracts 

more local occupiers WBC’s Employment Land Needs Survey, February 2020.  

 

5.20 It is acknowledged that the new Use Classes Order defines Commercial, Business 

and Services Uses by combining previous retail, financial services, café/restaurant, offices 

and other social uses.  

 

5.21 Additionally, prior Approval Consent for the change of use of an existing office 

building to 12 residential apartments at Spitfire House, Ruscombe Business Park has recently 

been secured and the policy therefore seeks to avoid further loss of employment space as 

do other policies of the development plan.  

 

POLICY RU7: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

111



 31 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan identifies the following properties as community 

facilities, as shown on the Policies Maps: 

i. Buratta’s at the Royal Oak restaurant  and bar; 

ii. St James Church. 

Proposals that will lead to the unnecessary loss of a community facility will be 

resisted unless it can be clearly demonstrated that the use of the building and 

ancillary land is no longer viable or that the use can be satisfactorily re-

located for the ongoing benefit of the local community.  

Proposals to improve the viability of an established community use of 

buildings and ancillary land by way of its extension or partial redevelopment 

will be supported, provided the design of the scheme and the resulting  

increase in use are appropriate, will not harm the amenities of adjoining 

residential properties, and will not undermine the viability of the primary 

community use.  

 

5.22 The policy identifies two community facilities (buildings and land) in the Parish that 

will be protected from a change of use in line with CS Policy CP3. It also encourages 

proposals to enable the facilities to remain viable community assets. The Use Class Order of 

September 2020 now deems such uses as either Class F2 (‘Local Community Uses’) or in the 

case of the church, F1 (‘Religious institutions’). Pubs are now deemed ‘sui generis’ (i.e. not 

included in any class of uses).  

 

5.23 Buratta’s, an independently run restaurant and bar, is a very important part of 

Ruscombe life, 82% of survey responders agreed that a local pub is an important part of 

community life. Buratta’s is sustainable and should be protected from unnecessary loss 

because it provides an excellent location for social, family, business and political functions 

related to the area, as well as usual restaurant and bar facilities including children’s play 

equipment in the garden. 

 

5.24 St James Church plays an important part of life for followers of the Christian religion 

and has well attended services and is a very popular choice for those wanting a church 

wedding, Christening or funeral. It is Grade I listed and is the central part of Ruscombe 

Conservation Area. 

 

5.25 These community facilities within the Parish are therefore valued by the local 

community and offer a valuable resource to support community life. The policy therefore 

identifies these on the Policies Map, and seeks to avoid their loss. In demonstrating that an 

existing use is not viable, applicants must produce evidence that genuine and sustained 

efforts to promote, improve and market the facility at a reasonable value have been 

undertaken. The policy also recognises that improvements or extensions to some may be 

112



 32 

necessary to ensure they remain viable. In these cases, other planning policies will still need 

to be addressed e.g. heritage.   

 

5.26 Other than these two community facilities, Ruscombe is largely served by facilities in 

the neighbouring Parish of Twyford. 

  
 

 

  

  

7
 B

u
rr

a
tt

a
’s

 a
t 

Th
e

 R
o

y
a

l 
O

a
k

, 
S
o

u
rc

e
: 
G

o
o

g
le

 S
tr

e
e

t 
V

ie
w

 
8

 S
t Ja

m
e

s C
h

u
rc

h
, S

o
u

rc
e

: G
o

o
g

le
 S

tre
e

t V
ie

w
 

113



 33 

POLICY RU8: LOCAL GREEN SPACES 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan designates Local Green Spaces, as shown on the 

Policies Map, as follows: 

i. Ruscombe Wood and Pond, Castle End Road; 

ii. Castle End Road Pond, Castle End Road; 

iii. Crossroads Pond; 

iv. New Road Pond; 

v. Church Lane Allotments; 

vi. Church Green, Southbury Lane; 

vii. Crossroads Land – Stanlake Lane, New Road, Waltham Road, Ruscombe 

Lane; 

viii. Pennfields Park; 

ix. Land at London Road; 

x. Pennfields Orchard. 

Proposals for inappropriate development in a Local Green Space will only be 

supported in very special circumstances.  

 

5.27 The policy designates a series of Local Green Spaces in accordance with the tests of 

NPPF §100. A designation has the policy effect of the equivalence of the Green Belt when 

determining planning applications located within a designated Green Space. Hence, the 

policy resists all development proposals that will undermine the essential character of a 

Green Space, unless there are very special circumstances to justify why consent should be 

granted. 

 

5.28 A number of sites that are proposed for designation already carry the same level of 

protection as they lie within the Green Belt. However, their designation as Local Green 

Spaces are an expression of open spaces that are particularly valued by the local 

community as demonstrated in the Local Green Space report attached as Appendix C.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

POLICY RU9: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE & BIODIVERSITY 

114



 34 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan identifies a Green Infrastructure Network as shown 

on the Green Infrastructure Plan, for the purpose of promoting sustainable 

movement and ecological connectivity through the village and surrounding 

countryside and for mitigating climate change. The Network comprises a 

variety of open spaces, local green spaces, woodlands, trees, ponds, assets 

of biodiversity value, footpaths, bridleways and cycleways.  

Development proposals on land that lies within or adjoining the Network will 

be required to demonstrate how they maintain or enhance its visual 

characteristics and biodiversity; and to ensure their landscape schemes, 

layouts, public open space provision and other amenity requirements (such 

as pedestrian, cycle and horse-riding connections) contribute to improving 

the connectivity and maintenance of the Network, including delivering a net 

gain to general biodiversity assets.  

Proposals that will lead to the loss of land lying within the Network and that 

will undermine its integrity will be resisted. Proposals which enhance/maintain 

the existing Green Infrastructure Network will be supported. Proposals to 

create new Green Infrastructure, including pedestrian and cycle routes, will 

also be supported, provided they are consistent with all other relevant 

policies of the development plan.  

 

5.29 The policy supports MDLP Policy CC03 by defining a network of green infrastructure 

assets in Ruscombe parish as a means of increasing connectivity and of improving local 

biodiversity through connecting habitats. In doing so it is in line with CS Policy CP6 in terms 

of enhancing facilities for pedestrians and cyclists to encourage safe walking and cycling 

access through the Parish and CS Policy CP7 on biodiversity. It requires that all 

development proposals that lie within the network, or that adjoin it, should consider how 

they may improve it, or at the very least do not undermine its integrity of connecting 

spaces and habitats. This may mean that development layouts are designed to contribute 

to the network’s effectiveness.   

 

5.30 The Parish is home to a variety of wildlife species, including the European Protected 

Great Crested Newts and Water Vole for example. It also hosts a range of species of birds 

such as Cuckoo. The Ruscombe Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure Elements report, 

attached as Appendix D, summarises the extent of the habitats and species that exist 

within the Parish. It also identifies opportunities for better management of existing habitats.    

 

5.31 Aspirations identified have been listed in the Table 1 overleaf, where applicable 

these have been demonstrated on the Green Infrastructure Network Map and Inset at the 

end of this document. For further details on the majority of the aspirations identified below, 

please see the Ruscombe Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure Elements report attached at 

Appendix D. 

 

115



 35 

Ref Green Infrastructure Network Aspiration 

1 Improved hedgerow management (location of hedges shown on map) 

2 Increase number of young trees in Parkland habitat (location of Parkland habitat shown on 
map) 

3 Encourage and facilitate landowners to enter a Countryside Stewardship Scheme (add 

project to Section 6 paragraph 5) 

4 Enhance natural corridors (location of Castle End Business Park natural corridor shown on 

map) 

5 Enhance natural corridors (location of Castle End Road natural corridor shown on map) 

6 Promote appropriate maintenance of ditches across the parish to benefit Water Voles 

(location of watercourses shown on map) 

7 Promote a ‘wildlife friendly gardening scheme’ to residents (add project to Section 6 
paragraph 5) 

8 Enhance wildlife value of ponds across the parish (innumerable ponds across the parish – 

project to include mapping of significant ponds) 

9 Promote appropriate management of woodlands (location of woodland shown on map) 

10 Monitor the quality of priority grassland habitats and provide advice to landowners 
(location of Lowland Meadows shown on map) 

11 Manage the verges and communal spaces to benefit pollinators and other species 

(location of a proposed London Road wildflower verge shown on map and new bin on 

Southbury Lane shown on Inset) 

12 Promote greater understanding of biodiversity of Ruscombe to residents (location of 

proposed information boards for ponds shown on Inset) 

13 Creation of a community orchard (location shown on Inset) 

Table 1: Green Infrastructure Aspirations 

116



 36 

h 

POLICY RU10: MANAGING TRAFFIC 

 

Development proposals will be supported, provided that, where appropriate 

to their location, they deliver or contribute towards measures to mitigate the 

impact on the highway network, such as through traffic calming measures 

and active travel improvements.  

 

5.32 CS Policy CP6 recognises that the Borough has one of the highest car ownership 

rates of any English local authority (§4.36).  Transport and traffic issues have been identified 

as a priority topic during consultation. 74% of questionnaire respondents said speed of 

traffic was a problem in the area they live. Ruscombe has a good network of paths in most 

residential areas and a large network of footpaths and bridleways connecting it to the 

countryside. There are no roadway cycle paths in Ruscombe but Castle End Road and 

Stanlake Lane are classed as Quiet Routes (see Plan G overleaf). The policy is therefore 

aimed at preserving the roads of the Parish as safe havens for walkers, cyclists and horse-

riders and encourages the Highway Authority to consider introducing traffic calming 

measures in the Parish.  
 

5.33 Ruscombe’s traffic issues are not created by its own residents but by traffic passing 

through the parish to (and from) Twyford to Hare Hatch (and beyond) and Waltham St. 

Lawrence (and beyond). The Parish has two classified roads passing through; the A3032 

and the B3024. A link road (New Road) joins the two roads in the Parish for north & south 

traffic flow. Other roads in the Parish are generally local roads for access to residential, 

industrial and agricultural sites, and some (Pennfields, Northbury Avenue & New Road) are 

unfortunately used inappropriately as ‘short cuts’.  
 

5.34 The Crossrail project is likely to add yet more pressure to the community and the 

issue of roads and cars, and although there has been a long-standing commitment from 

the Borough Council to secure a Twyford Eastern Relief Road the scheme remains less 

developed than others identified in existing policy. This means that Ruscombe must be part 

of a solution, and the Neighbourhood Plan therefore seeks to encourage drivers to respect 

the environment that they are driving through by making it perfectly obvious that these 

roads are used by residents for walking, cycling and horse riding through the Parish. To that 

end, although the scale of change provided for in the Plan must be modest, there may be 

opportunities through a combination of small scale, infill housing schemes to secure some 

proportionate traffic management measures.  
 

5.35 Such measures may include the opportunities to create new, and link existing 

pathways, to encourage safe walking routes as outlined in Policy RU8 above. New cycling 

paths will be encouraged; however, many roads are narrow (including the B3024) and such 

schemes should be carefully designed and located to avoid urbanising highways 

infrastructure into the street-scene. Careful connections with the existing road network will 

also be necessary to avoid creating new traffic short cuts. 

117



 

 37 

 

Plan H: WBC My Journey Cycles Map Twyford and Woodley 2019 

118



 

 38 

POLICY RU11: CAR PARKING 

 

Development proposals must provide and retain appropriate levels of parking 

(including people with disabilities, visitors and electric charging facilities) in 

accordance with adopted parking standards and having regard to the 

Borough’s Highways Design Guide. 

All new parking should be provided off-street, unless an essential justification 

can be demonstrated. 

The use of garages for car parking will be supported where sufficient internal 

space has been provided on the plot to park a car and would not result i n the 

loss of an active frontage to the street.  

5.36 The policy seeks to address car parking challenges affecting many residents of the 

village by ensuring development proposals can demonstrate they will include adequate 

off-street car parking spaces within their schemes. This can include using residential 

frontages to create new car parking spaces providing there is no negative impact on the 

existing boundary treatment.  

 

5.37 Even with car travel being the dominant form of transport in the parish there is a lack 

of parking facilities within the parish. In addition to this, a lack of sufficient car parking at 

Twyford Railway Station encourages rail users to park their cars in neighbouring roads which 

is sprawling into the Ruscombe parish, specifically at Ruscombe Lane and Milton Way. 68% 

of questionnaire respondents thought parking vehicles around the Parish was a problem. 

The Crossrail project is likely to add yet more pressure and demand for car parking.   

 

5.38 MDLP Policy CC07 highlights the importance of retaining an acceptable level of off-

street parking and draws attention to the Borough Design Guide SPD which provides further 

detail on parking. An analysis for on-street and off-street car parking space in Ruscombe 

demonstrates where demand outstrips supply – Pennfields suffers from problems with 

residents parking due to an undersupply when these homes were built; Ruscombe Lane 

and Milton Way is used for parking to access Twyford train station; the area around St 

James Church suffers from problems, mainly when events, which are frequent, occur; and 

the recent development on London Road for retirement apartments have relied on on-

street parking being available to visitors and residents owning more than one car. While on-

street parking can restrict vehicle speeds through the village, it also increases the risk of an 

accident when overtaking parked vehicles, particularly on routes that are used by local 

people to access services and facilities.  

 

5.39 The design of new development must therefore recognise car travel being the 

dominant form of transport and the impact of a lack of facilities at Twyford Station on 

residents ensuring adequate off-street parking in schemes.  

119



 39 

6. IMPLEMENTATION 

6.1 The Neighbourhood Plan will be implemented through Wokingham Borough 

consideration and determination of planning applications for development in the parish.  

 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

6.2 The Parish Council will use a combination of the Local Plan and this Neighbourhood 

Plan policies to inform and determine its planning application decisions. The Parish Council 

is a statutory consultee on planning applications made in the parish and it will be made 

aware of any future planning applications or alterations to those applications by the 

planning authority. It will seek to ensure that the Neighbourhood Plan policies have been 

identified and applied correctly by applicants and by officers in their decision reports. 

 

6.3 Where necessary, the Parish Council may seek to persuade the Secretary of State to 

call-in a planning application that it considers is in conflict with the Neighbourhood Plan 

but which the planning authority has deemed to consent. Similarly, it may also seek to 

persuade the Secretary of State to recover an appeal of a refused application, where the 

conflict with one or more Neighbourhood Plan policies has been important in the reasons 

for refusal. In both cases, the Parish Council will do so if it considers matters of national 

policy significance (for neighbourhood planning) are raised.  

 

LOCAL INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS  

6.4 Where opportunities arise through Section 106 agreements (or through the 

Community Infrastructure Levy) to secure financial contributions to invest in improving local 

infrastructure, the Parish Council will review the evidence base and community 

consultations for the Neighbourhood Plan to inform its view in liaising with the local planning 

authorities. 

 

OTHER NON-PLANNING MATTERS 

6.5 During the process of preparing the Neighbourhood Plan, there have been many 

ideas for improving or addressing current problems in the parish that lie outside the scope 

of the land use planning system to control. The Parish Council has noted these issues and 

will take them forward through its day-to-day business and in partnership with the local 

community and relevant parties. These include: 

 

o Purchasing a speed indicator device to locate in and around the Parish to 

encourage lower driving speed; 

o Parking restrictions on roads currently experiencing overflow parking from Twyford 

station users.

120



 

 

POLICIES MAPS & INSETS 

 

 

 

121



 

 

122



 

 

123



 

 

124



 

 

APPENDICES 

 

APPENDIX A – RUSCOMBE HOUSING DESIGN CODE 

 

APPENDIX B – BUILDINGS OF LOCAL HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE 

 

APPENDIX C – LOCAL GREEN SPACE REPORT 

 

APPENDIX D – RUSCOMBE BIODIVERSITY & GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ELEMENTS 

 

  

125



 

APPENDIX A – RUSCOMBE HOUSING DESIGN CODE 

RUSCOMBE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
HOUSING DESIGN CODE 

The Design Code of Policy RU2 of the Neighbourhood Plan is intended to encourage high 

standards of design in that part of the village that is inset from the Green Belt to ensure that 

its essential character is conserved. It applies to all schemes for infill housing development 

and plot redevelopment. Policy RU3 applies to the Conservation Area and its setting, which 

lies entirely within the Green Belt. 

The Code will be implemented through the determination of planning applications by the 

District Council for the duration of the plan period. Over that period, it is possible that there 

will be changes in market conditions, in Government policy (especially in mitigating climate 

change) and in the planning system. The effectiveness and operation of the Code will be 

monitored by the Parish Council and future reviews of the Neighbourhood Plan may make 

proposals for changes if necessary. 

The Wokingham Borough Design Guide SPD sets out general design principles followed by 

specific topic areas (see below). Some of those standards are generic and apply to all 

development proposals in the Borough and some relate to the design process itself.  The 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code relates those standards that can be applied specifically 

to different parts of the Neighbourhood Area in a way that reflects the distinct 

characteristics of the Area. 

 

126



 

THE CODE 

The Code establishes the principles of essential design considerations: plot design, dwelling 

design, boundary design, access/parking and landscaping. The character of the different 

parts of the existing village is sufficiently strong as a context for new proposals that it justifies 

reasonably prescriptive guidance in these respects. This is set out through a combination of 

area typologies (see Design Code Typology Plan), general principles and site-specific 

design briefs. 

For each character area and specific sites, the Code translates the principles from the 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide into specific requirements. For ease of reference, the 

Code matches the Character Area or Site-specific code to the Design SPD standard 

number, e.g. R7, R11 etc.  

Beyond these considerations, there remain other design matters where the Code does not 

need to be prescriptive, as there is variation in the existing character, e.g. building 

materials. 

Applicants preparing development proposals should be familiar with the Design SPD and 

then relate the proposed development location to the correct part of the Neighbourhood 

Area. The Borough Council will apply the generic and process principles of the Design SPD 

and the specific requirements of this Code as relevant to the location and nature of the 

proposal. The Parish Council will use both the Design SPD and the Code to inform their 

judgment of proposals in making their representations to the Borough Council when it is 

consulted on planning applications.  

As with all design guidance, the standards and requirements should be regarded as setting 

the design brief for a proposal, but the applicant may depart from them where it can be 

justified in the circumstances. Given the Green Belt status of most the Neighbourhood Area, 

for which full regards needs to be paid to national policy, the scope for change in 

character will remain very limited. There may be scope for greater design innovation in that 

part of the Area that is inset from the Green Belt, or on brownfield land in the Green Belt. 

However, in all cases, the burden will be on the applicant to demonstrate that the Design 

SPD and Code have been acknowledged, understood and responded to in a way that is 

appropriate to the location and nature of the proposal. 

  

  

127



 

TYPOLOGY 1: NEW ROAD 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R7 CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: For each street, building frontages must 

define the street space with a coherent building line that relates to existing 

building lines where they form a positive characteristic of the area. 

 

 

R7.1 

 

R7.2 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Minimum 20 m building line south of Walnut Tree Close and minimum 7 - 

12m building line north of Walnut Tree Close tapering towards London Road 

junction.  
 

1-2m gap between buildings. 

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 
enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 
height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 

contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

R11.1 

 

R11.2 

 

R11.3 

 
 

R11.4 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Plot widths 13 – 17m. 

 

Detached buildings of two storey or chalet bungalow fronting on to the 

road. 
 

Roof forms either open and cross gable ends on or double fronted with 

hipped. 

 

Variety in materials but brick and clay tiles most common. 

R12 

 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Boundary treatments should be 

designed to contribute positively to the character of the areas and to the 

quality of the public realm.  

 

R12.1 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Front hedge and trees and/or 1m high timber post and rail fence with 1-2m 

grass verge to highway 

P2 PARKING 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Parking in residential development 

should aim to accommodate car ownership in a manner that is compatible 
with local character and creating a high quality environment that functions 

well. It must also include cycle and motorcycle parking. 

 

P2.1 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Parking area within front garden area 

 

 

128



 

   TYPOLOGY 1: NEW ROAD PHOTOS 

 

   

   

   

 

 

 

 

  

  

129



 

TYPOLOGY 2: LONDON ROAD (NORTH) 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R7 

 

CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: For each street, building frontages must 

define the street space with a coherent building line that relates to existing 

building lines where they form a positive characteristic of the area. 

 

R7.3 
 

R7.4 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Minimum 15m (on the slip road) or 35m building line. 
 

3m gap between buildings.  

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 
enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 

height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 
contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

R11.5 

 

R11.6 

 

R11.7 
 

R11.8 

 

R11.9 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Plot widths of 10m. 

 

Semi-detached, two storey, double-fronted, buildings fronting on to the 

road. 
 

Common for ancillary garden buildings. 
 

Roof forms of hipped with central chimney and occasional cross hip. 

 

Dark orange facing brick and dark clay roof tile. 

R12 

 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Boundary treatments should be 

designed to contribute positively to the character of the areas and to the 
quality of the public realm.  

 

R12.2 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Low front hedge and and/or brick wall and occasional trees with 1-2m grass 

verge to highway.  

P2 PARKING 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Parking in residential development 

should aim to accommodate car ownership in a manner that is compatible 

with local character and creating a high quality environment that functions 
well. It must also include cycle and motorcycle parking. 

 

P2.2 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Parking area within front garden area. 

 

 

TYPOLOGY 2: LONDON ROAD (NORTH) PHOTOS 

130



 

   

 

TYPOLOGY 3: LONDON ROAD (SOUTH) PHOTOS 

   

   
  

131



 

TYPOLOGY 3: LONDON ROAD (SOUTH) 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R7 

 

CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: For each street, building frontages must 

define the street space with a coherent building line that relates to existing 

building lines where they form a positive characteristic of the area. 

 

R7.5 

 

R7.6 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Minimum 8 -12 m building line north of Russett Gardens and 20 - 25 m 

building line south of Russett Gardens. 
 

1-2m gap between buildings. 

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 
enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 
height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 

contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

R11.10 

 

R11.11 
 

R11.12 
 

R11.13 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Plot widths of 13 – 17m. 

 

Variety of two storey, detached building forms fronting on to the road. 
 

Common for ancillary garden buildings. 
 

Variety in materials. 

R12 

 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Boundary treatments should be 

designed to contribute positively to the character of the areas and to the 
quality of the public realm.  

 

R12.3 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Front hedge and trees and/or 1m high timber post and rail fence or brick 

wall with 2 - 4m grass verge to highway. 

P2 PARKING 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Parking in residential development 

should aim to accommodate car ownership in a manner that is compatible 

with local character and creating a high quality environment that functions 
well. It must also include cycle and motorcycle parking. 

 

P2.3 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Parking area within front garden area. 

 

 

  

132



 

TYPOLOGY 4: NORTHBURY AVENUE, ST. JAMES CLOSE, MILTON WAY 

AND RUSCOMBE LANE (FROM NEW ROAD TO THE ROYAL OAK) 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R7 

 

CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: For each street, building frontages must 

define the street space with a coherent building line that relates to existing 

building lines where they form a positive characteristic of the area. 

 

R7.7 
 

R7.8 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Minimum 6 - 7m building line. 
  

2 – 3m gap between buildings. 

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 

enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 
height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 
contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

R11.14 
 

R11.15 
 

R11.16 
 

R11.17 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Plot widths of 12 – 15m with very occasional 20m. 
 

Detached bungalows fronting on to the road. 
 

Roof forms of open gable side or end on. 
 

Variety in materials. 

R12 

 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Boundary treatments should be 

designed to contribute positively to the character of the areas and to the 
quality of the public realm.  

 

R12.4 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Low front hedge and trees or brick wall. 

P2 PARKING 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Parking in residential development 

should aim to accommodate car ownership in a manner that is compatible 
with local character and creating a high quality environment that functions 

well. It must also include cycle and motorcycle parking. 

 

P2.4 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Parking area within front garden area. 

 

 

 

 

133



 

TYPOLOGY 4: NORTHBURY AVENUE, ST. JAMES CLOSE, MILTON WAY AND 

RUSCOMBE LANE (FROM NEW ROAD TO THE ROYAL OAK) PHOTOS 

   

   

   

   
  

134



 

TYPOLOGY 5: PENNFIELDS, MIDDLEFIELDS AND CREST CLOSE 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R7 

 

CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: For each street, building frontages must 

define the street space with a coherent building line that relates to existing 

building lines where they form a positive characteristic of the area. 

 

R7.9 
 

R7.10 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Minimum 6 - 7m building line. 
  

2 – 3m gap between buildings. 

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 

enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 
height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 

contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

 

R11.18 
 

 

R11.19 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Very regular groups of two storey detached, semi-detached or short 

terraces or bungalow building forms in plots of identical specification (width, 

depth and orientation) for that group. 
 

Materials also specific to the group. 

R12 

 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Boundary treatments should be 

designed to contribute positively to the character of the areas and to the 
quality of the public realm.  

 

R12.5 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Much modified front garden areas with some remaining medium hedge or 

timber fence boundaries and the remainder removed for parking spaces. 

R14 OPEN SPACE AND LANDSCAPE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development proposals should provide 

space for and include well designed hard and soft landscape to create a 

high quality setting for new housing that is appropriate to the character of 
the local area. 

R14.1 Wide gaps between and within some building groups to reveal mature trees 

in spaces beyond (notably south of Crest Close, north of Pennfields and 

north of St. Michael’s Court). 

 

  

135



 

TYPOLOGY 5: PENNFIELDS, MIDDLEFIELDS AND CREST CLOSE PHOTOS 

   

  

 

 

TYPOLOGY 6: RUSCOMBE LANE PHOTOS 

   

   

   

136



 

 

  

TYPOLOGY 6: RUSCOMBE LANE 

CODE 

NO. 

DESIGN STANDARD 

R7 

 

CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: For each street, building frontages must 

define the street space with a coherent building line that relates to existing 
building lines where they form a positive characteristic of the area. 

 

R7.11 

 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Buildings lines at different lengths but the Royal Oak and Fern Villas prominent in 

streetscene as they are forward of the common building line.  

R11 

 
 

 
 

CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to create 

street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or enhances, 

existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, height, materials and 
colour), particularly in areas where built form contributes significantly to the local 
character. 

 

R11.20 

 

R11.21 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Variety of primarily detached, two storey building forms on north side. 
 

Variety of plot widths and shapes but front hedges and trees common. 

R12 

 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Boundary treatments should be designed to 

contribute positively to the character of the areas and to the quality of the 
public realm. 

 

R12.6 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Variety of larger plan, taller, commercial buildings on south side set back behind 

taller hedges. 

137



 

TYPOLOGY 7: HIGHGROVE PLACE, RUSSETT GARDENS, WALNUT TREE 

CLOSE, GARRAWAY CLOSE AND ST. MICHAEL’S COURT 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R7 

 

CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: For each street, building frontages must 

define the street space with a coherent building line that relates to existing 

building lines where they form a positive characteristic of the area. 

 

R7.12 
 

R7.13 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Minimum 6 - 7m building line. 
  

2 – 3m gap between buildings. 

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 

enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 
height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 
contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

R11.22 
 

 

R11.23 

 

R11.24 

 

R11.25 

 

R11.26 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Cul-de-sac of a variety of layout forms; inward looking with high 

surveillance but no permeability to wider area. 
 

Mix of detached and semi-detached, two storey buildings. 

 

Variety in plot sizes and shapes though regular building orientation. 

 

Very small rear gardens. 

 

Common palate of building materials distinct to each location. 

R12 

 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Boundary treatments should be 

designed to contribute positively to the character of the areas and to the 
quality of the public realm.  

 

R12.7 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Very small or no front gardens primarily used for off-street parking. 

R14 OPEN SPACE AND LANDSCAPE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development proposals should provide 

space for and include well designed hard and soft landscape to create a 
high quality setting for new housing that is appropriate to the character of 

the local area. 

R14.2 Little public realm landscaping. 

 

 

 

138



 

TYPOLOGY 7: HIGHGROVE PLACE, RUSSETT GARDENS, WALNUT TREE 

CLOSE, GARRAWAY CLOSE AND ST. MICHAEL’S COURT PHOTOS 

   

   

 

  

 

  

  

139



 

TYPOLOGY 8: THE CONSERVATION AREA & CHURCH LANE 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R7 

 

CREATING PLACE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: For each street, building frontages must 

define the street space with a coherent building line that relates to existing 

building lines where they form a positive characteristic of the area. 

 

R7.14 
 

 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Church Lane plots generally regular rectangular of a minimum 10m width 

with clear gaps between buildings, often with mature landscaping forming 

the boundary. 

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 
enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 

height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 
contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

R11.27 
 

 

 

R11.28 

 

R11.29 

 

 

R11.30 

 

R11.31 

 

 

R11.32 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Within Conservation Area, only large, two story detached buildings of rural 

vernacular form set in large plots of a variety of orientations and building 

lines. 
 

Roof forms have a combination of cross, open gabling with tall chimneys 

and very occasional half hips and full dormers. 
 

Ancillary buildings and structures clearly subordinate to main house to the 

side or rear with matching materials and building/roof forms either attached 

or in close proximity to that building. 
 

Predominantly soft orange/red bricks building materials and plain clay tile 

roofing materials. 
 

Church Lane buildings a mix of smaller, two-storey detached and semi-

detached houses with commonly hipped roofs and small chimneys and 

occasional cross, open gabling. 
 

Church Lane either soft orange/red bricks or white render building materials 

and either plain clay tile or Welsh slate roofing materials. 

R12 

 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Boundary treatments should be 

designed to contribute positively to the character of the areas and to the 
quality of the public realm.  

 

R12.8 

 

R12.9 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Plots contained significant mature landscape – trees and hedging - to 

separate buildings and on plot frontages. 
 

Church Lane front boundaries commonly with either low brick walls or post 

and rail timber fencing and shrubbery or hedging. 

R14 OPEN SPACE AND LANDSCAPE 

140



 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development proposals should provide 

space for and include well designed hard and soft landscape to create a 

high quality setting for new housing that is appropriate to the character of 
the local area. 

R14.3 Uninterrupted view of St James the Great Church from remaining village 

green formed by Waltham Road, Southbury Lane and Church Lane. 

 

TYPOLOGY 8: THE CONSERVATION AREA & CHURCH LANE PHOTOS 

   

   

 

Uninterrupted View of the Church from the Church Green 

   

141



 

SITE SPECIFIC DESIGN PRINCIPLES SITE 1 (OFF NEW ROAD): 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 
enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 
height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 

contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

R11.33 

 

R11.34 

 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Four plots of 13m width fronting onto New Road with building forms as per 

New Road code. 

Plot arrangement and depths as per Walnut Tree Close but narrower widths 

of 5 – 6m for a mix of two storey, 2/3 bed detached and semi-detached 

houses. 

R14 OPEN SPACE AND LANDSCAPE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development proposals should provide 

space for and include well designed hard and soft landscape to create a 

high quality setting for new housing that is appropriate to the character of 
the local area. 

R14.4 Retain mature cluster of trees on Northbury Lane boundary and mature trees 

on site 1, retain and bolster northern boundary hedging and create new 

hedging to southern boundary. 

SITE SPECIFIC DESIGN PRINCIPLES SITE 2 (OFF NORTHBURY LANE): 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

R11 

 
 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: New housing should be designed to 

create street scenes with a coherent character, that relates well to, or 
enhances, existing street scenes (in terms of scale, rhythm, proportion, 

height, materials and colour), particularly in areas where built form 
contributes significantly to the local character. 

 

R11.35 

 

 

R11.36 

R11.37 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Five plots of 12m width preferably backing on to Northbury Lane with 

bungalows as per Northbury Avenue code retaining the existing hedge for 

the rear boundaries with tapered rear garden widths to allow for cul-de-sac 

on the front of the site.  

Cul-de-sac access at the northern end of the site. 

Plot arrangement and depths as per Walnut Tree Close with minimum 

separation distances to maintain privacy as set out in the adopted 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide but narrower widths of 5 – 6m for a mix 

of one and two storey, 2/3 bed detached and semi-detached houses. Any 

property adjoining the southern boundary should be bungalows. 

R14 OPEN SPACE AND LANDSCAPE 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development proposals should provide 

space for and include well designed hard and soft landscape to create a 

high quality setting for new housing that is appropriate to the character of 
the local area. 

142



 

R14.4 Retain hedging on northern and southern boundaries. 

 

Trees to be retained on the Southern boundary of Site 1 

  

 

Trees to be retained on the Northern boundary of Site 2 

   

143



 

GENERAL DESIGN PRINCIPLES 

CODE NO. DESIGN STANDARD 

G1 

 

CONTEXT AND CHARACTER 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development must respond positively 

to its site and local context, including; 

• Topography and orientation of the site; 

• Existing natural and landscape features of value, including the 

countryside, the Green Belt, mature trees, hedges and field 
patterns, ponds, rivers and wetlands etc; 

• Heritage assets and their settings, for instance archaeological 
features, listed buildings, historic parks and gardens and 
conservation areas; 

• The local settlement pattern and network of routes; and 
• Neighbouring properties. 

 

G1.1 

 
 

 

G1.2 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Any upper-floor window located in a wall forming a side elevation of the 

building and facing a boundary with a neighbouring building should be 

obscure-glazed and non-opening unless the window is more than 1.7m 

above the floor of the room in which the window is installed. 
 

Front and rear garden side boundaries should be of timber fencing and/or 

hedging. 

G2 

 
 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development must create a sense of 

place that responds positively to the character of the local area in terms of 

urban design, architecture, landscape and public realm qualities. 

 

G2.1 

 

G2.2 

 

 

G2.3 

 

 
 

G2.4 

 

 

G2.5 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Refuse storage for 3 x wheelie bins should be provided to the side or rear of 

the building only. 
 

Chalet bungalow building forms should have a dormer roof with either full or 

half dormer windows (with only one window per dormer) that shall be 

subordinate in scale to the roof form and to the ground floor windows. 
 

Frontages should comprise turfed or ornamental gardens and any hard 

surface must either be made of porous materials, or provision made to 

direct run-off water from the hard surface to a permeable or porous area or 

surface within the plot. 
 

Garage buildings may be integral to the building form or detached but must 

be subordinate in scale, located behind the main building line and be of 

the same built and roof form and materials as the main building. 
 

The redevelopment or subdivision of a plot shall not result in a plot frontage 

width that is less than the minimum prescribed in the Area code nor in a 

building that does not front on to a road. 

 

 

144



 

G3 

 

CONNECTION AND ACCESSIBILITY 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development proposals should where 

possible create, or add to, a connected network for movement that is easy 

to navigate, safe and comfortable to use, for all modes of transport. In 
particular, design should promote walking and cycling, and public transport 

access. 

 

G3.1 

 

G3.2 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

Each home shall have two secure cycle spaces/storage unit provided 

within the plot at the front or to the side of the dwelling.  
 

New roads shall incorporate a new footway of 2m width on at least one side 

of the road and to allow for the continuation of any existing footpath or 

cycle way. 

G8 ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 

Wokingham Borough Design Guide: Development proposals should 

minimise their environmental impact and, where mitigation is necessary, this 

should be designed into proposals as a positive feature, wherever possible. 

 

G8.1 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

The height of any external chimney, flue, soil or vent pipe, or other structure 

for renewable energy generation, should not exceed the highest part of the 

roof of the building by more than 1 metre.   

G9 Wokingham Borough Design Guide: The layout and design of development 

proposals should contribute towards climate change mitigation, in 

particular by minimising energy and water consumption. 

 

G9.1 

 

G9.2 

 

 

G9.3 

 
 

G9.4 

Ruscombe Housing Design Code Requirements: 

All new trees (except Fruit trees) shall be of a species and shall be properly 

planted and maintained to reach a minimum of 15m height within 25 years. 
 

In determining if a development will lead to the loss of any mature trees or 

hedges, the presence of any mature trees or hedges that have been 

removed within five years prior to the application will be taken into account. 
 

Where the loss of any existing mature trees or hedges is unavoidable then 

the landscape scheme shall provide for a like for like replacement within 

the plot. 
 

Each home shall have at least one electric vehicle charging point. 

145



 

 

 

The Conservation Area and Church Lane 

146



 

APPENDIX B – BUILDINGS OF LOCAL HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE 

This list identifies candidate buildings worthy of local listing by virtue of their historical / architectural 

character (including position in the street scene). The list does not include buildings which have 

statutory listing. 

Criteria taken from Wokingham Borough Councils Buildings of Traditional Local Character Policy. 

Key Criterion Description 

A Age The age of a building may be an important criterion and the age 
range can be adjusted to take into account distinctive local 

characteristics 

R Rarity Appropriate for all buildings, as judged against local characteristics 

AV Aesthetic 

Value 

The intrinsic design value of a building relating to local styles, 

materials or any other distinctive local characteristics 

GV Group Value Groupings of buildings with a clear visual, design or historic 

relationship 

EV Evidential 

Value 

The significance of a local building of any kind may be enhanced 
by a significant contemporary or historic written record 

HA Historic 

Association 

The significance of a local building of any kind may be enhanced 
by a significant historical association of local or national note, 

including links to important local figures 

AI Archaeological 

Interest 

This may be an appropriate reason to designate a locally 
significant building on the grounds of archaeological interest if the 

evidence base is sufficiently compelling and if a distinct area can 

be identified 

DI Designed 

Landscapes 

Relating to the interest attached to locally important designed 

landscapes, parks and gardens 

LS Landmark 

Status 

A building with strong communal or historical associations, or 

because it has especially striking aesthetic value, may be singled 
out as a landmark within the local scene 

SCV Social and 

Communal 

Value 

Relating to places perceived as a source of local identity, 

distinctiveness, social interaction and coherence; often residing in 
intangible aspects of heritage contributing to the “collective 

memory” of a place 

 

  

147



 

i. Ruscombe Cottage, Ruscombe Lane: previously named Elm Cottage, dates from around 

1760, this double fronted timber and brick built detached house with hipped roof and 

segmented arched windows is set just back from the road and is just inside the boundary of 

Ruscombe using traditional red bricks and plain clay tiles. This property was once owned by 

Gilbert Welch Barker (1906 – 66) an art historian and novelist, young brother of Miss Effie 

Barker (1912 – 97) Master or joint Master of the Garth Hunt for thirty years, the Barkers were a 

notable local family and once owned Stanlake House and Park. Source: 

https://landedfamilies.blogspot.com/2019/08/388-barker-of-stanlake-park.html). 

 

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, & SCV. 

 

 

  

148

https://landedfamilies.blogspot.com/2019/08/388-barker-of-stanlake-park.html


 

 

ii. The Royal Oak, Ruscombe Lane: dates from around 1840. This double fronted, whitewashed, 

detached property with a hipped roof and double chimneys is a public house and set very 

close to the road. This property is listed as a Public House as far back as 1881 and remains as 

a Public House to the current day. This property was owned by the Johnson family, a notable 

local family. See extracts from the Twyford and Ruscombe Local History Society Journals 

below.  

 

Its (Ruscombe's) only public house, the Royal Oak, was built around 1840 and is one of only a 

few free houses in Berkshire. (Page 132 Twyford and Ruscombe through the Ages (2017) by 

Audrey Curtis) 

 

 

 
Source: 1985 Issue 18 Journal  

 

149



 

 
Source: 1985 Issue 18 Journal  

150



 

 

 
Source: 1985 Issue 18 Journal  

 

151



 

 
Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, LS & SCV. 

 

  

152



 

 

iii. Kiln House, Ruscombe Lane: This double fronted, cherry red brick house built in 1893 stands 

near the entrance to Ruscombe Business Park which is on the site of a former brickyard and 

this house was built with the bricks from the brickyard and has segmental arch windows. 

“Ruscombe brickyard, known as Prior's pit or Cotterell's pit was worked from the 1880’s 

onwards and produced numerous palaeoliths.” Source: 

https://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/Gateway/Results_Single.aspx?uid=MWK1249&resourceI

D=1028  

 

The house was built for the brickyard manager, Mr Powell. This property is written about in 

Twyford and Ruscombe through the Ages (2017) by Audrey Curtis (see extract below). 

 

 

 

153

https://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/Gateway/Results_Single.aspx?uid=MWK1249&resourceID=1028
https://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/Gateway/Results_Single.aspx?uid=MWK1249&resourceID=1028


 

 
Page 67 of Twyford and Ruscombe through the Ages (2017) by Audrey Curtis 

 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, EV, HA, AI, LS & SCV. 

154



 

iv. Penn’s Garden, Stanlake Lane: This house is named after William Penn, (founder of 

Pennsylvania, who lived in Ruscombe Manor House from 1710 to 1718, Ruscombe Manor 

House was demolished in 1830). This large, detached house is set in the middle of a large plot 

in the Greenbelt and within Ruscombe Conservation area, which is situated in one corner of 

a crossroads and borders Stanlake Lane and Waltham Road. Forms part of the “tightly knit 

cottages which cluster around the church (and) are built in the traditional soft orange/red 

bricks and plain clay tiles.” Ruscombe Conservation Area leaflet, 1994 

 

 

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: R, AV, HA, LS & SCV. 

 

 

  

155



 

v. Ruscombe Lodge, Southbury Lane; Ruscombe & Twyford’s former vicarage, built in 1868.This 

is a large, detached house set in the Ruscombe Conservation Area and Greenbelt. The 

house features segmented arch windows and pointed arch porchway to the front door. 

Forms part of the “tightly knit cottages which cluster around the church (and) are built in the 

traditional soft orange/red bricks and plain clay tiles.” Ruscombe Conservation Area leaflet, 

1994. See also extract from the Twyford and Ruscombe Local History Society Journals below. 

 

 
Source: 1988 Issue 23 Journal   

 

 
Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, LS & SCV.  

156



 

vi. Ruscombe Grange, Church Lane: originally named Rostrevor, built for the Rev. Sidney 

Macartney the Vicar of Ruscombe, in 1905. Rostrevor was designed by Rev. Macartneys 

brother, Sir Meryn Macartney, Principal Architect for St Pauls Cathedral. Ruscombe Grange 

has row lock window arches is set in the long-established Conservation area of the village 

around the medieval church of St James the Great and is in the Greenbelt. Forms part of the 

“tightly knit cottages which cluster around the church (and) are built in the traditional soft 

orange/red bricks and plain clay tiles.” Ruscombe Conservation Area leaflet, 1994. See also 

extract from the Twyford and Ruscombe Local History Society Journals below. 

 

  
Source: 1988 Issue 23 Journal   

157



 

 

 
Source: 1988 Issue 23 Journal   

 

 
Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, LS & SCV. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

158



 

vii. Holme Cottage, Ruscombe Lane: This property originally built for Rev, Macartney’s gardener 

in 1905. This house features row lock arch windows and has been extended many times and 

is now a large detached house with double open gabled roof and is set close to the road in 

the Ruscombe Conservation area and Greenbelt. Forms part of the “tightly knit cottages 

which cluster around the church (and) are built in the traditional soft orange/red bricks and 

plain clay tiles.” Ruscombe Conservation Area leaflet, 1994. See also extract from the Twyford 

and Ruscombe Local History Society Journals below. 

 

  
Source: 1988 Issue 23 Journal   

 

159



 

 
Source: 1988 Issue 23 Journal   

 

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, LS & SCV. 

 

160



 

viii. Rosebrook, Waltham Road: built in 1910 for Rev. Macartney’s brother-in-law. This large house 

with row lock arch windows is set back from the road and is in the Ruscombe Conservation 

area and Greenbelt. Forms part of the “tightly knit cottages which cluster around the church 

(and) are built in the traditional soft orange/red bricks and plain clay tiles.” Ruscombe 

Conservation Area leaflet, 1994. See also extract from the Twyford and Ruscombe Local 

History Society Journals below. 

 

  
Source: 1988 Issue 23 Journal   

 

161



 

 
Source: 1988 Issue 23 Journal   

 

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, LS & SCV. 

 

 

162



 

ix. Southbury Farm, Southbury Lane. This double fronted house with segmented arch windows 

and double open gabled roof is set back from the road, in the Greenbelt. “The estate of 

Ruscombe had belonged to the cathedral of old Sarum in 1091, in 1535 the estate was 

divided into Ruscombe Northbury and Ruscombe Southbury. Northbury farmhouse just north 

of the conservation area, has been the former manor house and is of sixteenth century origin. 

There had also been a manor house at Southbury, but this was demolished in the nineteenth 

century. The name Southbury has been retained at Southbury Farm.” Ruscombe 

Conservation Area leaflet, 1994. 

 

 

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, LS & SCV. 

 

  

163



 

 

x. Lake Cottage, Southbury Lane: This property was built in 1496, it was originally a coaching inn 

where horses were changed and rested, and travellers to London took a ferry across the lake 

(hence the house name) to the Ferrymans Cottage next door. This house is in the Greenbelt. 

 

The 1987 survey by the East Berkshire Archaeological Society discovered settlements in the 

ground to the east of Twyford and prior to that in 1960, Roman coins had been found by Mr 

Oxlade in the garden of his home at Lake Cottage, Southbury Lane in Ruscombe. (Page 3 

Twyford and Ruscombe through the Ages (2017) by Audrey Curtis) 

 

 

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, LS & SCV. 

 

  

164



 

 

xi. Willow Vale, Castle End Road: This house was once a farmhouse and in 1856 it became a 

dame school. This property features a thatched turret and hipped roof to the main house. 

Willow Vale is located in the Greenbelt. 

 

 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, LS & SCV. 

 

  

165



 

 

xii. Castle End Farm, Castle End Road. 

Castle End Farm is now separated into business and residential premises, this is in the green 

belt and is mentioned in planning as being refused the erection of a mast, refused because 

of the greenbelt. Located near an area of high archaeological potential. See also extract 

from the Twyford and Ruscombe Local History Society Journals below. Mr Louden Cottrell 

who used town and run the brickworks lived here. Source: 

https://www.reading.ac.uk/adlib/Details/collect/12288  

 

 

 
Source: 1983 Issue 13 Journal   

166

https://www.reading.ac.uk/adlib/Details/collect/12288


 

 
Source: 1983 Issue 14 Journal   

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, EV, AI, LS & SCV. 

 

 

  

167



 

xiii. Keeper’s Cottage, Waltham Road: This double fronted, open gabled roof property was 

formerly home to the gamekeeper on the Haines Hill estate and was built in the 16th century. 

It is located in the Greenbelt. 

 

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, LS & SCV. 

 

  

168



 

xiv. Lake Farm, Waltham Road: This timber framed with brink infilled property with a hipped roof 

was built mid-16th Century. This property is located in the Greenbelt and was originally owned 

by farmworkers who harvested thatching reeds from the nearby lake. 

“Lake Farm is a lovely period house dating from the mid-1600s. Usefully unlisted, the property 

was originally occupied by farmworkers who harvested thatching reeds on a nearby lake.” 

Source: https://assets.savills.com/properties/GBHERSHES180017/HES180017_HES18003245.PDF  

 

 

 
 

Criteria applicable and evidenced above: A, R, AV, HA, LS & SCV. 

 

 

169

https://assets.savills.com/properties/GBHERSHES180017/HES180017_HES18003245.PDF


 

 

APPENDIX C – LOCAL GREEN SPACE REPORT 

 

The ten spaces included in this appendix have been assessed using the following four tests 

TEST 1. DOES THE SITE ALREADY HAVE PLANNING PERMISSION, OR HAS IT BEEN 

ALLOCATED FOR DEVELOPMENT IN THE SWDP? 

• The first stage in the assessment will be to review the planning history of each site to ensure that it is 

not subject to an extant planning permission and that it has not been allocated for development 

under the Wokingham Local Plan (WLP). 

• The Local Green Space designation will rarely be appropriate where the land already has 

planning permission for development, or where it has been allocated for development under the 

WLP. 

• An exception to this may be where it can be demonstrated that the Local Green Space 

designation would be compatible with the planning permission / WLP allocation, or where the 

planning permission / WLP allocation is no longer capable of being implemented. 

 

TEST 2. IS THE SITE REASONABLY CLOSE TO THE COMMUNITY IT SERVES? 

• The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that to be designated as a Local Green 

Space an area should be in reasonably close proximity to the community which it serves. Sites which 

are entirely isolated from the community will not be considered. 

• Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) requires that if public access is a key factor, then the Local 

Green Space should normally be within easy walking distance of the community served. As a guide, 

the Parish Council has defined ‘easy walking distance’ as being within 5 minutes’ walking time of the 

nearest settlement boundary. 

• It is recognised that some discretion may be needed depending on the topography of the area, 

the mobility and size of the community, and the size and function of the Local Green Space itself. 

 

TEST 3. IS IT LOCAL IN CHARACTER AND NOT AN EXTENSIVE TRACT OF LAND? 

• The NPPF makes clear that the area to be designated should be local in character and not an 

extensive tract of land. 

• PPG states that blanket designation of open countryside adjacent to settlements is not 

appropriate. 

• Whilst there is no size threshold proposed for an area of Local Green Space, the Parish Council 

considers that any site of more than 10 hectares might reasonably be interpreted as ‘extensive’ or 

‘blanket’. 

 

TEST 4. IS THE SITE DEMONSTRABLY SPECIAL TO THE LOCAL COMMUNITY? 

• The designation of Local Green Space must be based on evidence which demonstrates why the 

area is demonstrably special to the local community and holds a particular local significance. To 

pass this test, an area must be demonstrably special and locally significant in one of the following 

categories. 

• Beauty – This relates to the visual attractiveness and aesthetic value of the site, and its contribution 

to the streetscape, landscape, character or setting of a settlement. To qualify, the site should 

170



 

contribute significantly to local character, for example by defining a sense of place, or by helping to 

define the physical form of a settlement. 

• Historic significance – This relates to the historic importance a site holds for the local community. 

This could be because it contributes to the setting of a heritage asset or some other locally valued 

landmark. It might be because the site holds cultural associations which are of particular 

significance to the local community. Where the site is already protected by a designation (e.g. 

AONB), consideration should be given as to whether any additional benefit would result from 

designation as Local Green Space. 

• Recreational value – Sites would need to hold local significance for recreation and be important 

to the community for particular recreation activity or range of activities. These could be formal or 

informal activities. 

• Tranquillity – In order to qualify, the site would need to be viewed by local people as important for 

the tranquillity it provided, offering a place for reflection and peaceful enjoyment. 

• Richness of wildlife – A site would need to be locally significant for wildlife in a way that could be 

demonstrated. It might, for example, home to species or habitats of principal importance, veteran 

trees, or locally characteristic plants and animals such as mistletoe. Where the site is already 

protected by a designation (e.g. SSSI), consideration should be given as to whether any additional 

benefit would result from designation as Local Green Space. 

• Other reason – Sites might be special and locally significant for reasons other than those identified 

above. For example, a site might make a particular contribution to defining the individual character 

of a settlement, or it might be an asset of community value. 

 

Ruscombe Wood and Pond 

Map i 

Location Castle End Road 

Designation Greenbelt 

Current use Ruscombe Wood and pond is a very old 

wood and pond 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 

LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 
settlement 

Outskirts of Conservation area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 

of land? 

Local  222,490ft2/5.11 acre 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 

particular local significance (beauty, historic 

significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 
richness of wildlife, other) 

Beauty – Ruscombe Wood and pond is very 

beautiful and very much provides 
character to the area. The network of small 

ponds is a fine feature of the Ruscombe 

landscape. 

Historic Significance – This wood and pond 

are very old, they are clearly visible on the 

1910 OS Map. 

Recreational value – Ruscombe wood is 

enjoyed by many people of all ages for 
informal activities. The wood and pond are 

looked after by a group of volunteers. 

Tranquillity – The wood offers a very 

important space for reflection and peaceful 

enjoyment, it is very tranquil. 

171



 

Richness of wildlife – Ruscombe wood is 

home to many different species of wildlife 

including Stag Beetles and Great Crested 
Newt and some important and rare species 

of orchid, the Common Spotted Orchid, the 

Twayblade and the Helleborine. 
 

See also Ruscombe Parish short wildlife 

walks (link). 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

 

   

   

 

Castle End Road Pond 

Map  ii 

Location Castle End Road 

Designation Greenbelt 

Current use Castle End Road Pond is a natural pond  

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 

LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 
settlement 

Outskirts of the Conservation area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 

of land? 

Local 7252ft2/0.17 acre 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 

particular local significance (beauty, historic 

significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 
richness of wildlife, other) 

Beauty – It is very beautiful and very much 

provides character to the area. The network 
of small ponds is a fine feature of the 

Ruscombe landscape. 

Historic Significance – This pond is visible on 

the historical Map of Ruscombe on page 

15. 

172

https://ruscombeparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Ruscombe-Parish-Short-Wildlife-Walks.pdf


 

Recreational Value – This pond is 

maintained by an organised group of 

volunteers (link). 

Richness of wildlife – The Great Crested 

Newts live in the Ruscombe ponds along 

with many other species of wildlife.  See also 
Sundew Ecology Reports Appendix D. 

 

See also Ruscombe Parish short wildlife 
walks (link). 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

  

Crossroads pond 

Map iii 

Location At the crossroads of Stanlake Lane and 
Waltham Road 

Designation None 

Current use This is a natural pond 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 

LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 
settlement 

In a residential area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 

of land? 

Local 5,029ft2/0.12 acre 

 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 

particular local significance (beauty, historic 

significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 
richness of wildlife, other) 

Beauty – It is very beautiful and very much 

provides character to the area. The network 

of small ponds is a fine feature of the 
Ruscombe landscape. 

Historic Significance – This pond is visible on 

the Historic map of Ruscombe on page 15. 

Recreational Value – This pond is 

maintained by an organised group of 
volunteers (link). 

Richness of wildlife – The Great Crested 

Newts live in the Ruscombe ponds along 

with many other species of wildlife. 

173

https://www.econetreading.org.uk/photos/CastleEndPondOctober2022.html
https://ruscombeparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Ruscombe-Parish-Short-Wildlife-Walks.pdf
https://www.econetreading.org.uk/photos/RuscombeStanlakePondSeptember2018.html


 

 
See also Ruscombe Parish short wildlife 

walks (link). 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

  

 

New Road Pond 

Map iv 

Location New Road 

Designation Greenbelt 

Current use Natural pond 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 

LP allocation 

Yes, suggested site but not yet allocated 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 

settlement 

Opposite a Residential area adjacent to New 

Road  

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 
of land? 

Local 8,974ft2/0.21 acre  

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 

particular local significance (beauty, historic 
significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 

richness of wildlife, other) 

Beauty – It is very beautiful and very much 

provides character to the area. The network of 

small ponds is a fine feature of the Ruscombe 

landscape. 

Recreational Value – This pond is maintained by an 

organised group of volunteers (link).  

Richness of wildlife – The Great Crested Newts live 

in the Ruscombe ponds along with many other 

species of wildlife. In July 2021 local volunteers 
transformed an area previously covered with 

bramble into a wildflower bank teaming with 

butterflies and other insects.  

174

https://ruscombeparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Ruscombe-Parish-Short-Wildlife-Walks.pdf
https://www.econetreading.org.uk/photos/PhotoIndexSite0134.html


 

 
© Dave Barks (link) 

“Species records show a historical presence of 
some now-uncommon farmland birds, and plants 

associated with woodland and wet-grassland. 

Species are likely to be significantly under-
recorded…. Woodland will be home to a 

considerable variety of wildlife. Birds will find plenty 

of opportunities to nest in hollow trees and dense 
scrub, butterflies will flit along open, flower-rich 

rides, and spring flowers will carpet the ground – 

taking advantage of clearings in the wood.” See 
Sundew Ecology Reports Appendix D. 

 

Historical significance – The pond forms part of a 

network of old ponds in the parish that were 

probably used by drovers moving their flocks and 
herds through the village and also serving the local 

osier industry that ceased after the Second World 

War. The amphibians that inhabit the ponds 
require rough grass, logs and scattered trees 

around the pond edges. Source: link 

 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

 

Church Lane Allotments 

Map v 

Location Church Lane 

Designation Greenbelt and Conservation area 

Current use Allotments 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 
LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 
settlement 

Next to the church in the conservation area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 

of land? 

Local 14,477 ft2/0.33 acre 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 

particular local significance (beauty, historic 
Recreational Value – Allotments are very 

important for the people who hire them. 

175

https://www.econetreading.org.uk/photos/RuscombeNewRoadJuly2021.html
https://ruscombeparishcouncil.co.uk/local-history/


 

significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 
richness of wildlife, other) 

 
See also Ruscombe Parish short wildlife 

walks (link). 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

  

 

Church Green 

Map vi 

Location Between Southbury Lane and Waltham 

Road 

Designation Greenbelt and conservation area 

Current use Open Space 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 

LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 

settlement 

Next to the church in the conservation area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 
of land? 

Local 25,695ft2/0.59 acre 
 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 

particular local significance (beauty, historic 
significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 

richness of wildlife, other) 

Beauty – This land is very beautiful, it 

contributes to the openness, beauty and 

character of the area. 

Recreational value – This space is very 

important for informal and formal activities, 

it is used for relaxation and reflection as well 

as organised exercise classes. 
Tranquillity – This space is very tranquil and 

very important for reflection and relaxation 

Richness of Wildlife – The land has some 

large and well established trees, home to 

many wildlife species 

Historical significance – This land dates 

back to the 16th Century known as 
Ruscombe Green, this land was used for 

social events and is clearly visible on the 

Historical map of Ruscombe on page 15. 
 

See also Ruscombe Parish short wildlife 

walks (link). 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

176

https://ruscombeparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Ruscombe-Parish-Short-Wildlife-Walks.pdf
https://ruscombeparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Ruscombe-Parish-Short-Wildlife-Walks.pdf


 

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

 

   

  

 

 

Crossroads land 

Map  vii 

Location Crossroads of Stanlake Lane, Waltham 
Road, Ruscombe Lane and New Road 

Designation Greenbelt 

Current use Open Space 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 

LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 
settlement 

In the residential area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 

of land? 

Local 4,437ft2/0.1 acre and publicly 

accessible 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 

particular local significance (beauty, historic 

significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 
richness of wildlife, other) 

Beauty – This land contributes to the 

openness of this area. 

Recreational value – The area continues to 

act as a meeting place for local people 

with the Parish Council notice board, 
planter and bench installed in this location.  

Historical Significance – This area was 

historically used for community gatherings 

and is clearly visible on the Historical Map of 

Ruscombe on page 15. 
 

177



 

See also Ruscombe Parish short wildlife 
walks (link). 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

  

   

 

Pennfields Park 

Map viii 

Location Pennfields 

Designation None 

Current use Play area 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 

LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 

settlement 

In the residential area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 
of land? 

Local 11,073ft2/0.25 acre 
 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 

particular local significance (beauty, historic 
significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 

richness of wildlife, other) 

Recreational Value – This park is important 

to the families and children in the 

Neighbourhood. 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

178

https://ruscombeparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Ruscombe-Parish-Short-Wildlife-Walks.pdf


 

 

London Road Land 

Map ix 

Location London Road 

Designation None 

Current use Open Space 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 

LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 
settlement 

In the residential area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 
of land? 

Local 16,609ft2/0.39 acre and publicly 
accessible 

 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 
particular local significance (beauty, historic 

significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 

richness of wildlife, other) 

Recreational value – An informal orchard 

has been planted on this land. 

 

Richness of Wildlife – “There are 

approximately 17km of hedges in 

Ruscombe Parish. These are likely to be of 
varying quality, with the best ones being 

continuous, bushy and allowed to grow 

flowers and fruit. Although seemingly less 
important for wildlife than undeveloped 

areas, urban habitats like gardens and 

parks can provide important spaces for 
wildlife, often better than intensively farmed 

agricultural land. If allowed to have wilder 

areas, parks can provide niches for wildlife 
that may be absent from the wider 

countryside. Many of the road verges and 

179



 

green open spaces will be dominated by 
long, flower-rich vegetation for much of the 

year. This creates a network of wildlife 

‘corridors’ linking hedgerows, woodlands 
and other natural areas and allowing plants 

and animals to spread across the parish. 

These areas will be attractive to the 
residents and will be sited to not cause a 

danger to road users.” See Sundew Ecology 

Reports in Appendix D. 

 

Other reason – This land provides space and 

a feeling of separation along a very busy 

road.  

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

 

Pennfields Orchard 

Map x 

Location Pennfields, opposite 63 to 67 

Designation None 

Current use Community Orchard 

Test 1: existing planning permission or WBC 
LP allocation 

No 

Test 2: distance to edge of nearest 

settlement 

In the residential area 

Test 3: Local in character or extensive tract 

of land? 

Local 3,901ft2/0.09 acre 

180



 

Test 4: demonstrably special & holds a 
particular local significance (beauty, historic 

significance, recreation value, tranquillity, 

richness of wildlife, other) 

Other reasons – Ruscombe Parish Council 

have recently created a community 

orchard on this land. 

Landowner Consultation Yes  

Landowner support/objection No objection 

Recommendation Recommend for designation 

 

 

 

181



 

 

APPENDIX D – RUSCOMBE BIODIVERSITY & GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ELEMENTS 

 

182



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

	
Ruscombe	Parish	Neighbourhood	Plan	
 

Biodiversity	and	Green	
Infrastructure	elements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Client: Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan Group 
Ref  RNPG1 (1.0) 
Alex Cruickshank MSc MCIEEM, Ecologist and Conservation Manager, 
Sundew Ecology. 
www.SundewEcology.co.uk 
alex@SundewEcology.co.uk 
07717291572 
 

183



Page 2 

1	 Summary	..........................................................................................................	3	

2	 Introduction	.....................................................................................................	3	

3	 Description	of	Ruscombe	Parish’s	Biodiversity	..................................................	3	
3.1	 General ............................................................................................................... 3	
3.2	 Protected sites .................................................................................................... 4	
3.3	 Habitats ............................................................................................................... 5	

3.3.1	 Farmed land ................................................................................................. 5	
3.3.2	 Streams ........................................................................................................ 5	
3.3.3	 Parkland ....................................................................................................... 6	
3.3.4	 Woodland ..................................................................................................... 6	

3.4	 Species ............................................................................................................... 7	

4	 Appendices	.......................................................................................................	9	
4.1	 Plan of Protected Sites ........................................................................................ 9	
4.2	 Plan of Habitats ................................................................................................. 10	
 	

184



Page 3 

1 Summary	
Ruscombe Parish is a predominantly rural parish with arable and livestock 
farming. A number of areas of woodland are present, and a stream crosses 
the parish. 
Some of these habitats are considered to be ‘priority habitats’ and four areas 
are designated as Local Wildlife Sites. 
Species records show a historical presence of some now-uncommon 
farmland birds, and plants associated with woodland and wet-grassland. 
Species are likely to be significantly under-recorded. 

2 Introduction	
This document provides information about the biodiversity of Ruscombe 
Parish, for the production of a Neighbourhood Plan. 
The following were undertaken to compile this report: 

• A desktop study to identify biodiversity data relevant to Ruscombe 
Parish in the public domain. 

• Mapping of relevant features (hedges and woodland) visible on aerial 
photography. 

• A standard Neighbourhood Plan data request from the Thames Valley 
Environmental Records Centre. 

• Interpretation of the collated data. 

3 Description	of	Ruscombe	Parish’s	Biodiversity	

3.1 General	

The protection of biodiversity in the UK is based upon the statutory 
designation of areas of land (sites) and the identification of vulnerable 
species, both of which are subject to certain restrictions. 
In addition, certain habitats (areas of land with similar vegetation types, and 
therefore similar fauna) are identified as ‘Priority Habitats’. These are not 
necessarily given any protection, but more effort and resources may be 
devoted to them. 
Biodiversity can also be protected indirectly by other legislation aimed at 
controlling planning, such as regulations associated with Green Belt. 
The parish’s geology is diverse. The north of the parish is chalk; the centre, 
east and south are clay, silt, sand and gravels; and, to the west, the chalk is 
overlain with riverine sands and gravel. 

185



Page 4 

Ruscombe is a rural parish, with approximately 40 hectares of the 520-
hectare parish having been developed. The remainder is predominantly 
farmland – mostly arable but with pasture on either side of the Twyford Brook. 
A number of blocks of woodland are present in the parish. These are mostly 
relatively recent planting or natural generation, but some woodland is 
considered ‘ancient’. 
The Twyford Brook flows across Ruscombe Parish, adding further potential 
biodiversity interest.  

3.2 Protected	sites	

See appendix 1 for a plan showing protected sites. 
Ruscombe Parish does not contain any statutory designated sites (Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) or European Designated Sites), which 
would offer legal protection to the area. 
The nearest SSSI is ‘Lodge Wood & Sandford Mill’, approximately two 
kilometres to the southwest. 
The nearest European designated site is ‘Windsor Forest and Great Park 
Special Area of Conservation’ some eight kilometres to the east. 
There are no National Nature Reserves or Local Nature Reserves within 
the Parish. The nearest Local Nature Reserves are ‘Lavell’s Lake’ and ‘Alder 
Moors’, two and a half kilometres to the south west. 
Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) are a local designation, identified and surveyed 
by the Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre (TVERC). Although 
there is no statutory protect for these sites, there may be an assumption 
against development in the local plan, and resources may be available for 
proactive habitat management. More detail is available in the TVERC report. 
There are four LWSs in Ruscombe Parish, covering 17ha of land. 
Much of the Parish is included in the ‘Waltham to Binfield Woodland and 
Parklands’ Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA). BOAs are landscape scale 
areas that have been identified as supporting high concentrations of priority 
habitats and species populations, and have the potential for habitat 
restoration at a landscape scale. These areas act as a focus for targeting 
resources into habitat management and restoration. 
The whole of the Parish, except the urban area to the west of New Road is 
designated as Green Belt. This is primarily a planning tool, which has little 
impact on biodiversity apart from influencing the location and scale of 
development. 

186



Page 5 

3.3 Habitats	

See appendix 2 for a plan showing relevant habitats. 
There are 62 areas of ‘Priority Habitat’ totalling 45.6ha in Ruscombe Parish. 
All but two of these are ‘Broadleaved Woodland’, the remainder being 
‘Lowland Meadow’. The following habitats are found in Ruscombe Parish: 

3.3.1 Farmed	land	

Arable 
Growing crops is the biggest land use (c50%) in Ruscombe Parish. This is 
likely to be poor for wildlife. The fields are likely to be plant monocultures with 
few resources to support a diverse flora or fauna. Arable land can be 
improved for wildlife with good quality margins and hedgerows. 
Pasture 
Grassland for animal pasture covers approximately 40% of the Parish, mostly 
each side of the Twyford Brook, presumably on the areas that are prone to 
waterlogging. Good pasture management can be beneficial for wildlife, with a 
species-rich sward supporting a diverse fauna. 
One field within the Parish has been identified as a Priority Habitat: Lowland 
Meadow. It is likely that this field has not received as many inputs (fertiliser 
and herbicide) or been ploughed for many years, resulting in a species-rich 
grassland. This field is also designated as a Local Wildlife Site (Grassland 
Opposite Blackthorn Farm) 
Hedgerows 
Good quality hedges provide a wide range of resources for wildlife throughout 
the year: cover for nesting and moving through an otherwise open landscape; 
food in the form of pollen, nectar, berries and foliage; shade and shelter from 
the wind. 
There are approximately 17km of hedges in Ruscombe Parish. These are 
likely to be of varying quality, with the best ones being continuous, bushy and 
allowed to grow flowers and fruit. 
Funding is available to encourage landowners to manage their land to benefit 
the environment. The primary scheme for this is Environmental Stewardship 
(ES). There are currently no ES schemes running in Ruscombe Parish. 

3.3.2 Streams	

Watercourses can be valuable places for wildlife, depending on their 
‘naturalness’, water quality and adjacent land management. 
The Twyford Brook is the main watercourse in Ruscombe Parish, with a 
length of 3700m within the boundary. This watercourse is likely to be affected 
by runoff of pollution from nearby urban and arable landscapes, but it appears 

187



Page 6 

to be ‘buffered’ by pasture and scrub land, which can act to reduce the 
impact. 

3.3.3 Parkland	

Stanlake Park, in the south west of the Parish has been identified as Parkland 
on the ‘Wood Pasture and Parkland’ register. Parkland an area that is 
managed by grazing but allowing the survival of multiple generations of trees, 
with at least some veteran trees or shrubs, and being associated with a 
stately home and ‘designed’ landscape. 
This habitat is normally associated with veteran trees and may have species-
rich grassland. There is 30.6ha of registered parkland in Ruscombe Parish. 

3.3.4 Woodland	

Ancient Woodland 
Good-quality woodlands are likely to support more wildlife than any other 
habitat, and Ancient Woodland (older than 1600) being the most diverse, is 
likely to support a significant variety of fungi, birds, wild flowers and mammals. 
There are four areas of Ancient Woodland, mapped on the national register, 
within Ruscombe Parish, totalling 14ha. They are Botany Bay Copse, Middle 
Copse and Wingwood Copse to the south of the Parish and an unnamed 
wood on Castle End Farm to the north. 
Plantation and recent woodland 
The remainder of the woodland in the Parish is likely to be more recent than 
1600, having been either planted or allowed to generate naturally since then. 
This woodland is unlikely to be as species-rich as the Ancient Woodland. 
There are about 35 blocks of non-ancient woodland within the Parish, 
covering an area of 53ha. Some of these are considered Priority Habitat, as 
they are broadleaved woodland. 
Urban habitats 
Approximately 40ha of Ruscombe Parish is taken with urban land, a 
combination of residential, industrial and farm units. 
Although seemingly less important for wildlife than undeveloped areas, urban 
habitats like gardens and parks can provide important spaces for wildlife, 
often better than intensively farmed agricultural land. 
Gardens and parks can be home to widespread, but increasingly uncommon 
mammals like hedgehogs and shrews, amphibians and reptiles like slow 
worms and frogs, and garden birds. If allowed to have wilder areas, parks can 
provide niches for wildlife that may be absent from the wider countryside. 

188



Page 7 

Summary of habitats in Ruscombe Parish: 

 Count Area or length 

Ruscombe Parish 1 523 ha 

Ancient Woodland 4 14ha 

Agriculture – arable  Approx. 250ha 

Agriculture – pasture  Approx 200ha 

Non-ancient woodland 35 53ha 

Watercourses 1 3700m 

Priority Habitat – Broadleaved Woodland 
(includes ancient and non-ancient) 61 45ha 

Priority Habitat – Lowland Meadow 1 1ha 

Hedgerow Approx. 70 1700m 

Parkland 1 30ha 

Urban area   Approx 40ha 

 

3.4 Species	

See the separate report from TVERC for complete species records. 
The Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre (TVERC) collects and 
distributes records of wild species in the area. Its records are by no means 
exhaustive, but they do provide an indication of the types of plant and animal 
that are present in an area. 
Four species of amphibian and two species of reptiles have been recorded, of 
a possible seven amphibians and six reptiles native to the UK. Those 
recorded in Ruscombe are considered to be ‘widespread’ (although suffering 
national declines in recent years) except the Great Crested Newt, which is a 
European Protected Species. 
48 species of bird have been recorded, although this is likely to be 
considerably higher in actuality. TVERC do not provide an indication of 
whether the birds were breeding or not, so it is difficult to specify the 
significance of a sighting. Of particular note, because of their recent declines, 
are Cuckoo (most recent sighting 2005), Grey Partridge (1984), Tree Sparrow 
(1984) and Turtle Dove (2005). The latter three are considered ‘farmland 
birds’ and have suffered considerable declines through changes to farming 
practices. 
15 species of higher plant have been recorded which, again, is a gross under-
estimate of the likely number of species. The plants that have been recorded 

189



Page 8 

are mostly either woodland plants, such as Bluebell, or wet grassland plants 
like Ragged Robin. 
Three species of invertebrate are recorded, including the UK’s largest species 
of beetle, the Stag Beetle. 
7 species of bat have been recorded in the parish, out of a possible 17 Uk 
species. All of the species in Ruscombe are relatively widespread. 
There are records of four species of mammal, including the heavily protected 
Badger and the European protected Water Vole (last recorded in 2003). 
In summary, the TVERC records show a fairly standard rural flora and fauna, 
with a few exceptional records – Water Vole and Turtle Dove, especially. If 
these species, and others, are present and breeding then their conservation 
will be a positive contribution to the biodiversity of the UK. 
  

190



Page 9 

4 Appendices	

4.1 Plan	of	Protected	Sites	

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

191



Page 10 

4.2 Plan	of	Habitats	

192



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Ruscombe Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Phase 2: Biodiversity and Green 
Infrastructure enhancement opportunities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Client: Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan Group 

Ref  RNPG1 (2.1), December 2020 

Alex Cruickshank MSc MCIEEM, Ecologist and Conservation Manager, 
Sundew Ecology. 

www.SundewEcology.co.uk 

alex@SundewEcology.co.uk 

07717291572 

  

193



 

Page 2 

 

1 Summary ....................................................................................................... 3 

2 Introduction .................................................................................................. 3 

3 General principles ......................................................................................... 3 

4 Sites of high wildlife value ............................................................................. 4 

5 Recommended projects to enhance biodiversity ............................................ 5 

5.1 Promote improved hedgerow management across the parish........................ 5 

5.2 Promote the recruitment of young trees in parkland habitat. .......................... 7 

5.3 Encourage and facilitate landowners to enter a Countryside Stewardship 
Scheme. ........................................................................................................ 7 

5.4 Enhance the natural corridor to the south of Castle End Business Park. ........ 8 

5.5 Enhance the natural corridor heading north from Castle End Road. ............ 10 

5.6 Promote the appropriate maintenance of ditches across the parish to benefit 
Water Voles. ................................................................................................ 11 

5.7 Promote a ‘wildlife friendly gardening scheme’ to residents. ........................ 12 

5.8 Enhance the wildlife value of the many ponds across the parish. ................. 13 

5.9 Promote appropriate management of the woodlands, especially ancient 
woodland, across the parish. ....................................................................... 14 

5.10 Monitor the quality of priority grassland habitats and provide advice to 
landowners if required. ................................................................................ 15 

5.11 Manage the verges and communal green spaces to benefit pollinators and 
other species. .............................................................................................. 16 

5.12 Promote a greater understanding of the biodiversity of Ruscombe Parish to its 
residents. ..................................................................................................... 16 

6 References .................................................................................................. 17 

  

194



 

Page 3 

1 Summary 
Thirteen projects that will enhance the biodiversity of Ruscombe Parish by 
making existing wildlife sites ‘bigger, better and more joined’ are identified, 
and a description of each potential project provided. 

These descriptions follow the format of a simple management plan with a 
vision stating the desired state; an evaluation describing the current state; and 
objectives and prescription explaining how the vision might be achieved. 

2 Introduction 
Ruscombe is a very rural parish adjacent to the urban area of Twyford and 
just three kilometres from the outskirts of Reading. Its rural nature means that 
the parish has a high potential for supporting lots of wildlife but its proximity to 
Reading, Maidenhead and ultimately London, puts it at risk from development 
that could damage the wildlife interest. 

This document uses information obtained in the previous report (Biodiversity 
and Green Infrastructure elements) to identify a number of projects that will 
enhance the biodiversity in Ruscombe Parish. 

A walkover survey of the key habitats across the parish was undertaken, and 
further information about the Local Wildlife Sites was obtained from the 
Thames Valley Records Centre. 

3 General principles 
Biodiversity is a measure of the variety of plants, animals and other species 
that are found in an area. High biodiversity normally means that the wildlife is 
resilient and more able to cope with potentially damaging external influences. 

Regular reports by the State of Nature Partnership indicate a dramatic decline 
in the United Kingdom’s biodiversity in recent years. (SoNP, 2019) 

The Government’s review of England’s wildlife sites in 2010, titled ‘Making 
Space for Nature’ recommended that, in order to halt and reverse the decline 
in the country’s biodiversity, wildlife sites need to be ‘bigger, better and 
joined’. (Lawton, 2010) 

This means that areas that are already good for wildlife need to be managed 
to make them even better, opportunities should be sought to increase their 
size, and wildlife ‘corridors’ or ‘stepping stones’ should be created to allow 
wildlife to migrate between them. 

These measures should allow wildlife to better cope with the human impacts 
of habitat loss, pollution, disturbance and climate change. 

195



 

Page 4 

In Ruscombe Parish, the areas that that are likely to support the most wildlife 
have been designated as Local Wildlife Sites; a non-statutory designation that 
offers some protection against development. 

Any projects that are recommended to benefit biodiversity should focus on 
these Local Wildlife Sites, or other areas of high biodiversity that are 
identified, and should aim to: 

 improve them for wildlife through appropriate management, 
 make them bigger by improving surrounding land for wildlife, 
 and join them together with linear features that are good for wildlife. 

4 Sites of high wildlife value 
The previous report, (Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure elements) 
identified a number of areas with the potential to support a relatively high 
biodiversity: 

 Area or length 

Ancient Woodland 14ha 

Non-ancient woodland 53ha 

Watercourses 3700m 

Priority Habitat – Broadleaved Woodland 
(includes ancient and non-ancient) 

45ha 

Priority Habitat – Lowland Meadow 1ha 

Hedgerow 1700m 

Parkland 30ha 

Urban area  Approx. 40ha 

Ruscombe Parish - total 523 ha 

 

Of these areas, five have been designated as Local Wildlife Sites. It is likely 
that they are the most important sites in Ruscombe Parish for wildlife. 

They are: 

 Ruscombe and Vale Woods 
 Ruscombe Village Pond 
 Windsor Ait 
 Wingwood Copse 
 Grassland Opposite Blackthorn Farm 

  

196



 

Page 5 

5 Recommended projects to enhance biodiversity 
Using the above information and following a site visit with a local expert to the 
areas with the most potential, the following projects have been identified to 
deliver the principles (better, bigger and joined) in the ‘Making Space for 
Nature’ report. 

5.1 Promote improved hedgerow management across the 
parish. 

5.1.1 Vision 

The hedgerows in Ruscombe Parish will provide a wide range of resources for 
wildlife throughout the year: cover for nesting and moving through an 
otherwise open landscape; food in the form of pollen, nectar, berries and 
foliage; shade and shelter from the wind. 

A good quality hedgerow: 

 Is linked to other hedges and woodland across the landscape 
 Is part of a structurally diverse system of hedges 
 Is varied in species composition 
 Is dense and wide 
 Is covered in flowers and fruit 
 Includes some taller trees along its length 
 Has ‘outgrowths’ – sections where a clump of scrub has grown out into 

the field 
 Has dense, tussocky, grassy vegetation directly adjacent to it 
 Has flower-rich margins surrounding it. 

5.1.2 Evaluation 

Many of the hedges seen during the walkover survey do not show the 
features listed above and therefore their potential for supporting wildlife is not 
fully realised. 

Hedges are often ‘over-managed’ by severe annual cutting. This can lead to a 
loss of plant species and the creation of an ‘open’, ‘leggy’ structure that is not 
optimal for wildlife. Very few in-hedgerow trees were seen. 

Some hedges had been recently laid; an excellent, traditional method of 
producing a wildlife-rich hedge. 

197



 

Page 6 

5.1.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 1.1 Make information about best-practise hedgerow 
management available to landowners. 

Lots of information on good hedgerow management is available for 
landowners. Hedgelink (www.hedgelink.org.uk) for example provides a useful 
website. 

All of the qualities of a good hedgerow can be encouraged by managing them 
on an approximately 20-year cycle, following guidance in The Complete 
Hedge Good Management Guide from Hedgelink: 
www.hedgelink.org.uk/cms/cms_content/files/30_complete_good_hedge_man
agement_guide_leaflet.pdf 

All work on hedges should take place in the winter. 

The cycle starts with coppicing, laying or replanting then progresses to a 
rotational cutting regime in which a third of the length of all the hedges are cut 
each year, but allowing the hedge to increase in size by about 10cm each cut. 

Finally, as the cycle nears its end and the hedge begins to get ‘gappy’, the 
hedge should be left to grow for a couple of years and then laid again. 

This management regime can save money over time by reducing the amount 
of cutting required. 

Relevant leaflets could be purchased or printed by the Parish Council and 
provided to landowners or details of the website made available. Individuals 
providing advice should do so with an understanding of the landowner’s 
situation so that advice can be tailored. 

Objective 1.2 Facilitate the traditional management on select 
hedgerows. 

The traditional management of hedges requires skill and experience, and is 
labour-intensive, but it produces a more attractive and wildlife-friendly 
hedgerow. 

Conservation volunteer groups often include individuals who have the skills 
and experience required. They could, with the landowner’s approval, 
undertake hedge laying in appropriate locations. 

  

198



 

Page 7 

5.2 Promote the recruitment of young trees in parkland 
habitat. 

5.2.1 Vision 

Areas of parkland in Ruscombe will have a large number of veteran trees that 
are home to all sorts of beetles and other insects. The pasture below them will 
be flower-rich. There will be patches of scrub through which young trees – the 
future veterans – will grow. 

5.2.2 Evaluation 

Although rich in veteran trees, many areas of parkland suffer from a lack of 
recruitment of younger trees. As the veterans die from disease or drought, 
younger trees are required to ensure the continuity of suitable habitat. 

5.2.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 2.1 Increase the number of young trees in parkland. 

If trees in an area of parkland are of a similar age and there are few younger 
trees growing to take their place in the future, management can be carried out 
to provide replacements. 

In a natural situation, trees tend to grow up protected from grazing by stands 
of thorny scrub. This could be tolerated in areas of parkland but not at the 
expense of the loss of too much grassland. 

In order to ensure the recruitment of trees, new saplings should be 
encouraged to mature. Ideally these should be trees that have set seed 
naturally and are already growing. If suitable specimens can be found, 
scattered across the parkland, they should be protected from grazing or 
mowing by fencing, designed to last at least ten years. Appropriate species 
would be Oak, Beech, Field Maple or Hawthorn. 

Alternatively, if no suitable specimens can be located, trees can be planted. 
These should be sourced from local, native stock to ensure that they are 
disease free and suited to the local environment. Smaller individual trees tend 
to grow better, but will need protective fencing. 

5.3 Encourage and facilitate landowners to enter a 
Countryside Stewardship Scheme. 

5.3.1 Vision 

Landowners in Ruscombe Parish will be paid to provide public benefits, 
including increased biodiversity, natural flood management and improved 
access to the countryside. At least one significant landowner in the parish will 
have entered a government grant scheme. 

199



 

Page 8 

5.3.2 Evaluation 

There are currently no landowners in environmental stewardship schemes 
within the parish. 

These schemes pay landowners, normally farmers, to manage their land in a 
way that will benefit the environment. Most of this money comes from the 
European Union, but the Government has made some assurances that a 
similar scheme will continue after Brexit. 

Many landowners already provide substantial benefits to the environment by 
looking after their land with wildlife in mind. As the profile of biodiversity loss 
and climate change are raised, and the concept of Natural Capital gains 
popularity, it is likely that increased funding will be made available to 
landowners to offset any loss of income caused by their delivery of 
‘ecosystem services’. 

Environmental Stewardship schemes can provide funding for improved 
hedgerow management, provision of wildlife-friendly areas within the farm, 
tree planting and woodland management, for example.  

5.3.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 3.1 One significant landowner in an environmental 
stewardship scheme. 

The complexity of the application process and the five-year commitment often 
discourage landowners from entering the scheme. 

Assistance from an experienced consultant to help choose options and 
complete the application process is often welcomed by the landowner. Advice 
is available from organisations like the Game and Wildlife Conservation Trust, 
FWAG South East, or independent consultants like the author. 

5.4 Enhance the natural corridor to the south of Castle End 
Business Park. 

5.4.1 Vision 

The land adjacent to the bridleway heading south from Castle End Business 
Park will provide a wildlife corridor linking up nearby hedgerows and areas of 
woodland. The pond will be maintained to encourage dragonflies and frogs 
and areas of grassland will become wildflower-rich. 

This will create a pleasant lunchtime walk for people from the business park.  

5.4.2 Evaluation 

This bridleway passes through arable fields with a parallel shallow ditch along 
much of its length. A hedge follows about one third of the route, and there is a 

200



 

Page 9 

small copse containing a pond about halfway along. At the northern end there 
is a patch of scrubby grassland and a few trees. 

It is assumed that the Business Park has control over the grassy area to the 
north, and the farmer is responsible for the land over which the bridleway 
passes. This will need to be confirmed and approval sought from each before 
progressing. 

5.4.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 4.1 Obtain approval for the project from the relevant 
organisation or individuals. 

Members of the parish council are likely to know the relevant landowners, but 
otherwise land registry will be able to provide details. 

Objective 4.2 Plant a hedge along the length of the bridleway, and 
maintain it appropriately. 

The existing hedge can have its gaps filled and extended to link the road to 
the south and the business park to the north. Appropriate species should be 
selected to reflect the plants found in nearby hedges with hawthorn, 
Blackthorn, Elder, Field Maple and Hazel are likely to be suitable. 

There is lots of advice for planting hedgerows here: 
http://www.hedgelink.org.uk/cms/cms_content/files/75_ne_hedgerow_planting
.pdf 

Objective 4.3 Increase the variety of wild flowers in the grassy 
area. 

A similar prescription to Objective 2.2 should be followed here. 

Where areas of bramble are considered to be too extensive, they can be 
reduced in extent through frequent mowing, although bramble is an important 
resource for wildlife and provides an easy introduction to wild foraging. 

Objective 4.4 Increase the diversity in the pond and surrounding 
copse through appropriate management. 

In order to increase the diversity of the vegetation surrounding the pond it can 
be coppiced on rotation, approximately one tenth each year in blocks. This will 
allow more light into the pond, encouraging increased floating and emergent 
vegetation that will, in turn, encourage more aquatic animal species to use the 
pond. 

201



 

Page 10 

5.4.4 Map 

 

5.5 Enhance the natural corridor heading north from Castle 
End Road. 

5.5.1 Vision 

The small strip of woodland to the north of Castle End Road will be carpeted 
with woodland flowers that will begin to spread along the hedges parallel to 
road and the newly planted hedgerow across the fields to the north. The 
ancient Field Maple coppice stools will thrive and the wood will be a refuge for 
a host of wildlife. 

5.5.2 Evaluation 

There is currently a small strip of woodland immediately to the north Castle 
End Road. This is evidently an old trackway heading north: the ground is 
raised, and a row of veteran coppiced Field Maple trees denotes the former 
route. A belt of scrubby Hazel adjacent to the Field Maples has Bluebells 
growing beneath it. 

The meandering former hedge to the north of this woodland is now a row of 
young trees, offering reduced cover to the wildlife that may want to move 
between areas of woodland to the north and south. 

202



 

Page 11 

5.5.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 5.1 Obtain approval for the project from the relevant 
organisation or individuals. 

It is likely that the woodland and hedgerow are owned by the farmer of the 
surrounding fields. Members of the parish council are likely to know the 
relevant landowners, but otherwise land registry will be able to provide details. 

Objective 5.2 Manage the strip of woodland to maximise its 
potential for wildlife. 

Careful, rotational coppicing of small coupes is likely to be beneficial to this 
diminutive woodland. Protection against deer and rabbit browsing will be 
essential to ensure successful regrowth. 

Objective 5.3 Implement a suitable restoration programme for the 
hedgerow to the north of the woodland strip. 

It is likely that this line of trees will require coppicing, gapping-up and 
protection from browsing in order to restore its condition. More information 
can be found here: 

http://www.hedgelink.org.uk/cms/cms_content/files/78_hedgelink_a5_12pp_le
aflet_7.pdf 

5.5.4 Map – see map for Project 5. 

5.6 Promote the appropriate maintenance of ditches across 
the parish to benefit Water Voles. 

5.6.1 Vision 

A network of the ditches across the parish will be suitable for a Water Vole 
reintroduction programme. 

They will have species-rich, tall emergent and bankside vegetation. The 
American Mink population will be reduced and disturbance through 
inappropriate management will be kept to a minimum. 

5.6.2 Evaluation 

There is an extensive network of ditches and streams across the parish. 
Some of these are a remnant of the huge Ruscombe Lake that was drained in 
1820. The wetlands surrounding Windsor Ait may also offer restoration 
potential. 

Water Voles are likely to have become extinct from the Parish before 2012 
when they were last recorded in nearby Hurst. They require tall vegetation on 
which to feed, plenty of water in the ditches and banks suitable for burrowing. 

203



 

Page 12 

American Mink, now common across the wetlands of England, are a major 
predator of Water Voles, so some control may be desirable. 

The vegetation adjacent to many of the ditches seen in Ruscombe Parish was 
closely mown making them unsuitable for Water Voles, although the area was 
visited in winter and mowing may have been recently undertaken. 

5.6.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 6.1 Increase the extent of vegetation suitable for Water 
Voles. 

Water Voles feed on vegetation adjacent to slow-moving waterways. They 
need tall vegetation in which to hide and dig their burrows. Leaving a strip of 
unmown vegetation along ditches may encourage Water Voles to increase 
their extent if they are still present, or produce conditions suitable for 
reintroduction. Such management will also benefit other water-loving species. 

More advice can be found here: 

https://ptes.org/campaigns/water-voles/helping-water-voles-on-your-land/ 

Objective 6.2 Implement a Mink control programme. 

Mink have a significant impact on Water Vole populations. Control efforts are 
undertaken in nearby wetlands, and it would be beneficial to extend this to 
Ruscombe. Such measures would need to be undertaken in a structured 
programme to ensure success. 

5.7 Promote a ‘wildlife friendly gardening scheme’ to 
residents. 

5.7.1 Vision 

At least ten per cent of the area of residential gardens, playing fields and 
other green spaces will be maintained to maximise their potential for wildlife. 

Grass will be left to grow tall, pollinator-friendly flowers will be encouraged 
and some gardens will contain wildlife ponds. 

Advice will be available and gardeners will be encouraged by friendly 
competition or an award scheme. 

5.7.2 Evaluation 

Gardens are an increasingly important resource for wildlife in England. 
Together they cover more land than all of the National Nature Reserves, and 
they have a great potential for enhancement. 

A small area of the lawn left unmown will encourage grasshoppers, beetles 
and slow worms to visit; a suitable pond is probably the best way of 
accommodating wildlife in a garden; and nectar and pollen-rich flowers will 

204



 

Page 13 

attract butterflies and bees. Feeding birds and providing nest boxes provides 
much-needed resources, now often scarce in the wider countryside. 

5.7.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 7.1 Deliver a ‘gardening for wildlife’ promotion scheme. 

A number of organisations and local authorities promote wildlife gardening 
through schemes ranging from the simple provision of advice to presenting 
awards for wildlife gardening. Wild Maidenhead organises the ‘Wild About 
Gardens Award Scheme’ (www.wildmaidenhead.org.uk/waga-offline) and the 
Royal Horticultural Society and Wildlife Trusts have a web site with lots of 
useful information (wildaboutgardens.org.uk/). 

5.8 Enhance the wildlife value of the many ponds across the 
parish. 

5.8.1 Vision 

All of the ponds across the parish will be maintained with wildlife in mind. 
They will have clean water, some of which will be free of vegetation. Floating, 
emergent and bankside vegetation will be varied in both species composition 
and structure. This will provide lots of resources that attract a wide range of 
wildlife including amphibians, aquatic insects, birds and bats that feed on the 
insects over the water. 

5.8.2 Evaluation 

The author visited three ponds in February 2020, although there are 
innumerable ponds across the parish. 

The village pond, a Local Wildlife Site primarily because of the presence of 
Great Crested Newts, is well looked after. It has all of the qualities mentioned 
in the vision, above. 

The other two ponds seen were dominated by tall, scrubby vegetation that, 
while it has its value for visiting and nesting birds and some aquatic insects 
prefer shaded ponds, they are likely to benefit from some vegetation 
management. 

5.8.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 8.1 Gain a better understanding of the number and 
condition of ponds in the parish 

A study of detailed maps will identify the significant ponds. They will need to 
be visited to undertake a simple survey of their condition. This could consist of 
a quick species survey (for example see https://freshwaterhabitats.org.uk/get-
involved-2/big-pond-dip/) or a more detailed habitat survey 

205



 

Page 14 

(https://freshwaterhabitats.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/HABITAT-
MANUAL-FINAL.pdf). 

These surveys will identify priorities for management. Ponds that should be 
prioritised are those that are assessed as being in poor condition, especially 
those that are isolated and provide a relatively rare resource in the landscape. 

Objective 8.2 Improve the condition of two or more ponds in the 
parish. 

For the ponds that have been identified as being a priority for habitat 
management, the landowners approval should be sought to undertake 
appropriate management, as determined by the survey. 

This may include management of the vegetation surrounding the pond or 
within it, or efforts to improve the quality of the water entering the pond from 
road or agricultural run off. 

5.9 Promote appropriate management of the woodlands, 
especially ancient woodland, across the parish. 

5.9.1 Vision 

Woodland will be home to a considerable variety of wildlife. Birds will find 
plenty of opportunities to nest in hollow trees and dense scrub, butterflies will 
flit along open, flower-rich rides, and spring flowers will carpet the ground – 
taking advantage of clearings in the wood. 

5.9.2 Evaluation 

Approximately 67 hectares (10%) of Ruscombe Parish is covered in 
woodland. Two block of woodland have been designated as Local Wildlife 
Sites (see citation document, appended) and so may be assumed to be in 
good condition. The condition of the other woodlands is not known. Many 
small woods suffer from a lack of appropriate maintenance, leaving them 
dark, uniform and lacking in wildlife. 

One of the Local Wildlife Sites, Ruscombe and Vale Woods is under positive 
management by a local wildlife conservation group and it would be beneficial 
to either encourage landowners to undertake positive management or 
facilitate the volunteer group to undertake management in nearby woods. 

Woodland in good condition will have a vibrant ground flora, a well-developed 
understorey and areas of open habitat. There will be plenty of dead wood and 
a diverse mix of tree species and sizes. 

206



 

Page 15 

5.9.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 9.1 Gain an understanding of the condition of woodland 
in the parish 

After obtaining consent from the landowner, the woodlands can be visited and 
their condition assessed using a standard survey method (eg 
https://woodlandwildlifetoolkit.sylva.org.uk/assess). 

This will identify which woodlands are in need of management to achieve 
good condition, and what management is required. 

Objective 9.2 Achieve good condition for at least one woodland 
currently in poor condition. 

In order to maximise wildlife diversity, management such as coppicing, ride 
creation, removal of exotic species and in-fill planting are often required. The 
type and extent of the management required will be informed by the results of 
the survey work. 

The products of the management, such as firewood or hazel stakes, can often 
be used to offset the cost of management. 

5.10 Monitor the quality of priority grassland habitats and 
provide advice to landowners if required. 

5.10.1 Vision 

Grassland identified as ‘priority habitat’ will be recognised as important by its 
owner and will be managed sympathetically to maximise its value to wildlife. 

5.10.2 Evaluation 

There is currently one patch of grassland mapped as ‘lowland meadow’; a 
priority habitat, in Ruscombe Parish. This small field has been designated a 
Local Wildlife Site (see citation document, appended), and is currently used 
as a horse paddock. 

The Local Wildlife Designation does not impose any obligations on the 
landowner, but should offer it some protection against development. 

5.10.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 10.1 Ensure that the owner is aware of the importance of 
their field and has access to suitable advice. 

Although landowners often do not like being told what to do with their land, 
they are normally receptive to friendly, helpful advice. A letter explaining the 
significance of their land and some pointers to appropriate advice can be sent 
to the owner or tenant. 

207



 

Page 16 

5.11 Manage the verges and communal green spaces 
to benefit pollinators and other species. 

5.11.1 Vision 

Many of the road verges and green open spaces will be dominated by long, 
flower-rich vegetation for much of the year. This creates a network of wildlife 
‘corridors’ linking hedgerows, woodlands and other natural areas and allowing 
plants and animals to spread across the parish. 

These areas will be attractive to the residents and will be sited to not cause a 
danger to road users. 

5.11.2 Evaluation 

Across the UK many of the verges and green open spaces are kept mown 
short, and free from wildflowers. They look neat to the casual passer-by but 
are often devoid of wildlife. 

Added together, all of the road verges and other green spaces form a 
significant potential space for wildlife.  

Leaving the verges left uncut for the summer will encourage all sorts of wildlife 
and can save time and money on reduced mowing. 

5.11.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 11.1 Manage as many verges for wildlife as practical 

Working with the highways authority, verges that can be managed with wildlife 
in mind should be identified and guidance (eg 
https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/wildlife/managing-land-wildlife/how-manage-
road-verge-wildlife) followed. This can include a change in mowing regime 
and introducing wildflowers. 

Part of this guidance advises that local people know and understand the 
reasons for the change in management routine. This is crucial to ensure that 
the changes have the support of local residents and councillors. 

5.12 Promote a greater understanding of the biodiversity of 
Ruscombe Parish to its residents. 

5.12.1 Vision 

The residents will have a good understanding of the natural environment 
across the parish. They will value the green spaces and will campaign for 
enhancement and against inappropriate development. 

More residents will be involved in conservation volunteering and will visit the 
countryside frequently to enjoy their surroundings.  

208



 

Page 17 

5.12.2 Evaluation 

There is currently an active group of conservation volunteers with an 
inspirational and knowledgeable leader. This group could deliver more of the 
projects identified in this report if it were boosted by more members. 

This part of Berkshire is under constant threat from development. One 
effective argument against development is the presence of protected species 
and habitats. If more people are involved in enhancing their environment, 
recording wildlife sightings and enjoying green spaces then the argument 
against development becomes more powerful. 

5.12.3 Objectives and prescription 

Objective 12.1 Design a self-guided walk around the parish, 
highlighting and interpreting the important 
environmental features. 

People are more likely to value the countryside if they are able to access it 
and understand what makes it special. A route, taking people around the main 
highlights, could be designed and a supporting leaflet or website produced. 
This could include a GIS route so that mobile devices can be used for 
navigation. The leaflet, or website, could explain the wildlife present in the 
different habitats throughout the year. 

Objective 12.2 Encourage more people to get involved in looking 
after or protecting the natural habitats found in 
Ruscombe. 

An organisation with similar aims and activities to Wild Maidenhead 
(https://www.wildmaidenhead.org.uk/) could be set up to promote 
engagement with the natural environment. A representative from Wild 
Maidenhead will be happy to meet and help set up such a body. 

If enthusiastic individuals are identified they could be recruited as volunteer 
work party leaders. TCV (https://www.tcv.org.uk/) has lots of advice on 
forming and running such groups. 

6 References  
SoNP, 2019: 

https://nbn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/State-of-Nature-2019-UK-full-
report.pdf 

 

Lawton, 2010: 

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402154501/http://archive.def
ra.gov.uk/environment/biodiversity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf 

209



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form: Initial impact assessment  

If an officer is undertaking a project, policy change or service change, then an initial impact assessment must be completed and attached alongside the Project 
initiation document.  

EqIA Titular information: 

Date: 31 March 2023 
Service: Place and Growth (Planning) 
Project, policy or service EQIA relates to:  Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan – Submission Consultation and 

Future Examination 
Completed by: Ben Davis (Growth and Delivery Team, Planning Policy Officer) 
Has the EQIA been discussed at services team meeting: Yes 
Signed off by:  

Trevor Saunders 
Interim Assistant Director, Planning 

Sign off date: 4 April 2023 
 

1. Policy, Project or service information:  

This section should be used to identify the main purpose of the project, policy or service change, the method of delivery, including who key stakeholders are, 
main beneficiaries and any associated aims.  

What is the purpose of the project, policy change or service change, its expected outcomes and how does it relate to your services corporate 
plan: 

Neighbourhood planning gives communities the power to develop a shared vision for their area. Neighbourhood plans can shape, direct and help to 
deliver sustainable development, by influencing local planning decisions as part of the statutory development plan. 

Ruscombe Parish Council has prepared a draft neighbourhood development plan for their area.  This is the second time Executive approval has been 
sought to undertake public consultation and appoint an examiner to independently examine a neighbourhood plan for Ruscombe Parish. Earlier in 
October 2021, Ruscombe Parish Council submitted a draft Neighbourhood Plan to the council.  Following Executive approval in January 2022, public 

211



2 

consultation was undertaken, and an examiner was appointed to undertake the examination.  The examiner did not issue a final report on the draft 
plan and it was subsequently withdrawn by the Parish Council in February 2023.  

Ruscombe Parish Council submitted an updated draft Plan in March 2023, which proposes the same vision, objectives, and policy aims, but 
incorporates minor changes to the proposed policy wording and additional evidence to support specific policies.  

This report to Executive seeks agreement to publish the updated draft Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan for consultation and to delegate the 
appointment of an examiner and the submission of the examination documentation to the Director of Place and Growth in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Planning and Local Plan.  Consultation and examination are required under the regulations governing neighbourhood 
development plans. 

Public consultation on the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan is proposed to take place after the election period in May 2023, with the final dates to be 
confirmed.   

Other supporting documentation including the SEA/HRA Screening Determination Statement also form part of the consultation.  

Ruscombe Parish Council consulted on an earlier draft Neighbourhood Plan in February to April 2021 (Regulation 14). 

Public consultation on the recommended version of the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan is a legal requirement under Regulation 16 of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended).  The consultation will be undertaken in line with the principles set out in the 
council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and all relevant legislation and regulations governing that process.   

If made (adopted), the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan would help shape new development and improve the social, economic and environmental 
well-being of the neighbourhood area. 

 

Outline how you are delivering your project, policy change or service change. What governance arrangements are in place, which internal 
stakeholders (Service managers, Assistant Directors, Members ect) have/will be consulted and informed about the project or changes: 
 
The publication of the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan will be undertaken in accordance with the council’s adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement for planning policy consultations but are adapted to reflect latest government advice and guidance.  This will involve sending emails/letters 
to those registered on the consultation database, including organisations (general and specific consultation bodies specified in the Regulations), 
councillors and internal officers.  Advertising and further information will be placed on Ruscombe Parish Council’s and Wokingham Borough Council’s 
website and publicised through social and other forms of traditional media to promote the consultation.  

212



3 

 
Stakeholders including the Assistant Director, Planning and Director of Place and Growth are engaged through the Place and Growth Leadership Team 
and Corporate Leadership Team.  Lead Specialists from Growth and Delivery have also engaged with members of the Ruscombe Neighbourhood 
Planning Steering Group and Ruscombe Parish Council and provided policy advice and support on earlier iterations of the neighbourhood plan and 
supporting documentation.  
 
Outline who are the main beneficiaries of the Project, policy change or service change? 

The Ruscombe Neighbourhood Development Plan has been produced by Ruscombe Parish Council (the qualifying body) with the input of officers in 
the council’s Growth and Delivery team, communities and stakeholders through a previous consultation on a draft plan (under Regulation 14). If made 
(adopted), the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan would become part of the Development Plan for the parish and therefore be considered alongside the 
council’s planning policies when making decisions on planning applications and help shape how development is managed in their area.  

 

Outline any associated aims attached to the project, policy change or service change: 
Public consultation on the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan will facilitate engagement in the plan-making process, by providing a further opportunity 
for individuals and organisations (including statutory and prescribed bodies) to comment on proposals, prior to an examination by an independent 
person (to be appointed jointly by the council and Ruscombe Parish Council). 
 
The Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan, once adopted, will become part of the Development Plan and would help set out a vision and general planning 
policies for the development and use of land in the area, and in so doing guide decision making on planning applications in the area alongside the 
council’s planning policies. 
 

 
2. Protected characteristics: 

There are 9 protected characteristics as defined by the legislation: 

• Race 
• Gender 
• Disability 
• Gender re-assignment  
• Age 

213



4 

• Religious belief 
• Sexual orientation  
• Pregnancy/Maternity 
• Marriage and civil partnership: 

To find out more about the protected groups, please consult the EQIA guidance.  

3. Initial Impact review: 

In the table below, please indicate whether your project, Policy change or service change will have a positive or negative impact on one of the protected 
characteristics. To assess the level of impact, please assign each group a Positive, No, Low or High impact score: 

For information on how to define No, low or high impact, please consult the EQIA guidance document.  

If your project is to have a positive impact on one of the protected groups, please outline this in the table below. 

For details on what constitutes a positive impact, please consult the EQIA guidance.  

Protected 
characteristics 

Impact 
score 

Please detail what impact will be felt by the protected group: 

Race: None  Neutral impact – it is not envisaged that the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan would have any impact upon this group as 
policies contained in the draft plan provide additional detail to existing policies in the council’s local plans (e.g., Core 
Strategy and Managing Development Delivery local plans). The group would not be prohibited from reviewing and 
commenting on the consultation for the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

Gender: None Neutral impact – it is not envisaged that the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan would have any impact upon this group as 
policies contained in the draft plan provide additional detail to existing policies in the council’s local plans (e.g., Core 
Strategy and Managing Development Delivery local plans). The group would not be prohibited from reviewing and 
commenting on the consultation for the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

Disabilities: Positive There is likely to be a positive impact. 
 
Policies are included in the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan to maximise opportunities for walking and cycling, green and 
blue infrastructure and Public Rights of Way (e.g., Policy RU2: Ruscombe Housing Design Code; Policy RU9: Green 

214



5 

Protected 
characteristics 

Impact 
score 

Please detail what impact will be felt by the protected group: 

Infrastructure & Biodiversity).  Considerations of factors such as safety, accessibility and infrastructure in future 
development proposals are likely to benefit those with reduced mobility and physical and visual impairments.  
 

Age: Positive There is likely to be a positive impact. 
 
Policy RU8: Local Green Spaces of the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Development Plan proposes areas of green space for 
Local Green Space designation, predominantly due to their recreational value. Examples include play areas and amenity 
green space.  
 

Sexual orientation: None Neutral impact – it is not envisaged that the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan would have any impact upon this group as 
policies contained in the draft plan provide additional detail to existing policies in the council’s local plans (e.g., Core 
Strategy and Managing Development Delivery local plans). The group would not be prohibited from reviewing and 
commenting on the consultation for the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

Religion/belief: Positive There is likely to be a positive impact.  
 
A policy is included in the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Development Plan (Policy RU7: Community Facilities) to protect 
existing community services and facilities, notably St James Church. 
 

Gender re-
assignment: 

None Neutral impact – it is not envisaged that the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan would have any impact upon this group as 
policies contained in the draft plan provide additional detail to existing policies in the council’s local plans (e.g., Core 
Strategy and Managing Development Delivery local plans). The group would not be prohibited from reviewing and 
commenting on the consultation for the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity: 

None  Neutral impact – it is not envisaged that the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan would have any impact upon this group as 
policies contained in the draft plan provide additional detail to existing policies in the council’s local plans (e.g., Core 
Strategy and Managing Development Delivery local plans). The group would not be prohibited from reviewing and 
commenting on the consultation for the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

215



6 

Protected 
characteristics 

Impact 
score 

Please detail what impact will be felt by the protected group: 

Marriage and civil 
partnership: 

None Neutral impact – it is not envisaged that the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan would have any impact upon this group as 
policies contained in the draft plan provide additional detail to existing policies in the council’s local plans (e.g., Core 
Strategy and Managing Development Delivery local plans). The group would not be prohibited from reviewing and 
commenting on the consultation for the Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

 

Based on your findings from your initial impact assessment, you must complete a full impact assessment for any groups you have identified as having a low 
of high negative impact. If No impact, or a positive impact has been identified, you do not need to complete a full assessment. However, you must report on 
this initial assessment and it must receive formal approval from the Assistant Director responsible for the project, policy or service change.  

Initial impact assessment approved by….  Trevor Saunders 

Interim Assistant Director, Planning 

Date:…. 04/04/2023 216


	Agenda
	122. Twyford Neighbourhood Plan
	Enc. 1 Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Examination Report
	Replace the policy with:
	‘Development proposals which would be ‘zero carbon ready’ by design by minimising the amount of energy needed to heat and cool buildings through landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping will be supported. Consideration should be...
	Proposals for a Passivhaus or equivalent standard buildings, with a space heating demand of less than 15KWh/m2/year will be supported. Schemes that maximise their potential to meet this standard by proposing the use of terraced and/or apartment buildi...
	Proposals for major development should be accompanied by a Whole-Life-Cycle Carbon Emission Assessment, using a recognised methodology, to demonstrate actions have been taken to reduce embodied carbon resulting from the construction and use of the bui...
	Delete Appendices A and B.
	The third part of policy comments that proposals for major development should be accompanied by a Whole-Life-Cycle Carbon Emission Assessment, using a recognised methodology, to demonstrate actions have been taken to reduce embodied carbon resulting f...

	Enc. 2 Twyford Neighbourhood Plan Decision Statement
	Enc. 3 Equalities Assessment

	123. Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan - Submission Consultation and Future Examination
	Enc. 1 Ruscombe Draft Neighbourhood Plan
	Ruscombe NP_Sub Plan_Mar 2023_FINAL
	1. Introduction & Background
	2. The Neighbourhood Area
	3. Planning Policy Context
	4. Community Views on Planning Issues
	5. Vision, Objectives & Land Use Policies
	6. Implementation
	1. introduction & Background
	The LEvelling UP & Infrastructure Bill
	The Pre-Submission Plan
	The Submission Plan OCTOBER 2021
	Strategic Environmental Assessment & the Habitats Regulations

	2. The Neighbourhood Area
	A Short History of Ruscombe

	3. Planning Policy Context
	National Planning Policy
	Strategic Planning Policy
	Neighbourhood Planning Policy
	Ruscombe Conservation Area

	4. Community Views on Planning Issues
	5. Vision, Objectives & Land Use Policies
	Land Use Policies
	Policy RU1: Development Limit for Ruscombe
	Policy RU2: Ruscombe Housing Design Code
	Policy RU3: Ruscombe Conservation Area
	Policy RU4: Community Engagement in Planning
	Policy RU5: Buildings of Traditional Local Character
	Policy RU6: Employment
	Policy RU7: Community Facilities
	Policy RU8: Local Green Spaces
	Policy RU9: Green Infrastructure & Biodiversity
	Policy RU10: Managing Traffic
	Policy RU11: Car Parking

	6. Implementation
	Development Management
	Local Infrastructure Improvements
	Other Non-Planning Matters

	Policies Maps & Insets
	Appendices
	Appendix A – Ruscombe Housing Design Code
	Appendix B – Buildings of Local Historical Significance
	Appendix C – Local Green Space Report
	Appendix D – Ruscombe Biodiversity & Green Infrastructure Elements
	Appendix A – Ruscombe Housing Design Code
	Appendix B – Buildings of Local Historical Significance
	Appendix C – Local Green Space Report
	Appendix D – Ruscombe Biodiversity & Green Infrastructure Elements


	Sundew Ecology, Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan Biodiversity
	Ruscombe Neighbourhood Plan Biodiversity - Phase2

	Enc. 2 Equalities Assessment


